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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 6-K

Report of Foreign Private Issuer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-16 or 15d-16
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the month of May 2013

Commission File Number 001-34798

SMART TECHNOLOGIES INC.

3636 Research Road N.W.
Calgary, Alberta
Canada T2L 1Y1

(Address of principal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover of Form 20-F or Form 40-F.
Form 20-F Form 40-F O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by Regulation S-T
Rule 101(b)(1):

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by Regulation S-T
Rule 101(b)(7):

THIS REPORT ON FORM 6-K SHALL BE DEEMED FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE
“COMMISSION”) AND INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT ON FORM S-8 (FILE
NO. 333-181530) OF SMART TECHNOLOGIES INC. FILED WITH THE COMMISSION, AND TO BE A PART THEREOF FROM
THE DATE ON WHICH THIS REPORT IS FURNISHED TO THE COMMISSION, TO THE EXTENT NOT SUPERSEDED BY
DOCUMENTS OR REPORTS THE REGISTRANT SUBSEQUENTLY FURNISHES TO OR FILES WITH THE COMMISSION.
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DOCUMENTS FILED AS PART OF THIS FORM 6-K

See the Exhibit Index hereto.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

SMART TECHNOLOGIES INC.

By:  /s/ Jeffrey A. Losch
Name: Jeffrey A. Losch
Title: Vice President, Legal and General Counsel,

and Corporate Secretary

Date: May 16, 2013
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Exhibit Index

99.1  Management’ s Discussion and Analysis for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013
99.2  Financials for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
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Q4 Fourth Quarter Report

2013 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013

MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following annual management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes of SMART Technologies Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2013. The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United States (“U.S.”) dollars and have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP™). Unless the context otherwise
requires, any reference to the “Company”, “SMART Technologies”, “SMART®", ‘we”, “our”, ‘us” or similar terms refers to SMART
Technologies Inc. and its subsidiaries. Because our fiscal year ends on March 31, references to a fiscal year refer to the fiscal year ended
March 31 of the same calendar year. For example, when we refer to fiscal 2013, we mean our fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. Unless
otherwise indicated, all references to “8 and “dollars” in this discussion and analysis mean U.S. dollars. The following table sets forth
the period end and period average exchange rates for U.S. dollars expressed in Canadian dollars that are used in the preparation of our
audited consolidated financial statements and this MD&A. These rates are based on the closing rates published by the Bank of America
and the Bank of Canada.

Period End Period Average
Rate Rate
Year ended March 31, 2013 1.0162 1.0011
Year ended March 31, 2012 0.9975 0.9930
Year ended March 31, 2011 0.9696 1.0167

This MD&A includes forward-looking statements which reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial
performance. These statements include forward-looking statements both with respect to us specifically and the technology product
industry and business, demographic and other matters in general. Statements which include the words ‘“expanding”, “expect”,
‘increase”, “intend”, ‘plan”, “believe”, ‘project”, ‘estimate”, “anmticipate”, ‘may”, ‘will”, “continue”, ‘further”, ‘seek’ and similar
words or statements of a future or forward-looking nature identify forward-looking statements for purposes of the applicable securities
laws or otherwise. In particular and without limitation, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements pertaining to general market
conditions, our strategy and prospects, including expectations of the education and enterprise markets for our products, our plans and
objectives for future operations, productivity enhancements and cost savings, our future financial performance and financial condition,
the addition of new products to our portfolio and enhancements to current products, our industry, opportunities in the enterprise
market and licensing opportunities, working capital requirements, our acquisition strategy, regulation, exchange rates and income tax

considerations.

All forward-looking statements address matters that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Accordingly, there are or will be
important factors and assumptions that could cause our actual results and other circumstances and events to differ materially from those
indicated in these statements, as discussed more fully in the sections ‘Risks Related to Our Business” and “Capital Structure Risks”.

These risk factors and assumptions include, but are not limited to, the following:
competition in our industry,
changes to our business model;
our substantial debt could adversely affect our financial condition;

our inability to service our indebtedness,
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our ability to enhance current products and develop and introduce new products,

reduced spending by our customers due to changes in the spending policies or budget priorities for government funding,
our ability to successfully execute our strategy to grow in the enterprise market;

possible changes in the demand for our products;

our ability to maintain sales in developed markets that are more saturated,

our ability to grow our sales in foreign markets;

the development of the market for interactive learning and collaboration products;

the potential negative impact of product defects;

our ability to establish new relationships and to build on our existing relationships with our resellers and distributors;

our ability to successfully obtain patents or registration for other intellectual property rights or protect, maintain and enforce

such rights;

third-party claims of infringement or violation of, or other conflicts with, intellectual property rights by us;
our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel,

uncertainty or disruptions as a result of changes in our senior management;

the reliability of component supply and product assembly and logistical services provided by third parties;
our ability to manage our systems, procedures and controls;

our ability to protect our brand;

our ability to manage risks inherent in foreign operations;

the potential of increased costs related to future restructuring and related charges;

our ability to achieve the benefits from and integrate the operations of businesses we acquire;

our ability to achieve the benefits of strategic partnerships,

the potential negative impact of system failures or cyber security attacks;

our ability to manage cash flow, foreign exchange risk and working capital,;

our ability to manage, defend and settle litigation, and

other factors mentioned in the section entitled ‘Risk Factors.”

Overview

SMART Technologies Inc. is a leading provider of integrated hardware and software solutions that facilitate collaboration and
learning in classrooms and meeting rooms. We introduced the world’ s first interactive whiteboard in 1991 and we remain the global
leader in the interactive display market with over 2.7 million interactive displays shipped to date. Our focus is on developing a variety
of easy-to-use solutions that combine interactive displays with robust software solutions in order to free people from their desks and
computer screens, making collaboration and learning digitally more natural and engaging. We sell our solutions to schools and enterprises
globally. In education, our solutions have transformed teaching and learning in over two million classrooms worldwide, reaching over
50 million students and teachers based on an assumed average classroom size of 24 students. In enterprise, our solutions improve the way
that people work and collaborate, enabling them to be more productive and reduce costs.
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We offer a number of interactive display products including SMART Board® interactive whiteboards and flat panels, LightRaise’
interactive projectors, the SMART Table® interactive learning center and the SMART Podium™ By touching the surface of a SMART
interactive display, the user can control computer applications, access the Internet and our learning content ecosystem, write in digital ink
and save and distribute work. Our award-winning solutions are the result of more than 20 years of technological innovation supported
by our core intellectual property. Our interactive displays serve as the focal point of a broad classroom and meeting room technology
platform. We augment our interactive displays with a range of modular and integrated interactive technology products and solutions,
including hardware, software and content created by both our user community and professional content developers. Our collaborative
learning solutions for education combine collaboration software with a comprehensive line of interactive displays and other hardware,
accessories and services that further enhance learning. Our solutions for enterprise include a set of comprehensive products that combine
industry-leading interactive displays with powerful collaboration software.

The education market for interactive displays is exhibiting varying dynamics on a geographical basis. In North America, education
funding constraints, high classroom penetration rates and the proliferation of tablets has led to a decline in interactive display demand. We
believe that the opportunity for interactive displays in the education market is large considering that global penetration rates of interactive
displays in the classroom are still low. The enterprise market is in the early stages of the product adoption curve. With low interactive
display penetration rates in meeting rooms, and an increasing focus on effective collaboration in organizations, we believe there is a large

opportunity for our enterprise solutions.

With the increasing utilization of tablets, other mobile devices, and digital content, technology in classrooms is evolving, and this
evolution has provided several opportunities for SMART. Educators and administrators face the challenge of uniting various classroom
technologies without significant cost and complexity. SMART has an opportunity to provide software that helps to alleviate these
difficulties by unifying disparate content and devices. With a large and loyal user base, we are well positioned to expand and monetize
our software and service offerings, as well as capture replacement and upgrade cycles in both interactive display hardware and software
when they occur.

For enterprise customers, we offer premium interactive displays and software solutions that facilitate collaborative efforts and can
ultimately drive improved business results. We believe the market opportunity for our enterprise solutions is significant however we are
in the early stages of the product adoption curve.

With evolving solutions and technology leadership, a large installed base in education, an extensive distribution network and
premium products, we believe that we are well-positioned to capitalize on the technology trends in education and enterprise.

Our portfolio of products has expanded over the past year to include several new products including the SMART Notebook™ app for
iPad, our SMART Board 80551 interactive flat panel for education, the SMART Room System™ for Microsoft® Lync®, the LightRaise
60wi touch-enabled interactive projector, SMART Notebook Web software, the SMART Document Camera™ 450 and the SMART Table

4421 interactive learning center.

Highlights

Revenue decreased by $156.4 million, or 21.0%, and our interactive display unit sales declined 14.2% in fiscal 2013 compared
to fiscal 2012 largely due to global macroeconomic conditions, high product penetration in our developed markets and
increased competition from other technologies.

Gross margin decreased by $74.0 million, or 22.1%, in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 due to the impact of absorbing
fixed overhead costs over lower revenue, competitive pricing in certain international markets where we anticipate large future
growth potential and inventory provisions related to our recent product line rationalization.
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We have undergone a number of significant restructuring and organizational changes in fiscal 2013.

In December 2012, we announced a restructuring plan that will increase focus on our target markets and streamline
our corporate support functions. As part of the restructuring, we reduced our workforce by approximately 25%. We
incurred $17.4 million in restructuring costs in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2013 primarily related to employee
termination and associated outplacement and facilities costs.

In August 2012, we announced a restructuring plan to implement additional cost reduction measures with the objective
of improving the Company’ s operating efficiencies. The restructuring plan included a worldwide reduction in
workforce of approximately 70 employees. We incurred approximately $2.0 million in employee termination and
associated outplacement costs in the second quarter of fiscal 2013.

In December 2011, we recorded lease obligation costs of $8.1 million related to our fiscal 2012 restructuring activities
based on future lease expenditures and estimated future sublease rentals for the remainder of the lease term ending April
2017. In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, we recorded additional restructuring costs of $1.0 million as a result of a
revised estimate of the future sublease rentals.

In the first and second quarters of fiscal 2013 we incurred consulting fees of approximately $4.5 million related to a
comprehensive review of our corporate strategy and a review of our operational business processes. In addition, in the
first quarter of fiscal 2013 we made organizational changes with respect to our most senior executive officers and began
a reorganization of our North America sales and marketing functions, the total cost of which was approximately $3.3

million. These costs are included as part of selling, marketing and administration expense.

We performed our annual goodwill impairment test in the third quarter of fiscal 2013 which resulted in an impairment charge
of $34.2 million.

In December 2012, we signed a purchase and sale agreement to execute a sale-leaseback of our global headquarters building
located in Calgary, Canada. The transaction closed on May 7, 2013 for net proceeds of approximately $77.0 million. The term
of the lease is 20 years with annual rental payments of $5.9 million subject to an 8% escalation every five years. We expect to
account for the lease as a capital lease. We repaid $10.0 million of the First lien facility from the proceeds of the sale.

In March 2013, we opportunistically sought to refinance our long-term debt through an offering of senior secured notes, and
the proposed offering was subsequently withdrawn. Our existing long-term debt matures in August 2014 and the offering was
not pursued to fund short-term requirements. We had $141.4 million of cash as of March 31, 2013. Management is actively
evaluating its refinancing alternatives.

Sources of Revenue and Expenses
Revenue

We generate our revenue from the sale of interactive technology products and solutions, including hardware, software and services.
Our distribution and sales channel includes resellers in North America and distributors in the EMEA, Caribbean, Latin America and Asia
Pacific regions. We complement and support our sales channel with sales and support staff who work either directly with prospective
customers or in coordination with our sales channel to promote and provide products and solutions that address the needs of the end-user.
Revenue is recognized at the time we transfer the risks and rewards to our sales channel according to contractual terms. Our current
practice usually involves multiple elements including post-contract technical support, software upgrades and updates, although we are not
contractually required to do so. Revenue from product sales is allocated to each element based on relative fair values with any discount
allocated proportionately. Revenue attributable to undelivered elements is deferred and recognized ratably over the estimated term of
provision of these elements.
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Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales have been primarily comprised of the cost of materials and components purchased from our suppliers, assembly
labor and overhead costs, inventory provisions and write offs, warranty costs, product transportation costs and other supply chain
management costs. With the transition of all product assembly to contract manufacturers in the last half of fiscal 2012, assembly labor and
certain overhead costs are now incorporated in the cost from contract manufacturers. Standard warranty periods on interactive displays
extend up to five years and on other hardware products from one to three years. At the time product revenue is recognized, an accrual for
estimated warranty costs is recorded as a component of cost of sales based on estimates for similar product experience. This is adjusted
over time as actual claims experience data is obtained. In instances where specific product issues are determined outside of the normal
warranty estimates, additional provisions are recorded to address the specific item. Depreciation of assembly equipment is included in
cost of sales.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of costs relating to our sales and marketing activities, including salaries and
related expenses, customer order management activities, customer support, advertising, trade shows and other promotional activities. We
offer various cooperative marketing programs to assist our sales channel to market and sell our products which are included as part of
selling and marketing expenses. Our administration expenses consist of costs relating to people services, information systems, legal and
finance functions, professional fees, insurance, stock-based compensation and other corporate expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses for software and hardware engineering and
technical personnel as well as materials and consumables used in product development. We incur most of our research and development
expenses in Canada and New Zealand, and are eligible to receive Scientific Research and Experimental Development (“SR&ED”)
investment tax credits for certain eligible expenditures. Investment tax credits are netted against our provision for income taxes for
financial statement presentation purposes.

Interest Expense

We incur interest expense on our outstanding long-term debt and credit facility. Interest expense declined significantly in fiscal 2011
as a result of the 2010 Reorganization which resulted in the conversion of the shareholder note payable and cumulative preferred shares
into equity during the first quarter of fiscal 2011. Interest expense also declined in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013 due to the significant debt
repayments made in the last three quarters of fiscal 2011 and first two quarters of fiscal 2012.

Foreign Exchange Gains & Losses

We report our financial results in U.S. dollars allowing us to assess our business performance in comparison to the financial
results of other companies in the technology industry. Our Canadian operations and marketing support subsidiaries around the world
have the Canadian dollar as their functional currency. Our U.S. and New Zealand operating subsidiaries have the U.S. dollar as their
functional currency and our Japanese operating subsidiary has the Japanese Yen as its functional currency. The financial results of these
operating subsidiaries are converted to Canadian dollars for consolidation purposes and then the Canadian consolidated financial results
are converted from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars for reporting purposes.

Our foreign exchange exposure is primarily between the Canadian dollar and both the U.S. dollar and the Euro. This exposure
relates to our U.S. dollar-denominated assets and liabilities, including our external debt, the sale of our products to customers globally
and purchases of goods and services in foreign currencies. Gains and losses on our U.S. dollar-denominated debt prior to its maturity or

redemption are non-cash in nature.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain consolidated statements of operations data and other data for the periods indicated in millions
of dollars, except for percentages, shares, per share amounts, units and average selling prices.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Revenue $589.4 $745.8 $790.1
Cost of sales 327.8 410.2 399.2
Gross margin 261.6 335.6 390.9
Operating expenses
Selling, marketing and administration(!) 170.9 180.8 183.0
Research and development® 48.8 50.1 51.4
Depreciation and amortization 30.7 30.8 31.8
Restructuring costs 20.8 13.4 =
Impairment of goodwill 342 - -
Impairment of property and equipment 2.2 = =
Operating (loss) income (46.0 ) 60.5 124.7
Non-operating expenses (income)
Interest expense 12.8 14.6 31.6
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5.0 8.5 (10.5 )
Other income, net (0.3 ) (0.5 ) (0.5 )
(Loss) income before income taxes (63.5 ) 37.9 104.1
Income tax (recovery) expense 9.0 ) 6.9 353
Net (loss) income™® $(54.5 ) $31.0 $68.8
(Loss) earnings per share
Basic $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53
Diluted $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding
Basic 120,744,832 122,726,275 130,775,288
Diluted 120,744,832 123,370,043 130,775,288
Period end number of shares outstanding 120,985,366 121,445,305 123,772,791
Selected Data
Revenue by geographic location
North America $373.1 $486.9 $558.4
Europe, Middle East and Africa 166.2 183.9 175.5
Rest of World 50.1 75.0 56.2
$589.4 $745.8 $790.1
Revenue change® (21.0 )% (5.6 )% 219 %
As a percent of revenue
Gross margin 44.4 % 45.0 % 495 %
Selling, marketing and administration 29.0 % 242 % 232 %
Research and development 8.3 % 6.7 % 6.5 %
Adjusted EBITDA® $48.8 $127.5 $185.8
Adjusted EBITDA as a percent of revenue®® 8.3 % 16.9 % 23.1 %
Adjusted Net Income(® $11.8 $70.6 $85.5
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Adjusted Net Income per share®)©)

Basic
Diluted

Total number of interactive displays sold(”
Average selling price of interactive displays sold®

Total assets
Total long-term liabilities
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$0.10
$0.10

338,934
$1,371

$473.2
$383.0
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$0.57
$0.57

395,101
$1,426

$539.6
$393.6

$0.65
$0.65

423,390
$1,422

$546.2
$435.9
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Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods’ figures to conform to the current period’ s presentation.

(1) In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to
the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes
1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this
change in accounting policy.

(2) Revenue change is calculated as a percentage by comparing the change in revenue in the period to revenue during the same period in
the immediately preceding fiscal year.

(3) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net (loss) income in the next section and is not a
substitute for the GAAP equivalent.

(4) Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by revenue after adding back the net
change in deferred revenue.

(5) Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP measure that is described and reconciled to net (loss) income in the next section and is not a
substitute for the GAAP equivalent.

(6) Adjusted Net Income per share is calculated by dividing Adjusted Net Income by the average number of basic and diluted shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding for the purposes of calculating Adjusted Net Income per
share at March 31, 2013 was 122,724,293.

(7) Interactive displays include SMART Board interactive whiteboard systems and associated projectors, SMART Board interactive flat
panels, LightRaise interactive projectors, appliance-based interactive displays, SMART Board interactive overlays, SMART Podium
interactive pen displays and SMART Table interactive learning centers.

(8) Average selling price of interactive displays is calculated by dividing the total revenue from the sale of interactive displays by the
total number of units sold.

Non-GAAP measures

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net (loss) income before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, as well as adjusting
for the following items: foreign exchange gains or losses, net change in deferred revenue, stock-based compensation, acquisition costs,
costs of restructuring, impairment of goodwill, impairment of property and equipment and other income. We define Adjusted Net Income
as net (loss) income before stock-based compensation, acquisition costs, costs of restructuring, impairment of goodwill, impairment of
property and equipment, foreign exchange gains or losses, net change in deferred revenue and amortization of intangible assets, all net of

tax.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income are non-GAAP measures and should not be considered as an alternative to net (loss)
income or any other measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted
Net Income and other non-GA AP measures have inherent limitations and therefore, you should not place undue reliance on them.

We use Adjusted EBITDA as a key measure to assess the core operating performance of our business removing the effects of
our leveraged capital structure and the volatility associated with the foreign exchange on our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. We also
use Adjusted Net Income to assess the performance of the business removing the after-tax impact of stock-based compensation, costs
of restructuring, impairment of goodwill, impairment of property and equipment, foreign exchange gains and losses, revenue deferral
and amortization of intangible assets. We use both of these measures to assess business performance when we evaluate our results in
comparison to budgets, forecasts, prior-year financial results and other companies in our industry. Many of these companies use similar
non-GAAP measures to supplement their GAAP disclosures but such measures may not be directly comparable. In addition to its use
by management in the assessment of business performance, Adjusted EBITDA is used by our Board of Directors and by our lenders in
assessing management’ s performance. Adjusted Net Income is used by our Board of Directors in assessing management’ s performance
and is a key metric in the determination of incentive plan payments. We believe Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income may be
useful to investors in evaluating our operating performance because securities analysts use metrics similar to Adjusted EBITDA and

Adjusted Net Income as supplemental measures to evaluate the overall operating performance of companies.
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Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA are that it does not reflect:
income taxes;
depreciation and amortization;
interest expense;
foreign exchange gains or losses;

changes in deferred revenue which, in accordance with our revenue recognition policy described under “Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates - Revenue Recognition” below, represents the portion of our sales that we do not recognize in the

period less amounts recognized from prior periods;
stock-based compensation expense;

acquisition costs;

costs of restructuring;

impairment of goodwill;

impairment of property and equipment; and

other income, including interest income and gains or losses related to the disposal of property and equipment.

Adjusted Net Income has the same limitations as Adjusted EBITDA discussed above, with the exception that it does reflect income

taxes, depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, interest expense and other income.

We compensate for the inherent limitations associated with using Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income through disclosure of
such limitations, presentation of our financial statements in accordance with GAAP and reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Income to the most directly comparable GAAP measure, net (loss) income.

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of net (loss) income to Adjusted EBITDA in millions of dollars.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Adjusted EBITDA

Net (loss) income® $(54.5) $31.0 $68.8
Income tax (recovery) expense 9.0) 6.9 353
Depreciation in cost of sales 3.7 3.8 4.1
Depreciation and amortization 30.7 30.8 31.8
Interest expense 12.8 14.6 31.6
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5.0 8.5 (10.5)
Change in deferred revenue® 0.5) 8.6 14.8
Stock-based compensation() 33 9.2 9.3
Acquisition costs - - 1.1
Costs of restructuring® 21.2 14.6 =
Impairment of goodwill 34.2 - -
Impairment of property and equipment 2.2 = =
Other income, net 0.3) 0.5 ) (05)

Adjusted EBITDA $48.8 $127.5 $185.8
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In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to
the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes
1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this
change in accounting policy.

Change in deferred revenue is calculated as the difference between deferred revenue and deferred revenue recognized. In accordance
with our revenue recognition policy, deferred revenue represents the portion of our sales that we do not recognize in the period.
Deferred revenue recognized represents the portion of our revenue deferred in a prior period that we recognized in the current
period. We deferred revenue of $38.9 million, $43.0 million and $44.2 million in the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Includes restructuring costs of $20.8 million disclosed in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations in fiscal 2013 (2012
- $13.4 million) and $0.4 million in inventory write-offs recorded in cost of sales in fiscal 2013 (2012 - $1.2 million).

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of net (loss) income to Adjusted Net Income and basic and diluted earnings per

share to Adjusted Net Income per share in millions of dollars, except per share amounts.

()

)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Adjusted Net Income
Net (loss) income() $(54.5) $31.0 $68.8
Adjustments to net (loss) income
Amortization of intangible assets 9.5 9.6 9.0
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5.0 8.5 (10.5)
Change in deferred revenue® 0.5 ) 8.6 14.8
Stock-based compensation(! 3.3 9.2 9.3
Acquisition costs - - 1.1
Costs of restructuring® 21.2 14.6 =
Impairment of goodwill 342 - -
Impairment of property and equipment 2.2 = =
74.9 50.5 23.7
Tax impact on adjustments® 8.6 10.9 7.0
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax 66.3 39.6 16.7
Adjusted Net Income $11.8 $70.6 $85.5
Adjusted Net Income per share
(Loss) earnings per share—basic $(0.45) $0.25 $0.53
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax, per share 0.55 0.32 0.12
Adjusted Net Income per share-basic $0.10 $0.57 $0.65
(Loss) earnings per share—diluted $(0.45) $0.25 $0.53
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax, per share 0.55 0.32 0.12
Adjusted Net Income per share—diluted $0.10 $0.57 $0.65

In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to
the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes
1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this
change in accounting policy.

Change in deferred revenue is calculated as the difference between deferred revenue and deferred revenue recognized. In accordance
with our revenue recognition policy, deferred revenue represents the portion of
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our sales that we do not recognize in the period. Deferred revenue recognized represents the portion of our revenue deferred in a
prior period that we recognized in the current period.

(3) Includes restructuring costs of $20.8 million disclosed in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations in fiscal 2013 (2012
- $13.4 million) and $0.4 million in inventory write-offs recorded in cost of sales in fiscal 2013 (2012 - $1.2 million).

(4) Reflects the tax impact on the adjustments to net income. A key driver of our foreign exchange loss (gain) is the conversion of our
U.S. dollar-denominated debt that was originally incurred at an average rate of 1.05. When the unrealized foreign exchange amount
on U.S. dollar-denominated debt is in a net gain position as measured against the original exchange rate, the gain is tax-effected
at current rates. When the unrealized foreign exchange amount on the U.S. dollar-denominated debt is in a net loss position as

measured against the original exchange rate, a valuation allowance is taken against it and as a result no net tax effect is recorded.

Results of Operations—Fiscal 2013 Compared to Fiscal 2012
Revenue

Revenue decreased by $156.4 million, or 21.0%, from $745.8 million in fiscal 2012 to $589.4 million in fiscal 2013. Sales volumes
for SMART" s interactive displays in fiscal 2013 were 338,934 units, a decrease of 56,167 units, or 14.2%, from 395,101 units in fiscal
2012. We continue to face challenges in the North American education market due to higher product penetration levels and increasing
competition for budget dollars between various classroom technologies, including tablets. In fiscal 2013, we have also seen revenue
declines across our international markets. Decreases in established markets such as western Europe reflect the impact of austerity
measures in that region while decreases in rest of world are primarily due to a higher proportion of lower priced products sold into
emerging markets. This international shift in product mix can be seen in the decrease of the average selling price from $1,426 in fiscal
2012 to $1,371 in fiscal 2013. Revenue was negatively impacted by foreign exchange movements of approximately $7.0 million in fiscal
2013 primarily as a result of the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Euro.

Gross Margin

Gross margin decreased by $74.0 million from $335.6 million in fiscal 2012 to $261.6 million in fiscal 2013. The gross margin
percentage in fiscal 2013 declined to 44.4% compared to 45.0% in fiscal 2012. Lower revenue was the key driver of the absolute gross
margin decline. Other factors contributing to the decline in gross margin include the impacts of absorbing fixed costs over this lower
revenue and more competitive pricing in certain markets where we anticipate large future growth potential. The decrease in gross margin
was negatively impacted by year-over-year inventory provisions related to our product line rationalization and positively impacted by
decreases in year-over-year warranty costs for projectors. These negative factors have been partly offset by the positive impact of our
lower cost, localized manufacturing and other cost-down initiatives. Gross margin was also negatively impacted by approximately $5.7
million in fiscal 2013 primarily as a result of the strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Euro, which negatively impacted our
revenue and positively impacted our cost of sales.

Operating Expenses
Selling, Marketing and Administration

Selling, marketing and administration expenses decreased by $9.9 million, or 5.5%, from $180.8 million in fiscal 2012 to $170.9
million in fiscal 2013. Removing the impact of foreign exchange, selling, marketing and administration decreased by $7.3 million in fiscal
2013 compared to fiscal 2012. The decrease in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was due to the impact of the fiscal 2013 restructuring
plans which resulted in significant workforce reductions and reductions in discretionary spending. This decrease was partly offset by an
increase in our bad debts expense primarily related to a reseller that filed for bankruptcy during the third quarter. Selling, marketing and
administration also includes costs relating to consulting fees for the strategy and business process reviews and organizational changes of
$4.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively. Excluding these costs, selling,
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marketing and administration expenses are significantly lower in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 reflecting our continued focus on
managing our costs and improving overall operating efficiency including the initial impacts of our fiscal 2013 December restructuring
plan. The positive foreign exchange impact of $2.6 million reduced our selling, marketing and administration expense and was due to the
strengthening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar and the Euro.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses decreased by $1.3 million, or 2.6%, from $50.1 million in fiscal 2012 to $48.8 million
in fiscal 2013. Removing the impact of foreign exchange, research and development expenses decreased by $0.6 million. Research and
development is a core focus and we continue to invest in product innovation for profitable growth segments including our enterprise

segment and the underpenetrated markets in education.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment was $21.2 million in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2013. Amortization of
intangible assets was $9.5 million in fiscal 2013 compared to $9.6 million in fiscal 2012.

Costs of Restructuring
(a) Fiscal 2013 December restructuring

In December 2012, we announced a restructuring plan that will increase focus on our target markets and streamline our corporate
support functions. As part of the restructuring, we reduced our workforce by approximately 25%. The majority of the workforce
reduction was completed by March 31, 2013. We accrued remaining costs relating to workforce reductions which are expected
to be completed in the first quarter of fiscal 2014. The rates used in determining this accrual are based on existing plans,
historical experience and negotiated settlements. If the actual amounts differ from the Company’ s estimates, the amount of the
restructuring costs could be materially impacted. We incurred approximately $17.4 million in restructuring costs related to the
fiscal 2013 December restructuring plan in the year ended March 31, 2013 primarily related to employee termination and associated
outplacement and facilities costs. Other costs incurred in connection with the restructuring activities include $0.9 million in fixed
asset write-offs recorded in impairment of property and equipment and $0.2 million in finished goods inventory write-offs recorded
in cost of sales. The restructuring plan was substantially completed by March 31, 2013 and no further material costs are expected to

be incurred.

(b) Fiscal 2013 August restructuring

In August 2012, we announced a restructuring plan to implement additional cost reduction measures with the objective of improving
our operating efficiencies. The restructuring plan included a worldwide reduction in workforce of approximately 70 employees.
The Company incurred approximately $2.0 million in employee termination and associated outplacement costs in the year ended
March 31, 2013. Other costs recorded in cost of sales included $0.2 million in finished goods inventory write-offs in connection
with the restructuring activities. The restructuring plan was completed in the second quarter of fiscal 2013 and no further material
costs are expected to be incurred.

(c) Fiscal 2012 August restructuring

In August 2011, we announced the transfer of the remainder of our interactive display assembly operations from our leased assembly
facility in Ottawa, Canada to existing contract manufacturers. This decision reflected our continued focus on cost management and
the transition was completed by March 31, 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012 we incurred approximately $13.4 million

in restructuring costs
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related to the fiscal 2012 August restructuring plan. These costs consisted of employee termination and associated outplacement
costs of $3.7 million related to a reduction in workforce of approximately 225 employees and $1.6 million in labor and other costs
related to the shutdown of the facility. In December 2011, we ceased using the assembly and warehouse space at the Ottawa facility
and recorded lease obligation costs of $8.1 million based on future lease expenditures and estimated future sublease rentals for the
remainder of the lease term. In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, we recorded additional restructuring costs of $1.0 million as a result
of a revised estimate of the future sublease rentals. We incurred approximately $0.4 million and $0.1 million in accretion expense
related to the lease obligation for the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Other costs incurred in connection with
the restructuring activities include $1.2 million in raw materials inventory write-offs related to product lines that were discontinued

at the Ottawa facility as part of the transition to contract manufacturers.

Impairment of Goodwill

Goodwill is assessed annually for impairment during the third quarter or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset may be impaired. During the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the continuing decline of both the Company’ s share price
and revenue had reached levels where management concluded that it was more likely than not that a goodwill impairment existed. As a
result, the second step of the goodwill impairment test was performed.

The estimated fair value of the Company was determined utilizing an income approach which was then corroborated with a market
approach. Under the income approach, the Company calculates the fair value of its single reporting unit based on the present value of
estimated future cash flows. Cash flow projections are based on management’ s estimates of revenue growth rates and operating margins,
taking into consideration industry and market conditions. The discount rate used estimates the rate a market participant would expect and
is calculated based on the weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for the relevant risk associated with company-specific characteristics
and the uncertainty related to the Company’ s ability to execute on the projected cash flows. Under the market approach, the Company’ s
market capitalization was used as a key input for the determination of the fair value of the Company. The Company believes that the
market capitalization alone does not capture the fair value of the business as a whole, or the substantial value that an acquirer would
obtain from its ability to obtain control of the business. Consequently, the Company developed an estimate for the control premium that
a marketplace participant might pay to acquire control of the business in an arms-length transaction.

The impairment loss was measured by estimating the implied fair value of the Company’ s goodwill and comparing it with its
carrying value. Using the Company’ s fair value detailed above as the acquisition price in a hypothetical acquisition of the Company,
the implied fair value of goodwill was calculated as the residual amount of the acquisition price after assigning fair value to net assets,
including working capital, property and equipment and both recognized and unrecognized intangible assets.

Based on the results of the second step of the goodwill impairment test, it was concluded that the full carrying value of goodwill
was impaired. Consequently, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $34.2 million and reported this amount as a separate line item
in the consolidated statements of operations.

We considered as part of the impairment test at the time the recoverable amount of our other long-lived assets and concluded that

these assets were not impaired.

Impairment of Property and Equipment

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2014, we concluded that the carrying amount of certain assets was not recoverable and recorded an
impairment charge of $2.2 million primarily related to discontinued information system projects.
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Non-Operating Expenses
Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $1.8 million, or 12.3%, from $14.6 million in fiscal 2012 to $12.8 million in fiscal 2013. Interest
expense decreased due to additional debt repayments of $45.0 million in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2013.

Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain)

Foreign exchange loss (gain) changed by $3.5 million, from a loss of $8.5 million in fiscal 2012 to a loss of $5.0 million in fiscal
2013. This year-over-year change primarily related to the conversion of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt into our functional currency
of Canadian dollars. The period end exchange rates moved from CDN$0.9975 at March 31, 2012 to CDN$1.0162 at March 31, 2013,
representing a 1.9% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar compared to a strengthening of 2.9% in fiscal 2012.

Provision for Income Taxes

Income tax (recovery) expense decreased by $15.9 million from income tax expense of $6.9 million in fiscal 2012 to income tax
recovery of $9.0 million in fiscal 2013. The decrease in tax expense in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily due to the
reduction in net income before the goodwill impairment and foreign exchange movements offset by the increase in valuation allowance
and decrease in investment tax credits. The tax provision also includes investment tax credits recorded in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 of
$5.6 million and $9.2 million, respectively.

Our tax provision is weighted towards Canadian income tax rates as substantially all our taxable income is Canadian-based. In
calculating the tax provision, we adjust income before income taxes by the unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) from the revaluation
of the U.S. dollar-denominated debt. This is treated as a capital item for income tax purposes.

Net (Loss) Income

Net (loss) income decreased by $85.5 million from net income of $31.0 million in fiscal 2012 to net loss of $54.5 million in fiscal
2013. The decrease in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 was primarily due to the decrease in gross margin of $74.0 million, the increase
in restructuring costs of $7.4 million and the goodwill impairment charge of $34.2 million offset by decreases in other operating expenses
and income tax expenses of $11.3 million and $15.9 million, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $78.7 million, or 61.7%, from $127.5 million in fiscal 2012 to $48.8 million in fiscal 2013.
The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in revenue and gross margin partly offset by the decrease in selling, marketing and

administration and research and development expenses.

Adjusted Net Income
Adjusted Net Income decreased by $58.8 million, or 83.3%, from $70.6 million in the fiscal 2012 to $11.8 million in fiscal 2013. The

decrease was primarily due to the decrease in revenue and gross margin partly offset by decrease in selling, marketing and administration

and research and development expenses.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company has an Equity Incentive Plan which provides for the grant of options, restricted share units (“RSUs”) and deferred
share units (“DSUs”) to directors, officers, employees, consultants and service providers of the Company and its subsidiaries. During
fiscal 2013, we granted 1,172,000 stock options to purchase an equivalent number of the Company’ s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
at a weighted-average exercise price of
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$1.50 which vest over 48 months. The Company had a total of 3,088,195 options outstanding at March 31, 2013 with a weighted-average
exercise price of $6.86. During fiscal 2013, we also issued 30,000 DSUs to independent directors and 2,483,000 time-based RSUs and
197,000 performance-based RSUs to Company executives.

Including these new issuances, we expect total stock-based compensation in selling, marketing and administration and research and
development expenses to be approximately $1.1 million in fiscal 2014.

Results of Operations—Fiscal 2012 Compared to Fiscal 2011
Revenue

Revenue decreased by $44.3 million, or 5.6%, from $790.1 million in fiscal 2011 to $745.8 million in fiscal 2012. Sales volumes for
SMART" s interactive displays in fiscal 2012 were 395,101 units, a decrease of 28,289 units, or 6.7%, from 423,390 units in fiscal 2011.
Although product penetration levels as well as budget and funding constraints in the U.S. education market have resulted in a decline
in North American revenue, we have seen revenue growth in other areas in which we have invested, such as EMEA. For fiscal 2012
compared to fiscal 2011, the decline in North American revenue outweighed the impact of global expansion as U.S. federal, state and
local education budgets faced pressure due to current economic conditions which resulted in a pullback in spending by school districts in
all areas from salaries to technology purchases. The decrease in revenue related to lower North American spending was partially mitigated
by the weakening of the U.S. dollar against the Euro, Canadian dollar and British pound sterling which positively impacted revenue by
approximately $6.9 million in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011.

Gross Margin

Gross margin decreased by $55.3 million from $390.9 million in fiscal 2011 to $335.6 million in fiscal 2012. The gross margin
percentage in fiscal 2012 declined to 45.0% compared to 49.5% in fiscal 2011. Lower revenue was the key driver of the absolute gross
margin decline which was compounded by the impact of allocating fixed overhead costs over this lower revenue. Previously fixed
overhead costs were included in inventory standard costs and spread over the year. Other factors contributing to the lower year-over-
year gross margin percentages included costs relating to the transition from our assembly facility in Ottawa to contract manufacturers
including inventory write-downs associated with the move and related cleanup and under absorbed overhead costs incurred during the
period of transition. Warehousing and freight costs increased with our introduction of new and expanded product lines and our warranty
provision increased by $6.0 million during the year largely due to a fourth quarter warranty charge of $5.2 million primarily related to
repairs and replacements of our SMART UF55 line of projectors. We also launched a new line of projectors in fiscal 2012 for which the
combination of introductory pricing and higher initial costs narrowed our margins. The decrease in gross margin related to the decline in
revenue in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was partially offset by positive foreign exchange impacts of approximately $4.3 million
primarily due to the year-over-year weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Euro, Canadian dollar and British pound sterling, which
positively impacted our revenue and negatively impacted our cost of sales.

Operating Expenses
Selling, Marketing and Administration

Selling, marketing and administration expenses decreased by $2.2 million, or 1.2%, from $183.0 million in fiscal 2011 to $180.8
million in fiscal 2012. Removing the impact of foreign exchange, selling, marketing and administration decreased by $6.3 million in
fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011. This decrease reflects our focus on cost containment in light of continued uncertainty surrounding
education funding. The negative foreign exchange impact of $4.1 million was due to the weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative
to the Canadian dollar, Euro and New Zealand dollar.
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Research and Development

Our research and development expenses decreased by $1.3 million, or 2.5%, from $51.4 million in fiscal 2011 to $50.1 million in
fiscal 2012. Removing the impact of foreign exchange, research and development expenses decreased by $2.8 million. Reduced salary
costs related to staff turnover and delays in resourcing certain projects contributed to the decline. Approximately $0.9 million of the
decrease was related to technology development grant funding received from the New Zealand government in fiscal 2012. The negative
foreign exchange impact of $1.5 million was due to the year-over-year weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian
dollar and New Zealand dollar.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment decreased by $1.6 million from $22.8 million in fiscal 2011 to $21.2
million in fiscal 2012.

Amortization of intangible assets reflects amortization of $9.6 million in fiscal 2012 compared to $9.0 million in fiscal 2011 on
$50.1 million of intangible assets recorded upon the acquisition of NextWindow on April 21, 2010. The weighted-average amortization
period for the intangible assets is 5.6 years.

Costs of Restructuring

In August 2011, we announced the transfer of the remainder of our interactive display assembly operations from our leased
assembly facility in Ottawa, Canada to existing contract manufacturers. This decision reflected our continued focus on cost management
and the transition was completed by March 31, 2012. We incurred approximately $13.4 million in restructuring costs related to this
restructuring plan in fiscal 2012. These costs consisted of employee termination and associated outplacement costs of $3.7 million related
to a reduction in workforce of approximately 225 employees and $1.6 million in labor and other costs related to the shutdown of the
facility. In December 2011, we ceased using the assembly and warehouse space at the Ottawa facility. As a result, we recorded lease
obligation costs of $8.1 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2012, based on future lease expenditures and estimated future sublease
rentals for the remainder of the lease term. Other costs incurred in connection with the restructuring activities include $1.2 million in raw
materials inventory write-offs related to product lines that were discontinued at the Ottawa facility as part of the transition to contract

manufacturers.

Non-Operating Expenses
Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $17.0 million, or 53.8%, from $31.6 million in fiscal 2011 to $14.6 million in fiscal 2012. Interest
expense decreased as a result of the 2010 Reorganization which resulted in the conversion of the shareholder note payable and cumulative
preferred shares into equity during the first quarter of fiscal 2011, as well as the debt repayments made in the last three quarters of fiscal
2011 and first two quarters of fiscal 2012 totaling $232.8 million.

Foreign Exchange Loss (Gain)

Foreign exchange loss (gain) changed by $19.0 million, from a gain of $10.5 million in fiscal 2011 to a loss of $8.5 million in fiscal
2012. This year-over-year change primarily related to the conversion of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt into our functional currency
of Canadian dollars slightly offset by the revaluation of the higher U.S. dollar-denominated cash and accounts receivables in fiscal 2012
compared to fiscal 2011. The period end exchange rates moved from CDN$0.9696 at March 31, 2011 to CDN$0.9975 at March 31, 2012,
representing a 2.9% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar compared to a weakening of the U.S. dollar of 4.5%
against the Canadian dollar in fiscal 2011.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Income tax expense decreased by $28.4 million from $35.3 million in fiscal 2011 to $6.9 million in fiscal 2012. Our tax provision
is weighted towards Canadian income tax rates as substantially all our taxable income is Canadian-based. The decrease in tax expense
in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011 was primarily due to the reduction in net income and the recognition of additional SR&ED
credits upon filing our June 7, 2010 and March 31, 2011 Canadian SR&ED claims. The tax provision also includes investment tax credits
recorded in fiscal 2012 and fiscal 2011 of $9.2 million and $4.4 million, respectively.

Net Income

Net income decreased by $37.8 million from $68.8 million in fiscal 2011 to $31.0 million in fiscal 2012. The decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in gross margin of $55.3 million, the increase in restructuring costs of $13.4 million included in operating expenses
and the impact of the volatility of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, which resulted in a $19.0 million increase in year-over-
year foreign exchange losses. This was offset by decreases in operating expenses excluding restructuring costs of $4.5 million and interest
and income tax expenses of $17.0 million and $28.4 million, respectively.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by $58.3 million, or 31.4%, from $185.8 million in fiscal 2011 to $127.5 million in fiscal 2012. The
change was primarily due to the decrease in gross margin partially offset by lower deferred revenue related to lower sales and decreases
in selling, marketing and administration expenses and research and development expenses.

Adjusted Net Income

Adjusted Net Income decreased by $14.9 million, or 17.4%, from $85.5 million in fiscal 2011 to $70.6 million in fiscal 2012.
The decrease in gross margin was partially offset by lower deferred revenue related to lower sales, decreases in selling, marketing and
administration expenses and research and development expenses and reduced interest expense and income taxes.

Stock-based Compensation

During fiscal 2012, we granted 2,172,828 stock options to purchase an equivalent number of the Company’ s Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares at a weighted-average exercise price of $5.54 which vest over 48 months. The Company had a total of 3,000,657 options
outstanding at March 31, 2012 with a weighted-average exercise price of $9.11. During fiscal 2012, we also issued 30,000 DSUs to
independent directors and 250,850 time-based RSUs and 404,250 performance-based RSUs to Company executives.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data

The following tables set forth the Company’ s unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations, reconciliation of net (loss)

income to Adjusted EBITDA and reconciliation to Adjusted Net Income for each of the eight most recent quarters. The information

in the table below has been derived from our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. Our quarterly operating results have

varied substantially in the past and may vary substantially in the future. Accordingly, the information below is not necessarily indicative

of future results. Data for the periods are indicated in millions of dollars, except for shares, per share amounts, units and average selling

prices.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Operating expenses
Selling, marketing and administration(!)
Research and development®
Depreciation and amortization
Restructuring costs
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of property and equipment
Operating (loss) income
Non-operating expenses (income)
Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Other (income) loss, net
(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax (recovery) expense

Net (loss) income(®

Fiscal Year 2013

Fiscal Year 2012

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$105.2  $138.9 $170.8 $1745 $148.0 $185.1  $210.3  $2024
59.7 80.1 94.2 93.8 89.2 105.6 113.3 102.1
45.5 58.8 76.6 80.7 58.8 79.5 97.0 100.3
40.1 40.4 42.3 48.1 46.7 44.2 43.2 46.7
11.4 12.2 12.0 13.2 12.7 12.4 12.0 13.0
7.2 8.0 7.9 7.6 7.9 7.6 7.7 7.6
2.4 15.2 3.1 0.1 0.2 8.7 4.5 =

- 34.2 - - - - - -

2.2 = = = = = = =
(17.8)  (51.2) 113 11.7 87 ) 6.6 29.6 33.0
3.0 32 3.4 3.2 3.5 2.9 4.1 4.1
5.0 2.0 83 ) 63 56 ) (13 ) 227 (13 )
06 ) 0.1 0.3 01 ) (1) (02) (1) (1)
(252) (56.5) 159 2.3 65 ) 112 2.9 30.3
65) (56 ) 23 0.8 36 ) 05 2.5 75
$(18.7) $(50.9) $13.6  $1.5 $(2.9 ) $10.7  $0.4 $22.8

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods’ figures to conform to the current period’ s presentation.

(1) In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to

the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes
1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this

change in accounting policy.
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Adjusted EBITDA
Net (loss) income(V)

Income tax (recovery) expense
Depreciation in cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Foreign exchange loss (gain)
Change in deferred revenue®
Stock-based compensation(!)
Costs of restructuring®
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of property and
equipment
Other (income) loss, net

Adjusted EBITDA®

Fiscal Year 2013 Fiscal Year 2012

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$(18.7)  $(509) $13.6  $1.5 $29) $107  $04 $22.8
65) (56 ) 23 0.8 36) 05 2.5 75
0.9 0.8 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9
7.2 8.0 7.9 7.6 7.9 7.6 7.7 7.6
3.0 32 34 32 3.5 2.9 4.1 4.1
5.0 2.0 83) 63 56) (13) 227 (13)
44 ) (@12) 22 2.9 0.3 2.9 3.4 2.0
0.5 = 1.0 1.8 1.2 2.0 23 3.7
2.6 15.2 33 0.1 - 9.0 5.6 -

= 34.2 = = = = = =

2.2 - - - - - - -
06 ) 0.1 0.3 01) (1) (02) (01) (0.1)
$(88 ) $5.8 $26.7  $25.1 $1.7 $29.1 $49.5  $472

(1) In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to
the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes
1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this

(@)

3

change in accounting policy.

Change in deferred revenue is calculated as the difference between deferred revenue and deferred revenue recognized. In accordance

with our revenue recognition policy, deferred revenue represents the portion of our sales that we do not recognize in the period.

Deferred revenue recognized represents the portion of our revenue deferred in a prior period that we recognized in the current

period.

Includes restructuring costs of $20.8 million disclosed in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations in fiscal 2013 (2012

- $13.4 million) and $0.4 million in inventory write-offs recorded in cost of sales in fiscal 2013 (2012 - $1.2 million).
(4) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and is not a substitute for the GAAP equivalent.
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Fiscal Year 2013 Fiscal Year 2012

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Adjusted Net (Loss) Income

Net (loss) income(!) $(18.7 ) $(50.9 ) $13.6 $1.5 $29 ) $10.7 $0.4 $22.8
Adjustments to net (loss) income
Amortization of intangible assets 2.3 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.4
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5.0 2.0 83 ) 6.3 5.6 ) 73 ) 22.7 (1.3 )
Change in deferred revenue(? @44 H a2 ) 22 29 0.3 29 3.4 2.0
Stock-based compensation(!) 0.5 = 1.0 1.8 1.2 2.0 2.3 3.7
Costs of restructuring® 26 15.2 3.3 0.1 - 9.0 5.6 -
Impairment of goodwill = 342 = = = = = =
Impairment of property and equipment 2.2 - - - - - - -
8.2 52.6 0.6 13.5 a7 ) 9.0 36.4 6.8
Tax impact on adjustments(*) 1.0 4.0 1.2 24 0.5 3.0 5.6 1.8
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax 7.2 48.6 06 ) 11.1 22 ) 6.0 30.8 5.0
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income(®) $(11.5 ) $23 ) $13.0 $12.6 $G5.1 ) 8167 $31.2 $27.8

Adjusted Net (Loss) Income per share()

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (000’ s)

Basic 120,536 120,544 120,757 121,142 121,445 122,033 123,652 123,773

Diluted 120,536 120,544 123,630 124,045 121,445 122,693 124,331 124,452
(Loss) earnings per share-basic $0.15 ) $0.42 ) $0.11 $0.01 $(0.02 ) $0.09 $0.00 $0.19
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax, per share 0.05 0.40 0.00 ) 0.09 0.02 ) 0.05 0.25 0.03
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income per share-basic $(0.10 ) $©.02 ) $0.11 $0.10 $(0.04 ) $0.14 $0.25 $0.22
(Loss) earnings per share-diluted $0.15 ) $0.42 ) $o0.11 $0.01 $(0.02 ) $0.09 $0.00 $0.19
Adjustments to net (loss) income, net of tax, per share 0.05 0.40 (0.00 ) 0.09 0.02 ) 0.05 0.25 0.03
Adjusted Net (Loss) Income per share—diluted $(0.10 ) $©.02 ) $0.11 $0.10 $(0.04 ) $0.14 $0.25 $0.22
Total number of interactive displays sold(®) 60,444 71,938 111,741 94,811 81,716 100,898 111,008 101,479
Average selling price of interactive displays sold? $1,360 $1,535 $1,234 $1,415 $1,322 $1,400 $1,430 $1,532

(1) In the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense related to the fair value of options to the
graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively. See Notes 1 and 12 in the consolidated financial statements for the years
ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 for further discussion of this change in accounting policy.

(2) Change in deferred revenue is calculated as the difference between deferred revenue and deferred revenue recognized. In accordance with our revenue recognition
policy, deferred revenue represents the portion of our sales that we do not recognize in the period. Deferred revenue recognized represents the portion of our revenue
deferred in a prior period that we recognized in the current period.

(3) Includes restructuring costs of $20.8 million disclosed in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations in fiscal 2013 (2012 - $13.4 million) and $0.4 million
in inventory write-offs recorded in cost of sales in fiscal 2013 (2012 - $1.2 million).

(4) Reflects the tax impact on the adjustments to net (loss) income. A key driver of our foreign exchange loss (gain) is the conversion of our U.S. dollar-denominated
debt that was originally incurred at an average exchange rate of 1.05. When the unrealized foreign exchange amount on U.S. dollar-denominated debt is in a net gain
position as measured against the original exchange rate, the gain is tax-effected at current rates. When the unrealized foreign exchange amount on the external U.S.
dollar-denominated debt is in a net loss position as measured against the original exchange rate, a valuation allowance is taken against it and as a result no net tax
effect is recorded.

(5) Adjusted Net (Loss) Income is a non-GAAP measure and is not a substitute for the GAAP equivalent.
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(6) Interactive displays include SMART Board interactive whiteboard systems and associated projectors, SMART Board interactive flat panels, LightRaise interactive
projectors, appliance-based interactive displays, SMART Board interactive overlays, SMART Podium interactive pen displays and SMART Table interactive learning
centers.

(7) Average selling price of interactive displays is calculated by dividing the total revenue from the sale of interactive displays by the total number of units sold.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2013, we held cash and cash equivalents of $141.4 million. Our primary source of cash flow is generated from
sales of interactive displays and related attachment products. We believe that ongoing operations and associated cash flow in addition to
our cash resources and revolving credit facilities provide sufficient liquidity to support our business operations for at least the next 12
months.

As of March 31, 2013, our outstanding debt balance was as follows:

Issue Date Maturity Date Interest Rate Amount Outstanding
First lien facility Aug 28, 2007 Aug 28,2014 LIBOR +3.0%  $288.2 million

We have two revolving credit facilities totaling $100.0 million that form part of the First lien facility: a $45.0 million facility that
bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.0% and a $55.0 million facility that bears interest at LIBOR plus 3.75%. Both credit facilities mature on
August 28, 2013 (one year in advance of the rest of the First lien facility) and were undrawn as of March 31, 2013.

In March 2013, we opportunistically sought to refinance our long-term debt through an offering of senior secured notes, but we
subsequently withdrew the proposed offering. Our existing long-term debt matures in August 2014 and the offering was not pursued to

fund short-term requirements.
All debt and credit facilities are denominated in U.S. dollars.

Below is a summary of our cash flows provided by operating activities, financing activities and investing activities for the periods
indicated.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $12.7 million from $57.6 million in fiscal 2012 to $70.3 million in fiscal
2013. The increase was attributable to a net decrease in period-over-period non-cash working capital balances of $76.4 million, largely
offset by lower operating income. The decrease in non-cash working capital was primarily related to declining inventory and accounts
receivable balances, partially offset by decreases in accounts payable and accrued and other current liabilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $27.4 million from $85.0 million in fiscal 2011 to $57.6 million in fiscal
2012. The change was driven by lower operating income. Increases in working capital related to higher inventory balances were offset by

decreases in other year-over-year non-cash working capital balances.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $3.6 million from $23.0 million in fiscal 2012 to $19.4 million in fiscal 2013

primarily related to a decrease in capital expenditures of $3.8 million in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $79.0 million from $102.0 million in fiscal 2011 to $23.0 million in fiscal 2012.
The decrease was due to net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2011 related to the acquisition of NextWindow for $82.0 million in
cash, offset by $8.0 million in cash held by NextWindow at the date of acquisition and a decrease in capital expenditures of $4.4 million
in fiscal 2012 compared to fiscal 2011.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased by $54.5 million from $57.8 million in 2012 to $3.3 million in fiscal 2013. The
decrease was due to $45.0 million in debt repayments on the Second lien facility in fiscal 2012 and a $9.0 million decrease in repurchases
of common shares in fiscal 2013 compared to the prior year.
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Net cash used in financing activities decreased by $40.3 million from $98.1 million in 2011 to $57.8 million in fiscal 2012. The cash
used in financing activities in fiscal 2012 primarily related to repayments of $45.0 million on the Second lien facility and $9.8 million
in repurchases of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The cash used in financing activities in fiscal 2011 primarily related to $239.3
million in debt repayments on our revolving credit facility, shareholder note payable, unsecured term loan, term construction facility and
construction loan. The cash used in financing activities was offset by net cash proceeds of $134.3 million from the initial public offering
(“IPO”) in fiscal 2011.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments, Guarantees and Contingencies
Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We have certain fixed contractual obligations and commitments that include future estimated payments for general operating
purposes. Changes in our business needs, contractual cancellation provisions, fluctuating foreign exchange and interest rates, and other
factors may result in actual payments differing from estimates. The following table summarizes our outstanding contractual obligations
in millions of dollars as of March 31, 2013.

Fiscal Year Ending March 31,

2019 and
2014 2015 ﬂ ZOi % thereafter Total
Operating leases $5.8 $5.1 $45 $42 $13 §$123 $33.2
Derivative contracts 0.7 0.3 - - - - 1.0

Long-term debt repayments

Long-term debt 31 285.1 - - - - 288.2

Future interest obligations on long-term debt 9.6 3.9 = = = 13.5
Purchase commitments 928 40 15 - - - 98.3
Total $112.0  $2984 $6.0 $42 $13 §$123 $434.2

The operating lease commitments relate primarily to office and warchouse space and represent the minimum commitments under
these agreements.

The derivative contracts represent minimum commitments under interest rate contracts based on the forward strip for each
instrument through the contract term.

Long-term debt commitments represent the minimum principal repayments required under our long-term debt facility.

Our purchase commitments are for raw materials, finished goods from contract manufacturers, as well as certain information
systems and licensing costs.

Commitments have been calculated using foreign exchange rates and interest rates in effect at March 31, 2013. Fluctuations in these
rates may result in actual payments differing from those in the above table.

Guarantees and Contingencies
Securities Class Actions

On March 13, 2013, we announced that an agreement in principle had been reached with the plaintiffs in the U.S. and Canadian
shareholder class action lawsuits involving the Company, In re SMART Technologies Inc. Shareholder Litigation, pending in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and Tucci v. SMART Technologies Inc., et al., pending in the Ontario Superior
Court of Justice (the “Actions”). Pursuant to the settlement terms, the parties have agreed to settle the Actions, releasing the alleged
claims and all
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related claims, subject to various conditions, including appropriate class notice, court approvals and the dismissal of related putative class
claims in Harper v. SMART Technologies Inc., et al., currently pending in the Superior Court of the State of California. The proposed
settlement will be funded entirely by insurance maintained by the Company.

In re SMART Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation

Beginning in December 2010, several putative class action complaints against the Company and other parties were filed in the U.S.
District Courts in New York and Illinois on behalf of the purchasers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in the Company’ s
IPO. The complaints alleged certain violations of federal securities laws in connection with the IPO. After a series of motions,
the court-appointed Lead Plaintiff, the City of Miami General Employees’ and Sanitation Employees’ Retirement Trust, filed a
consolidated amended class action complaint in the New York court in November 2011. A motion to dismiss the case was filed
by the defendants on January 6, 2012 and, on April 3, 2012, the Court granted in part and denied in part the motion. A Second
Amended Complaint was filed on April 23, 2012 and the Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended claims on May 11, 2012.
On August 21, 2012, the Court denied the Company’ s motion to dismiss the amended claims. On January 11, 2013, the Court issued
an order certifying a class defined as: “All persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired (and did not sell) SMART
common stock in the United States prior to November 10, 2010, pursuant or traceable to the Offering Materials. With respect to
claims brought under section 12(a)(2), the class is limited to U.S. purchasers of SMART stock in the July 14, 2010, initial public
offering.” In light of the proposed settlement described above, the Court has stayed all proceedings and will be considering a motion
seeking approval of the settlement. The motion seeking preliminary approval of the settlement, and authorizing notice to the class,
was filed with the Court on April 30, 2013.

Tucci v. SMART Technologies Inc. et al.

In February 2011, a class proceeding was commenced in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on behalf of purchasers of the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares issued in conjunction with the IPO (the “Lefever/Runnels Action™). A second class proceeding was
subsequently initiated by the same law firm with an Ontario-based representative plaintiff in May 2011 (the “Tucci Action™). The
certification motion in the Tucci Action was heard on February 1, 2013. While the parties consented to certain terms of certification,
including terms dismissing the Lefever/Runnels Action, the court heard arguments as to whether secondary market purchasers
should be included in the class definition to be certified in the Tucci Action. On February 4, 2013, the court released its decision
and certified a class limited to primary market purchasers of SMART shares during the IPO from underwriters domiciled in Canada.
The court refused to certify the claims alleged on behalf of secondary market purchasers in the Tucci Action. On February 12, 2013
the plaintiff in the Tucci action served a notice of motion for leave to appeal the certification decision. However, the motion is in
abeyance as a result of the proposed settlement as described above.

Harper v. SMART Technologies Inc. et al.

In September 2011, an additional putative class proceeding was commenced in the Superior Court of the State of California, County
of San Francisco on behalf of purchasers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The Company is of the view that this proceeding
is not materially different than the aforementioned matter being heard in the Southern District of New York. In October 2011, the
defendants removed the case to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California. Thereafter, the defendants filed a
motion to transfer the case to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York, and plaintiffs filed a motion to remand
the case to California state court. On September 28, 2012, the Court granted the plaintiff’ s motion to remand the case to California
state court, where it is now pending, and denied as moot the defendants’ motion to transfer. In November 2012, the defendants filed
a motion to stay the Harper action pending resolution of SMART Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation in the Southern District of
New York. That motion remains pending. As discussed above, dismissal of the class claims in Harper is a condition of the proposed
settlement of the In re SMART Technologies and Tucci v. SMART Technologies cases.
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All of the claims in Canada and the U.S. are essentially based on the allegation that SMART misrepresented or omitted to fully
disclose demand for its products.

In the event that the proposed settlement is not finalized and implemented, we are not able to make any determination with respect
to the likelihood or amount of any damages that might be awarded against us in connection with such proceedings (or any related
proceedings) as the discovery process in the foregoing litigation proceedings have not yet been completed.

Other Litigation

In addition to the putative class action complaints described above under “Securities Class Actions”, we are involved in various
other claims and litigation from time to time arising in the normal course of business. While the outcome of these other matters is
uncertain and there can be no assurance that such matters will be resolved in our favor and we are not able to make any determination
with respect to the amount of any damages that might be awarded against us in connection with such matters, we do not currently believe
that the outcome of such other claims and litigation, or the amounts which we may be required to pay by reason thereof, would have a
material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Indemnities and Guarantees

In the normal course of business, we enter into guarantees that provide indemnification and guarantees to counterparties to secure
sales agreements and purchase commitments. Should we be required to act under such agreements, it is expected that no material loss
would result.

As a result of the U.S. and Canadian class action IPO litigations, as described in the “Securities Class Actions” section above,
SMART may be required, subject to certain limitations, to indemnify the following parties: the underwriters pursuant to the underwriting
agreement entered into in connection with the IPO; Intel Corporation, Apax Partners and IFF Holdings Inc. pursuant to a registration
rights agreement entered into in 2007 and amended and restated in connection with the IPO; and the directors and officers of SMART
Technologies Inc. pursuant to indemnification agreements entered into by SMART and each director and officer on or about the time of
their appointment to their respective office.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31, 2013, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future
material effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2013, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’ s
management, including the Company’ s President and Chief Executive Officer and the VP, Finance and Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operations of the Company’ s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) and
15(d)-15(e) under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act (the “Exchange Act”). Based on that evaluation, the President and Chief Executive
Officer and the VP, Finance and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, the Company’ s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that it
files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S.

Securities and Exchange Commission’ s rules and forms.
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Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
management, including its principal executive and financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow for

timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13(a)-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a process designed by,
or under the supervision of, the Company’ s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’ s Board
of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:

pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the Company;

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitions, use or dispositions of
the Company’ s assets that could have a material affect on the Company’ s financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2013. In making
this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of March 31, 2013, the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, no changes were made to the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market and Other Financial Risks

In the normal course of our business, we engage in operating and financing activities that generate risks in the following primary

areas.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could impact our results from operations. We are exposed
to foreign exchange risk primarily between the Canadian dollar and both the U.S. dollar and the Euro. This exposure relates to our U.S.
dollar denominated debt, the sale of our products to customers globally and purchases of goods and services in foreign currencies. A large

portion of our revenue and
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purchases of materials and components are denominated in U.S. dollars. However, a substantial portion of our revenue is denominated in
other foreign currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, Euro and British pound sterling. If the value of any of these currencies depreciates
relative to the U.S. dollar, our foreign currency revenue will decrease when translated to U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes.
In addition, a portion of our cost of goods sold, operating costs and capital expenditures are incurred in other currencies, primarily the
Canadian dollar and the Euro. If the value of either of these currencies appreciates relative to the U.S. dollar, our expenses will increase
when translated to U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes.

We continually monitor foreign exchange rates and periodically enter into forward contracts and other derivative contracts to convert
a portion of our forecasted foreign currency denominated cash flows into Canadian dollars for the purpose of paying our Canadian dollar
denominated operating costs. We target to cover between 25% and 75% of our expected Canadian dollar cash needs for the next 12
months through the use of forward contracts and other derivatives with the actual percentage determined by management based on the
changing exchange rate environment. We may also enter into forward contracts and other derivative contracts to manage our cash flows
in other currencies. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We have also entered into and continue to
look for opportunities within our supply chain to match our cost structures to our foreign currency revenues.

These programs reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the impact of currency exchange movements. Our current practice is to use
foreign currency derivatives without hedge accounting designation. The maturity of these instruments generally occurs within 12 months.
Gains or losses resulting from the fair valuing of these instruments are reported in foreign exchange loss (gain) on the consolidated
statements of operations.

For fiscal 2013, our net income would have decreased with a 10.0% depreciation in the average value of the Canadian dollar
compared to the U.S. dollar by approximately $4.9 million, primarily as a result of our U.S. dollar-denominated debt. Our net income
would have decreased with a 10.0% depreciation in the average value of the Euro compared to the U.S. dollar by approximately $3.2
million primarily as a result of revenue denominated in the Euro.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in market interest rates. Our financing
includes long-term debt and revolving credit facilities that bear interest based on floating market rates. Changes in these rates result in
fluctuations in the required cash flows to service this debt. We partially mitigate this risk by periodically entering into interest rate swap
agreements to fix the interest rate on certain long-term variable-rate debt. Using interest rates and the debt level at March 31, 2013,
our future interest expense would increase by approximately $1.4 million annually for each 1.0% increase in interest rates. Our current
practice is to use interest rate derivatives without hedge accounting designation. Changes in the fair value of these interest rate derivatives

are included in interest expense in our consolidated statement of operations.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, resulting in a financial
loss to us.

We sell to a diverse customer base over a global geographic area. We evaluate collectability of specific customer receivables
based on a variety of factors including currency risk, geopolitical risk, payment history, customer stability and other economic factors.
Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis by management and the allowance for doubtful receivables is adjusted as
required. Account balances are charged against the allowance for doubtful receivables when we determine that it is probable that the
receivable will not be recovered. We believe that the geographic diversity of the customer base, combined with our established credit

approval practices and ongoing monitoring of customer balances, mitigates this counterparty risk.
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We may also be exposed to certain losses in the event that counterparties to the derivative financial instruments are unable to meet
the terms of the contracts. Our credit exposure is limited to those counterparties holding derivative contracts with positive fair values at
the reporting date. We manage this counterparty credit risk by entering into contracts with large established counterparties.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations as they come due. We continually monitor our

actual and projected cash flows and believe that our internally generated cash flows, combined with our revolving credit facilities, will
provide us with sufficient funding to meet all working capital and financing needs for at least the next 12 months.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires us to make judgments,
assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Note 1,
“Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies”, to our consolidated financial statements describes the significant accounting
policies and methods used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience and
various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates and such differences may be material.

We believe our critical accounting policies and estimates are those related to revenue recognition, inventory valuation and inventory
purchase commitments, warranty costs, income taxes, restructuring costs and legal and other contingencies. We consider these policies
critical because they are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results, and they require us to make
judgments and estimates about inherently uncertain matters. Our company’ s critical accounting policies and estimates used in the

preparation of our financial statements are reviewed regularly by management.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue consists primarily of the sale of hardware and software. We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, shipping has occurred, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Product is considered shipped
to the customer once it has left our shipping facilities and title and risk of loss have been transferred. For most of our product sales, these
criteria are met at the time the product is shipped. In the case of integrated hardware and software products, we recognize revenue from the
sale of (i) hardware products (e.g. SMART’ s interactive displays and related attachment products); (ii) software bundled with hardware
that is essential to the functionality of the hardware; and (iii) post-contract customer support which includes technical support for the
life of the product and when-and-if-available upgrades. We recognize revenue in accordance with industry specific software accounting
guidance for the following types of sales transactions: (i) stand-alone sales of software products and post-contract customer support; and
(i1) sales of software bundled with hardware not essential to the functionality of the hardware.

For multiple-element arrangements that include tangible products containing software essential to the tangible product’ s
functionality and undelivered software elements relating to the tangible product’ s essential software, we allocate revenue to all
deliverables based on their relative selling prices. In such circumstances, accounting principles establish a hierarchy to determine the
selling price to be used for allocating revenue to deliverables as follows: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value, or VSOE;
(ii) third-party evidence of selling price, or TPE; and (iii) estimate of the selling price, or ESP.

For SMART’ s interactive displays and SMART Notebook and SMART Meeting Pro™ software which is essential to its operation,
we may from time to time provide future unspecified software upgrades and features free of charge to customers. We have identified three

deliverables generally contained in arrangements involving

Page 26

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

the sale of interactive displays. The first deliverable is the hardware. The second deliverable is the software license essential to the
functionality of the hardware device delivered at the time of sale. The third deliverable is post-contract customer support, which includes
the customer of the interactive display receiving, on a when-and-if available basis, future unspecified software upgrades and features
relating to the product’ s essential software and unlimited customer support for both the hardware and software. Because we have neither
VSOE nor TPE for the three deliverables, the allocation of revenue has been based on ESP. Amounts allocated to the delivered hardware
and the related essential software are recognized at the time of sale provided all the conditions for revenue recognition have been met.
Amounts allocated to the technical support services and unspecified software upgrades are deferred and recognized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated term of provision. All product cost of sales, including estimated warranty costs, are generally recognized at the

time of sale. Costs for research and development and sales and marketing are expensed as incurred.

Our process for determining the ESP for deliverables without VSOE or TPE involves management’ s judgment. Our process
considers multiple factors that may vary depending upon the unique facts and circumstances related to each deliverable. This view is
primarily based on the fact that we are not obligated to provide upgrades at a particular time or at all, and do not specify to customers
which upgrades or features will be delivered in the future. Therefore, we have concluded that if we were to sell upgrades on a stand-alone
basis, such as those included with the SMART Notebook and SMART Meeting Pro software, the selling price would be relatively low.
Key factors considered in developing the ESP for SMART Notebook and SMART Meeting Pro software include our historical pricing
practices, the nature of the upgrades (i.e. unspecified and when-and-if available), and the relative ESP of the upgrades as compared
to the total selling price of the product. If the facts and circumstances underlying the factors considered change or should future facts
and circumstances lead us to consider additional factors, our ESP for software upgrades, updates and customer support related to future
interactive display sales could change in future periods.

We record reductions to revenue for estimated commitments related to reseller and distributor incentive programs, including sales
programs and volume-based incentives. For reseller and distributor incentive programs, the estimated cost of these programs is recognized
at the date the product is sold. Additionally, certain reseller and distributor incentive programs are based on annual sales targets and
require management to estimate the expected sales levels based on market conditions. Our estimates are based on experience and the
specific terms and conditions of particular incentive programs. If a reseller or distributor misses its sales target significantly in relation to

our estimate we would be required to record a change to the estimate, which would favorably impact our revenue and results of operations.

Inventory Valuation and Inventory Purchase Commitments

Components and finished goods for our products must be ordered to build inventory in advance of product shipments. We record
a write-down for inventories of components and products which have become obsolete or are in excess of anticipated demand or net
realizable value. We perform detailed reviews of inventory that consider multiple factors including demand forecasts, product life cycle
status, product development plans, current sales levels and component cost trends. If the future demand or market conditions for our
products are less favorable than forecasted or if unforeseen technological changes negatively impact the utility of component inventory,
we may be required to record additional write-downs, which would negatively affect our results of operations in the period when the

write-downs are recorded.

Consistent with industry practice, we acquire components and finished goods through a combination of purchase orders, supplier
contracts and open orders based on projected demand information. These commitments typically cover our requirements for periods
ranging from 30 to 150 days. If there were an abrupt and substantial decline in demand for one or more of our products, or an
unanticipated change in technological requirements for any of our products, we may be required to record additional accruals for
cancellation fees that would negatively affect the results of operations in the period when the cancellation fees are identified and recorded.
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Warranty Costs

We provide for the estimated cost of hardware warranties at the time the related revenue is recognized based on historical and
projected warranty claim rates, historical and projected cost-per-claim and knowledge of specific product failures that are outside of our
typical experience. Each quarter, we evaluate our estimates to assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty liabilities considering the size
of the installed base of products subject to warranty protection and adjust the amounts if necessary. In instances where specific product
issues are determined outside of the normal warranty estimates, additional provisions are recorded to address the specific item. If actual
product failure rates or repair costs differ significantly from our estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required
and could negatively affect our results of operations.

Income Taxes

We record a tax provision for the anticipated tax effect of the reported results of operations. In accordance with GAAP, the provision
for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for
operating losses and tax credit carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that
apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled. We record a valuation
allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is believed more likely than not to be realized.

We recognize and measure uncertain tax positions in accordance with GAAP, whereby we only recognize the tax benefit from an
uncertain tax position if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on
the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then measured based
on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

We use the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits earned on eligible scientific research and experimental
development expenditures. We apply judgment in determining which expenditures are eligible to be claimed. Under this method,
investment tax credits are recognized as a reduction to income tax expense.

We enter into transactions and arrangements in the ordinary course of business in which the tax treatment is not entirely certain. In
particular, certain countries in which we operate could seek to tax a greater share of income than has been provided for. The final outcome
of any audits by taxation authorities may differ from estimates and assumptions used in determining our consolidated tax provision and
accruals for interest and penalties associated with the resolution of these audits. These may have a material effect on the consolidated

income tax provision and the net income for the period in which such determinations are made.

We believe it is more likely than not that forecasted income, including income that may be generated as a result of certain tax
planning strategies, together with the tax effects of the deferred tax liabilities, will be sufficient to fully recover the deferred tax assets.
In the event that we determine all or part of the net deferred tax assets are not realizable in the future, we make an adjustment to the
valuation allowance that would be charged to earnings in the period such determination is made. In addition, the calculation of tax
liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application of GAAP and complex tax laws in
multiple jurisdictions. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with our expectations could have a material impact on
our financial condition and operating results.

Restructuring Costs

Employee termination benefits associated with an exit or disposal activity are accrued when the liability is both probable and
reasonably estimable provided that the Company has a history of providing similar severance benefits that meet the criteria of an on-
going benefit arrangement. If no such history exists, the costs are
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expensed when the termination benefits are paid. Contract termination costs are recognized and measured at fair value when the Company

ceases using the rights under the contract. Other associated costs are recognized and measured at fair value when they are incurred.

Legal and Other Contingencies

We are subject to a number of legal proceedings and claims arising out of the conduct of our business. See a discussion of our
litigation matters under “Contractual Obligations, Commitments, Guarantees and Contingencies—Guarantees and Contingencies”, which
is incorporated herein by reference. In accordance with GAAP, we record a liability when it is probable that a loss has been incurred
and the amount is reasonably estimable. There is significant judgment required in both the probability determination and as to whether
an exposure can be reasonably estimated. However, the outcomes of legal proceedings and claims brought against us are subject to
significant uncertainty. Should we fail to prevail in any of these legal matters or should several legal matters be resolved against us in the
same reporting period, the operating results of a particular reporting period could be materially adversely affected.

Change in Accounting Policy

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense
related to the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively
to July 2010, the date of the Company’ s initial option grants. The Company believes that the graded method is more appropriate
because it more accurately reflects the pattern of service provided by the employees. See Note 1 (t)-Basis of presentation and significant
accounting policies - Stock-based compensation in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of this change
in accounting policy.

Recent Accounting Policies Adopted

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued guidance on presentation of comprehensive income
to increase its prominence in the financial statements. The new guidance eliminates the option to present components of other
comprehensive income in the statement of shareholders’ equity. Instead, an entity is required to present the total of comprehensive
income, the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income in either a continuous statement of net income
and other comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The Company adopted the guidance in the first quarter
of fiscal 2013 and included two separate but consecutive statements.

In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the testing of goodwill for impairment. The new guidance provides an
entity with the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If an entity determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is greater than its carrying amount, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. The Company adopted the guidance in the
first quarter of fiscal 2013. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’ s results of operations, financial condition or

disclosures.

Risks Related to Our Business
We operate in a highly competitive industry.

We are engaged in an industry that is highly competitive. Because our industry is evolving and characterized by technological
change, it is difficult for us to predict whether, when and by whom new competing technologies may be introduced or when new
competitors may enter the market. We face increased competition from companies with strong positions in certain markets we currently
serve and in new markets and regions we may enter. These companies manufacture and/or distribute new, disruptive or substitute products
that compete for the

Page 29

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

pool of available funds that previously could have been spent on interactive displays and associated products. We compete with
other interactive display developers such as Promethean World Plc, Hitachi, Ltd., LG Electronics, Inc., BenQ Corporation, Samsung
Electronics Co., Sharp Corporation and Seiko Epson Corp. Additionally, makers of personal computer technologies, tablets, television
screens, smart phones and other technology companies such as Apple Inc., Cisco Systems, Inc., Dell Inc., Hewlett-Packard Company,
Google Inc., Microsoft Corporation and Polycom, Inc. have provided, and continue to provide, integrated solutions that include
interactive learning and collaboration features substantially similar to those offered by our products, and promote their existing
technologies and alternative products as substitutes for our products. Many of our current and potential future competitors have
significantly greater financial and other resources than we do and have spent, and may continue to spend, significant amounts of resources
to try to enter or expand their presence in the market. In addition, low cost competitors have appeared in China and other countries. We
may not be able to compete effectively against these current and future competitors. Increased competition or other competitive pressures
have and may continue to result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. For example, demand for our interactive displays may have been
negatively impacted by additional competition in the interactive display market and from alternative products, such as tablet computers,

and may continue to decrease in the future.

Some of our customers are required to purchase equipment by soliciting proposals from a number of sources and, in some cases,
are required to purchase from the lowest bidder. While we attempt to price our products competitively based upon the relative features
they offer, our competitors’ prices and other factors, we are often not the lowest bidder and may lose sales to lower bidders. When we are
the successful bidder, it is most often as a result of our products being perceived as providing better value to the customer. Our ability to
provide better value to the customer depends on continually enhancing our current products and developing new products at competitive
prices and in a timely manner. We cannot assure that we will be able to continue to maintain our value advantage and be competitive.
See “~If we are unable to continually enhance our current products and to develop, introduce and sell new technologies and products at
competitive prices and in a timely manner, our business would be harmed.”

Competitors may be able to respond to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements more effectively than
we can, or devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of products than we can. Current and potential competitors
may establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties, including through mergers or acquisitions, to increase
the ability of their products to address the needs of our current or prospective customers. If these interactive display competitors or other
substitute or alternative technology competitors acquire significantly increased market share, it could have a material adverse effect on

our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our business is going through a challenging period and we have considered and may continue to consider changes to our business
model.

Our business is going through a challenging period and we have recently experienced significant changes in our senior management.

See “~Recent changes to our senior management may cause uncertainty in, or be disruptive to, our business.”

As a result of this challenging period and management change, management has considered and may continue to consider changes
to our business model. For example, we currently intend to monetize our education software and services that we have been providing
for free with our hardware. We also intend to expand our offering of software to further integrate disparate devices in classrooms. While
we believe that we have an opportunity to monetize the software and services that are currently being used, in addition to expanding our
software offering and charging fees for new software and service offerings, our business to date has primarily been driven by the sale
of our interactive displays. We also believe that there will be a shift in our product mix from interactive whiteboards to interactive flat

panels and a shift in sales towards emerging markets, which may result in lower gross margins.
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We may not be able to achieve or fully implement, if at all, any changes to our business model, including our intention to monetize
our education software and services and expand our software offering. In addition, any such changes may not yield increased revenue,

and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses incurred.

The level and upcoming maturities of our current and future debt could have an adverse impact on our business.

We have substantial debt outstanding and we may incur additional indebtedness in the future. As of March 31, 2013, we had $288.2
million of outstanding indebtedness.

The high level of our indebtedness, among other things, could:
make it difficult for us to make payments on our debt;
increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing
the availability of our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and investments and other general
corporate purposes;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the markets in which we operate;
place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

limit our ability to borrow additional funds.

Our undrawn revolving credit facilities mature in August 2013 and our current term loan matures in August 2014. In March 2013,
we withdrew a proposed offering of senior secured notes to refinance our maturing debt. If additional debt financing is not available
when required or is not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to refinance our maturing debt which would result in an event
of default thereunder, which would have a substantial material adverse effect on our ability to operate as a going concern. In addition, we
would not be able to grow our business, take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could
also have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

A substantial portion of our debt bears interest at floating rates and we are therefore exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. In order
to mitigate the effects of increases in interest rates on our cash flows, from time to time we enter into derivative instruments, including
interest rate swaps. These hedging activities mitigate but do not eliminate our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and, as a result, interest
rate fluctuations may materially adversely affect our operating results in future periods.

If we are unable to continually enhance our current products and to develop, introduce and sell new technologies and products at

competitive prices and in a timely manner, our business would be harmed.

The market for interactive learning and collaboration solutions is still emerging and evolving. It is characterized by rapid
technological change and frequent new product introductions, many of which may compete with, be considered as alternatives to or
replace our interactive displays. For example, we have recently observed significant sales of tablet computers by competitors to school
districts in the U.S. whose technology budgets could otherwise have been used to purchase interactive displays. Accordingly, our future
success depends upon our ability to enhance our current products and to develop, introduce and sell new technologies and products

offering enhanced performance and functionality at competitive prices and in a timely manner.

The development of new technologies and products involves time, substantial costs and risks. We are currently developing and
introducing a substantial number of new products. Our ability to successfully develop new technologies depends in large measure on
our ability to maintain a technically skilled research and development staff and to adapt to technological changes and advances in the
industry. The success of new
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product introductions depends on a number of factors including timely and successful product development, market acceptance, the
effective management of purchase commitments and inventory levels in line with anticipated product demand, the availability of
components in appropriate quantities and costs to meet anticipated demand, the risk that new products may have quality or other defects
and our ability to manage distribution and production issues related to new product introductions. If we are unsuccessful in selling the
new products that we are currently developing and introducing, or any future products that we may develop, we may carry obsolete
inventory and have reduced available working capital for the development of other new technologies and products.

If we are unable, for any reason, to enhance, develop, introduce and sell new products in a timely manner, or at all, in response to

changing market conditions or customer requirements or otherwise, our business would be harmed.

Decreases in, or stagnation of, spending or changes in the spending policies or budget priorities for government funding of schools,

colleges, universities, other education providers or government agencies may have a material adverse effect on our revenue.

Our customers include primary and secondary schools, colleges, universities, other education providers, and, to a lesser extent,
government agencies, each of which depends heavily on government funding. The recent worldwide recession of 2008 and 2009 and
subsequent sovereign debt and global financial crisis have resulted in substantial declines in the revenues and fiscal capacity of many
national, federal, state, provincial and local governments. Many of those governments have reacted to the decreases in revenues and could
continue to react to the decreases in revenue by cutting funding to those educational institutions and, if our products are not a high priority
expenditure for those institutions, or if institutions allocate expenditures to substitute or alternative technologies, we could lose revenue.

Any additional decrease in, stagnation of or change in national, federal, state, provincial or local funding for primary and secondary
schools, colleges, universities, or other education providers or for government agencies that use our products could cause our current and
prospective customers to further reduce their purchases of our products, which could cause us to lose additional revenue. In addition, a
specific reduction in governmental funding support for products such as ours could also cause us to lose revenue.

We may not be successful in our strategy to grow in the enterprise market.

A substantial majority of our revenue has been derived from sales to the education market. Because we sell our products through
resellers and distributors, we are unable to precisely quantify the portion of our revenue that is derived from any particular market.
However, we estimate that based on our most recent fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, approximately 15% of our revenue was derived
from the enterprise market. Our business strategy contemplates expanding our sales to this market. However, there has not been
widespread adoption of interactive display and collaboration solutions in the enterprise market and these solutions may fail to achieve
wide acceptance in this market. Successful expansion into the enterprise market will require us to augment and develop new distributor
and reseller relationships and we may not be successful in developing those relationships. In addition, widespread acceptance of our
collaboration solutions may not occur due to lack of familiarity with how our products work, the perception that our products are difficult
to use and a lack of appreciation of the contribution they can make to enterprises. We may not be successful in achieving penetration
in the enterprise market for other reasons as well. In addition, our brand is less recognized in the enterprise market than it is in the
education market. A key part of our strategy to grow in the enterprise market is to develop strategic alliances with companies in the
unified communications and collaboration sector and there can be no assurance that these strategic alliances will help us to successfully

grow our sales in this market.

Furthermore, our ability to successfully grow in the enterprise market depends upon revenue and cash flows derived from sales to
the education market. As the education market represents a significant portion of our revenue and cash flow, we utilize cash from sales in
the education market for our operating expenses. If we
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cannot continue to augment and develop new distributor and reseller relationships, market our brand, develop strategic alliances and
innovate new technologies, including as a result of decreased revenue from the education market, we may not be successful in our strategy

to grow in the enterprise market.

We generate a substantial majority of our revenue from the sale of our interactive displays, and any significant reduction in sales
of these products would materially harm our business.

We generated approximately 79% of our revenue from sales of our interactive displays and integrated projectors during our most
recent fiscal year ended March 31, 2013. A decrease in demand for our interactive displays would significantly reduce our revenue. If
any of our competitors introduces attractive alternatives to our interactive displays, we could experience a significant decrease in sales as

customers migrate to those alternative products, see “~We operate in a highly competitive industry” above.

Our future sales of interactive displays in developed markets may slow or decrease as a result of market saturation in those

countries.

FutureSource Consulting Inc. estimates that, as of December 31, 2012, approximately 47% of classrooms in the U.S, 85% of
classrooms in the U.K., and 53% of classrooms in Australia already have an interactive display. As a result of these high levels of
penetration, the education market for interactive displays in those countries may have reached saturation levels. Future sales growth
in those markets and other developed markets with similar penetration levels may, as a result, be difficult to achieve, and our sales of
interactive displays may decline in those countries. If we are unable to replace the revenue and earnings we have historically derived
from sales of interactive displays to the education market in these developed markets, whether through sales of additional products, sales
in other markets, sales in the enterprise market or otherwise, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially

adversely affected.

We face significant challenges growing our sales in foreign markets.

As the market for interactive learning and collaboration products and solutions in North America and the United Kingdom has
become more saturated, the growth rate of our revenue in those countries has decreased and, as a result, our revenue growth has become
more dependent on sales in other foreign markets. In order for our products to gain broad acceptance in foreign markets, we may need
to develop customized solutions specifically designed for each country in which we seek to grow our sales and to sell those solutions
at prices that are competitive in that country. For example, while our hardware requires only minimal modification to be usable in
other countries, our software and content requires significant customization and modification to adapt to the needs of foreign customers.
Specifically, our software will need to be adapted to work in a user-friendly way in several languages and alphabets, and content that fits
the specific needs of foreign customers (such as, for example, classroom lessons adapted to specific foreign curricula) will need to be
developed. If we are not able to develop, or choose not to support, customized products and solutions for use in a particular country, we
may be unable to compete successfully in that country and our sales growth in that country will be adversely affected. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to successfully develop or choose to support customized solutions for each foreign country in which we seek to
grow our sales or that our solutions, if developed, will be competitive in the relevant country.

Growth in many foreign countries will require us to price our products at prices that are competitive in the context of those countries.
In certain developing countries, we have been and may continue to be required to sell our products at prices significantly below those that

we are currently charging in developed countries. Such pricing pressures could reduce our gross margins and adversely impact revenue.

Our customers’ experience with our products is directly affected by the availability and quality of our customers’ Internet access.
We are unable to control broadband penetration rates and to the extent that broadband growth in emerging markets slows, our growth in

international markets could be hindered.
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In addition, we face lengthy and unpredictable sales cycles in foreign markets, particularly in countries with centralized decision
making. In these countries, particularly in connection with significant technology product purchases, we have experienced recurrent
requests for proposals, significant delays in the decision making process and, in some cases, indefinite deferrals of purchases or
cancellations of requests for proposals. If we are unable to overcome these challenges, the growth of our sales in these markets would be
adversely affected.

The emerging market for interactive learning and collaboration solutions may not develop as we expect.

The market for interactive learning and collaboration solutions is evolving rapidly and is characterized by an increasing number of
market entrants. As is typical of a rapidly evolving industry, the demand for and market acceptance of these solutions are uncertain. The
adoption of these solutions may not become widespread. If the market for these solutions fails to develop or develops more slowly than

we anticipate, sales may decline from current levels or we may fail to achieve growth.

Defects in our products can be difficult to detect before shipment. If defects occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

Our products are highly complex and sophisticated and, from time to time, have contained and may continue to contain design
defects or software “bugs” or failures that are difficult to detect and correct. Errors or defects may be found in new products after
commercial shipments and we may be unable successfully to correct such errors or defects in a timely manner or at all. The occurrence
of errors and defects in our products could result in loss of, or delay in, market acceptance of our products, including as a result of harm
to our brand, and correcting such errors and failures in our products could require significant expenditure of capital by us. In addition, we
are rapidly developing and introducing new products, and new products may have a higher rate of errors and defects than our established
products. We historically have provided warranties on interactive displays for between two and five years, and the failure of our products
to operate as described could give rise to warranty claims. The consequences of such errors, failures and other defects and claims could

have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and our reputation.

We depend upon resellers and distributors to promote and sell our products.

Substantially all our sales are made through resellers and distributors. Industry and economic conditions have the potential to
weaken the financial position of our resellers and distributors. Such resellers and distributors may no longer sell our products, or may
reduce efforts to sell our products, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Furthermore, if circumstances surrounding the ability of our resellers and distributors to repay their credit obligations were to deteriorate
and result in the write-down or write-off of such receivables, it would negatively affect our operating results for the period in which they

occur and, if significant, could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our resellers and most of our distributors are not contractually required to sell our products exclusively and may offer
competing interactive display products, and therefore we depend on our ability to establish and develop new relationships and to build
on existing relationships with resellers and distributors. We cannot assure that our resellers and distributors will act in a manner that will
promote the success of our products. Factors that are largely within the control of those resellers and distributors but are important to the

success of our products include:
the degree to which our resellers and distributors actively promote our products;
the extent to which our resellers and distributors offer and promote competitive products; and

the quality of installation, training and other support services offered by our resellers and distributors.
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In addition, if some of our competitors offer their products to resellers and distributors on more favorable terms or have more
products available to meet their needs, there may be pressure on us to reduce the price of our products or those resellers and distributors
may stop carrying our products or de-emphasize the sale of our products in favor of the products of these competitors. If we do not

maintain and continue to build relationships with resellers and distributors our business will be harmed.

We may not be able to obtain patents or other intellectual property rights necessary to protect our proprietary technology and
business.

Our commercial success depends to a significant degree upon our ability to develop new or improved technologies and products,
and to obtain patents or other intellectual property rights or statutory protection for these technologies and products in Canada, the
United States and other countries. We seek to patent concepts, components, processes, designs and methods, and other inventions and
technologies that we consider to have commercial value or that will likely give us a technological advantage. We own rights in patents
and patent applications for technologies relating to interactive displays and other complementary products in Canada, the United States
and other countries. Despite devoting resources to the research and development of proprietary technology, we may not be able to
develop technology that is patentable or protectable. Patents may not be issued in connection with our pending patent applications and
claims allowed may not be sufficient to allow us to use the inventions that we create exclusively. Furthermore, any patents issued to us
could be challenged, re-examined, held invalid or unenforceable or circumvented and may not provide us with sufficient protection or
a competitive advantage. In addition, despite our efforts to protect and maintain our patents, competitors and other third parties may be
able to design around our patents or develop products similar to our products that are not within the scope of our patents. Finally, patents
provide certain statutory protection only for a limited period of time that varies depending on the jurisdiction and type of patent. The
statutory protection term of certain of our material patents may expire soon and, thereafter, the underlying technology of such patents can
be used by any third party including our competitors.

A number of our competitors and other third parties have been issued patents, or may have filed patent applications, or may obtain
additional patents or other intellectual property rights for technologies similar to those that we have developed, used or commercialized,
or may develop, use or commercialize, in the future. As certain patent applications in the United States and other countries are maintained
in secrecy for a period of time after filing, and as publication or public awareness of new technologies often lags behind actual discoveries,
we cannot be certain that we were the first to develop the technology covered by our pending patent applications or issued patents or
that we were the first to file patent applications for the technology covered by our issued patents and patent pending applications. In
addition, the disclosure in our patent applications, including in respect of the utility of our claimed inventions, may not be sufficient to
meet the statutory requirements for patentability in all cases. As a result, we cannot assure that our patent applications will result in valid
or enforceable patents or that we will be able to protect or maintain our patents.

Prosecution and protection of the rights sought in patent applications and patents can be costly and uncertain, often involve complex
legal and factual issues and consume significant time and resources. In addition, the breadth of claims allowed in our patents, their
enforceability and our ability to protect and maintain them cannot be predicted with any certainty. The laws of certain countries may not
protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of Canada or the United States. Even if our patents are held to be valid
and enforceable in a certain jurisdiction, any legal proceedings that we may initiate against third parties to enforce such patents will likely
be expensive, take significant time and divert management’ s attention from other business matters. We cannot assure that any of our
issued patents or pending patent applications will provide any protectable, maintainable or enforceable rights or competitive advantages
to us.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and other related laws and confidentiality
procedures and contractual provisions to protect, maintain and enforce our proprietary technology and intellectual property rights in the
United States, Canada and other countries. However, our ability to protect our brand by registering certain trademarks may be limited.
See “~We may not be able to protect our
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brand, and any failure to protect our brand would likely harm our business.” In addition, while we generally enter into confidentiality and
nondisclosure agreements with our employees, consultants, contract manufacturers, distributors and resellers and with others to attempt
to limit access to and distribution of our proprietary and confidential information, it is possible that:

misappropriation of our proprietary and confidential information, including technology, will nevertheless occur;
our confidentiality agreements will not be honored or may be rendered unenforceable;
third parties will independently develop equivalent, superior or competitive technology or products;

disputes will arise with our current or future strategic licensees, customers or others concerning the ownership, validity,
enforceability, use, patentability or registrability of intellectual property; or

unauthorized disclosure of our know-how, trade secrets or other proprietary or confidential information will occur.
We cannot assure that we will be successful in protecting, maintaining or enforcing our intellectual property rights. If we are

not successful in protecting, maintaining or enforcing our intellectual property rights, then our business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected.

We may infringe on or violate the intellectual property rights of others.

Our commercial success depends, in part, upon our not infringing or violating intellectual property rights owned by others. The
industry in which we compete has many participants that own, or claim to own, intellectual property. We cannot determine with certainty
whether any existing third-party patents, or the issuance of any new third-party patents, would require us to alter our technologies or
products, obtain licenses or cease certain activities, including the sale of certain products.

We have received, and we may in the future receive, claims from third parties asserting infringement and other related claims.
Litigation has been and may continue to be necessary to determine the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party intellectual
property rights or to protect, maintain and enforce our intellectual property rights. Some of our competitors have, or are affiliated with
companies having, substantially greater resources than we have, and these competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex
intellectual property litigation to a greater degree and for longer periods of time than we can. Regardless of whether claims that we are
infringing or violating patents or other intellectual property rights have any merit, those claims could:

adversely affect our relationships with current or future distributors and resellers of our products;
adversely affect our reputation with customers;

be time-consuming and expensive to evaluate and defend;

cause product shipment delays or stoppages;

divert management’ s attention and resources;

subject us to significant liabilities and damages;

require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements; or

require us to cease certain activities, including the sale of products.

If it is determined that we have infringed, violated or are infringing or violating a patent or other intellectual property right of any
other person or if we are found liable in respect of any other related claim, then, in addition to being liable for potentially substantial
damages, we may be prohibited from developing, using, distributing, selling or commercializing certain of our technologies and products
unless we obtain a license from the holder of the patent or other intellectual property right. We cannot assure that we will be able to obtain
any such license on a timely basis or on commercially favorable terms, or that any such licenses will be available, or that workarounds
will be feasible and cost-efficient. If we do not obtain such a license or find a cost-efficient

Page 36

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

workaround, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected and we could be required to

cease related business operations in some markets and restructure our business to focus on our continuing operations in other markets.

We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we are unable to attract, retain or motivate qualified personnel, we may not be able to

operate our business effectively.

Our success is largely dependent on our ability to attract and retain skilled employees. We have recently rationalized a significant
portion of our personnel. Competition for highly skilled management, technical, research and development and other employees is intense
in the high-technology industry and we may not be able to attract or retain highly qualified personnel in the future, including as a result
of our recent restructuring. In making employment decisions, particularly in the high-technology industry, job candidates often consider
the value of the equity awards they would receive in connection with their employment. Our long-term incentive programs may not be
attractive enough or perform sufficiently to attract or retain qualified personnel. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified personnel,
our business may be harmed.

Recent changes to our senior management may cause uncertainty in, or be disruptive to, our business.

We have recently experienced significant changes in our senior management. In April 2012, our founders David Martin and Nancy
Knowlton stepped down and Tom Hodson, who was our Chief Operating Officer, assumed the role of Interim Chief Executive Officer as
we searched for a permanent Chief Executive Officer. In October 2012, Neil Gaydon was appointed our President and Chief Executive
Officer, and Tom Hodson departed in February 2013. In November 2012, Warren Barkley was appointed Chief Technology Officer, which
was a newly created role. In addition, Kelly Schmitt was appointed Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer in November
2012.

These changes in our senior management may be disruptive to our business and, during the transition period, there may be
uncertainty among investors, employees and others concerning our future direction and performance. Any such disruption or uncertainty
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and our reputation.

Our suppliers and contract manufacturers may not be able to supply components or products to us on a timely basis, on favorable
terms or without quality control issues.

We rely on contract manufacturers for the assembly of our products and depend on obtaining adequate supplies of quality
components on a timely basis with favorable terms. Some of those components, as well as certain complete products that we sell, are
provided to us by only one supplier or contract manufacturer. We are subject to risks that disruptions in the operations of our sole or
limited suppliers or contract manufacturers may cause them to decrease or stop production of these components and products, or that such
suppliers and manufacturers do not produce components and products of sufficient quality. Alternative sources are not always available.
Many of our components are manufactured overseas and have long lead times. We have from time to time experienced shortages of
several of our products and components that we obtain from third parties. We cannot ensure that product or component shortages will not
occur in the future. Because of the global reach of our supply chain, world events such as local disruptions, natural disasters or political
conflict may cause unexpected interruptions to the supply of our products or components. We have also experienced unexpected demand
for certain of our products. As a result of these factors, we have had, and may have in the future, delays in delivering the number of
products ordered by our customers. If we cannot supply products due to a lack of components, or are unable to redesign products with
other components in a timely manner, our business will be significantly harmed.

We do not have written agreements with several of our significant suppliers. Although we are endeavoring to enter into written
agreements with certain of our suppliers, we cannot assure that our efforts will be successful. Even where we do have a written agreement
for the supply of a component, there is no guarantee that we will be able to extend or renew that agreement on similar favorable terms, or
at all, upon expiration or otherwise obtain favorable pricing in the future.
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We depend on component manufacturing, product assembly and logistical services provided by third parties, some of which are
sole source and many of which are located outside of Canada and the U.S.

All our components and finished products are manufactured or assembled, in whole or in part by a limited number of third parties.
Most of these third parties are located outside of Canada and the U.S. For example, we rely on contract manufacturers based in China for
the production of all our projectors used in our interactive whiteboard solution and on contract manufacturers based in Eastern Europe,
Mexico, Korea and China for the final production of our completed interactive displays. We have also contracted with third parties to
manage our transportation and logistics requirements. While these arrangements may lower costs, they also reduce our direct control over
production and shipments. It is uncertain what effect such diminished control will have on the quality or availability of our products or on
our flexibility to respond to changing conditions. Our failure to manage production and supply of our products adequately, or the failure
of products to meet quality requirements, could materially adversely affect our business.

Although arrangements with our suppliers and contract manufacturers may contain provisions for warranty expense reimbursement,
it may be difficult or impossible for us to recover from suppliers and contract manufacturers, and we may remain responsible to the
customer for warranty service in the event of product defects. Any unanticipated product defect or warranty liability, whether pursuant to
arrangements with suppliers, contract manufacturers or otherwise, could materially adversely affect our reputation and business.

Final assembly of our interactive display products is currently performed by contract manufacturers in Eastern Europe, Mexico,
Korea and China. If assembly or logistics in these locations is disrupted for any reason, including natural disasters, information
technology failures, breaches of systems security, military or terrorist actions or economic, business, labor, environmental, public health,
or political issues, our business, financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.

Any current or future financial problems of suppliers or contract manufacturers could adversely affect us by increasing costs or
exposing us to credit risks of these suppliers or contract manufacturers or as the result of a complete cessation of supply. In addition, if
suppliers or contract manufacturers or other third parties experience insolvency or bankruptcy, we may lose the benefit of any warranties
and indemnities. If our contract manufacturers are unable to obtain the necessary components for our products in a timely manner, they
may not be able to produce a sufficient supply of products, which could lead to reduced revenue, and our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be harmed.

We may not be able to manage our systems, procedures and controls.

Our current and planned systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our future operations. To manage any
significant growth of our operations, we will need to improve our operational and financial systems, procedures and controls and may
need to obtain additional systems. We may not be able to successfully integrate any additional operational and financial systems we may
require in the future.

The volatility and lack of predictability in our business creates difficulties in budgeting expenses and forecasting demand for our
products, which can lead to delays in managing the production and shipment of our products and to difficulties in managing cash flows.
These difficulties could be exacerbated by our expansion into foreign markets and our intended commercialization of our software, see
“~We face significant challenges growing our sales in foreign markets” and “~Our business is going through a challenging period and we
have considered and may continue to consider changes to our business model.” If we are unable to manage our business operations, our
results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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We may not be able to protect our brand, and any failure to protect our brand would likely harm our business.

We regard our “SMART” brand as one of our most valuable assets. We believe that continuing to strengthen our brand is critical to
achieving widespread acceptance of our products. However, we intend to spend substantially less in the future on advertising, marketing
and other efforts to create and maintain brand recognition and loyalty among end-users. While we believe that members of our reseller
network adequately create and maintain brand recognition, if our brand is not promoted, protected and maintained, our business could be
harmed.

The unlicensed use of our trademarks by third parties could harm our reputation, impair such trademarks and adversely affect the
strength and value of our brand in the marketplace and the associated goodwill. We use the term “SMART” in the branding of many
of our products, such as the SMART Board interactive whiteboard, the SMART Response Interactive response system and our SMART
Notebook software. Because it is generally not possible to obtain trademark protection for a term that is descriptive, we may be unable to
obtain, or may be unable to enforce, trademark rights for certain of our product brands such as “smart board” in certain jurisdictions. If
we are unable to obtain or enforce such rights under applicable law, our ability to prevent our competitors and potential competitors from
referring to their products using terms or trademarks that are confusingly similar to those of our products will be adversely affected. We
are aware of situations in which our competitors have described their product generally as a “smart board.” While we seek to selectively
defend against such dilution of our trademarks, we cannot assure that we will be successful in protecting our trademarks.

In addition, trademark protection is territorial and our ability to expand our business, including, for example, by offering different
products or services or by selling our products in new jurisdictions, may be limited by prior use, common law rights or prior applications
or registrations of certain trademarks by third parties in such jurisdiction.

Under applicable trademark law in certain jurisdictions, if a trademark becomes generic, rights in the mark may no longer be
enforceable. To the extent that people refer generally to interactive displays as “smart boards” or if the “SMART” name were otherwise
to become a generic term, we may be unable to prevent competitors and others from using our name for their products which could
adversely affect our ability to leverage our brand and could harm our reputation if third-party products of lesser quality are mistaken for
our products.

We are subject to risks inherent in foreign operations.

Sales outside the United States and Canada represented approximately 37% of our consolidated sales based on our most recent fiscal
year ended March 31, 2013. We intend to continue to selectively pursue international market growth opportunities, which could result
in those international sales accounting for a more significant portion of our revenue. We have committed, and may continue to commit,
significant resources to our international operations and sales and marketing activities. While we have experience conducting business
outside of the United States and Canada, we may not be aware of all the factors that may affect our business in foreign jurisdictions.

We are subject to a number of risks associated with international business activities that may increase costs, lengthen sales cycles
and require significant management attention. International operations carry certain risks and associated costs, such as the complexities
and expense of administering a business abroad, complications in compliance with, and unexpected changes in regulatory requirements,
foreign laws, international import and export legislation, trading and investment policies, exchange controls, tariffs and other trade
barriers, difficulties in collecting accounts receivable, potential adverse tax consequences, uncertainties of laws, difficulties in protecting,
maintaining or enforcing intellectual property rights, difficulty in managing a geographically dispersed workforce in compliance with
diverse local laws and customs, and other factors, depending upon the country involved. Moreover, local laws and customs in many
countries differ significantly and compliance with the laws of multiple jurisdictions can be complex, difficult and costly. We cannot assure
that risks inherent in our foreign operations will not have a material adverse effect on our business. See “~We face significant challenges
growing our sales in foreign markets.”
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We have incurred and may in the future incur restructuring and other charges, the amounts of which are difficult to predict
accurately.

Our business is going through a challenging period and our stock price has declined since our initial public offering in July 2010
(the “TPO”). On October 24, 2012, after a comprehensive search conducted by our board of directors, we appointed Neil Gaydon as
our President and Chief Executive Officer. As a result of this management change and the decline in our stock price, management
has taken and may consider taking future actions, including cost-savings initiatives, business process reengineering initiatives, business
restructuring initiatives, and other alternatives, which may result in restructuring and other charges, including for severance payments,
consulting fees and professional fees. The amount and timing of these possible restructuring charges are not yet known. Any such actions
resulting in restructuring or other charges, could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Acquisitions and joint ventures could result in operating difficulties, dilution and other harmful consequences.

We expect to evaluate and consider a wide array of potential strategic transactions, including joint ventures, business combinations,
acquisitions and dispositions of businesses, technologies, services, products and other assets. At any given time we may be engaged in
discussions or negotiations with respect to one or more of these types of transactions. Any of these transactions could be material to our
financial condition and results of operations.

The process of integrating any acquired business may create unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures and is itself risky.
The areas where we may face difficulties include:

diversion of management time, as well as a shift of focus from operating the businesses to issues related to integration and
administration;

declining employee morale and retention issues resulting from changes in compensation, or changes in management, reporting

relationships, future prospects or the direction or culture of the business;

the need to integrate each company’ s accounting, management, information, human resource and other administrative systems
to permit effective management, and the lack of control if such integration is delayed or not implemented;

the need to implement controls, procedures and policies appropriate for a larger public company at companies that prior to
acquisition had lacked such controls, procedures and policies;

in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need to integrate operations across different cultures and languages and to address the
particular economic, currency, political, and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;

in some cases, the need to transition operations, end-users, and customers onto our existing platforms; and

liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including violations of laws, rules and regulations,
commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities.

Moreover, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any or all of our acquisitions, or may not realize them in the time frame
expected. For example, in April 2010 we acquired NextWindow Ltd., a New Zealand based optical component company, and its business
has, to date, not performed as well as we had anticipated. Future acquisitions or mergers may require us to issue additional equity
securities, spend our cash, or incur debt, liabilities, and amortization expenses related to intangible assets or write-offs of goodwill, any
of which could adversely affect our results of operations.
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We have entered into and may continue to enter into strategic partnerships with third parties.

We have entered into and may continue to enter into strategic partnerships with third parties to gain access to new and innovative
technologies and markets. Our partners are often large established companies. For example, we recently announced support for Microsoft
Lync through our SMART Meeting Pro software and SMART Board interactive displays. Negotiating and performing under these
arrangements involves significant time and expense, and we may not have sufficient resources to devote to our strategic partnerships,
particularly those with large established companies that have significantly greater financial and other resources than we do. The
anticipated benefits of these arrangements may never materialize and performing under these arrangements may adversely affect our
results of operations.

Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures or cyber security attacks.

The temporary or permanent loss of our computer and telecommunications equipment, servers and software systems, through
natural disasters, casualty, energy blackouts, operating malfunction, software virus or malware, cyber security attacks or other sources,
could disrupt our operations. We do not currently maintain a disaster recovery plan and no assurances can be given that we will be able
to restore our operation within a sufficiently short time frame to avoid our business being disrupted. Any system failure or accident that
causes interruptions in our operations could result in material harm to our business.

If we are unable to ship and transport components and final products efficiently and economically across long distances and
borders our business would be harmed.

We transport significant volumes of components and finished products across long distances and international borders. Any
increases in our transportation costs, as a result of increases in the price of oil or otherwise, would increase our costs and the final prices of
our products to our customers. In addition, any increases in customs or tariffs, as a result of changes to existing trade agreements between
countries or otherwise, could increase our costs or the final cost of our products to our customers or decrease our margins. Such increases
could harm our competitive position and could have a material adverse effect on our business. The laws governing customs and tariffs
in many countries are complex, subject to many interpretations and often include substantial penalties for non-compliance. Disputes may
arise and could subject us to material liabilities and have a material adverse effect on our business.

If our procedures to ensure compliance with export control laws are ineffective, our business could be harmed.

Our extensive foreign operations and sales are subject to far reaching and complex export control laws and regulations in the United
States, Canada and elsewhere. Violations of those laws and regulations could have material negative consequences for us including large
fines, criminal sanctions, prohibitions on participating in certain transactions and government contracts, sanctions on other companies if
they continue to do business with us and adverse publicity.

If we are unable to integrate our products with certain third-party operating system software and other products, the functionality
of our products could be adversely affected.

The functionality of our products depends on our ability to integrate our products with the operating system software and related
products of providers such as Microsoft Corporation, Apple Inc., and the main distributors of Linux, among other providers. If integration
with the products of those companies becomes more difficult, our products would likely be more difficult to use. Any increase in the
difficulty of using our products would likely harm our reputation and the utility and desirability of our products, and, as a result, would
likely have a material adverse effect on our business. Integrating our products with those of the main software platform providers is
particularly critical to increasing our sales.
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Our use of open source could impose limitations on our ability to distribute or commercialize our software products. We incorporate
open source software into our software products. Although we monitor our use of open source software, the terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by Canadian, U.S. and other courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner
that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to distribute or commercialize our products. In such event, we
could, for example, be required to distribute our proprietary code free of charge, to re-engineer our products or to discontinue the sale
of our products in the event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely or efficient basis. If we are required to take any of the
foregoing action, this could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We also use and incorporate certain third-party software, technologies and proprietary rights into our software products and may
need to utilize additional third-party software, technologies or proprietary rights in the future. Although we are not currently reliant in
any material respect on any technology license agreement from a single third-party, if software suppliers or other third-party licensors
terminate their relationships with us, we could face delays in product releases until equivalent technology can be identified, licensed
or developed and integrated into our current software products. These delays, if they occur, could materially adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition. If we are unable to redesign our software products to function without this third-party
technology or to obtain or internally develop similar technology, we might be forced to limit the features available in our current or future
software products.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies that may materially adversely affect our results of operations.

We are exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than our functional currency of the Canadian
dollar. For example, all of our long-term debt is denominated in U.S. dollars. If the Canadian dollar depreciates relative to the U.S. dollar,
the outstanding amount of that debt when translated to our Canadian dollar functional currency will increase. Although we report our
results in U.S. dollars, a foreign exchange loss will result from the increase in the outstanding amount and that loss could materially
adversely affect our results of operations.

In addition, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies as a result of transactions in currencies other than our reporting
currency of the U.S. dollar. A large portion of our revenue and purchases of materials and components are denominated in U.S. dollars.
However, a substantial portion of our revenue is denominated in other foreign currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, Euro and British
pound sterling. If the value of any of these currencies depreciates relative to the U.S. dollar, our foreign currency revenue will decrease
when translated to U.S. dollars for financial reporting purposes. In addition, a significant portion of our cost of goods sold, operating
costs and capital expenditures are incurred in other currencies, primarily the Canadian dollar, the Euro and the New Zealand dollar. If
the value of any of these currencies appreciates relative to the U.S. dollar, our expenses will increase when translated to U.S. dollars for
financial reporting purposes.

We monitor our foreign exchange exposures and, in certain circumstances, maintain net monetary asset and/or liability balances in
foreign currencies and enter into forward contracts and other derivative contracts to convert a portion of our foreign currency denominated
cash flows into Canadian dollars. These activities mitigate, but do not eliminate, our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations. As a result,
exchange rate fluctuations may materially adversely affect our operating results in future periods.

Our working capital requirements and cash flows are subject to fluctuation which could have an adverse effect on our financial

condition.

Our working capital requirements and cash flows have historically been, and are expected to continue to be, subject to quarterly and
yearly fluctuations, depending on a number of factors. Factors which could result in cash flow fluctuations include:

the level of sales and the related margins on those sales;

the collection of receivables;
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the timing and size of purchases of inventory and related components; and

the timing of payment on payables and accrued liabilities.

If we are unable to manage fluctuations in cash flow, our business, operating results and financial condition may be materially
adversely affected. For example, if we are unable to effectively manage fluctuations in our cash flows, we may be unable to make required
interest payments on our indebtedness.

We may need to raise additional funds to pursue our strategy or continue our operations, and we may be unable to raise capital
when needed.

We believe that our existing working capital, expected cash flow from operations and other available cash resources will enable us
to meet our working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, the development and marketing of new products, the
expansion of distribution channels and our intended commercialization of our software require a significant commitment of resources.
From time to time, we may seek additional equity or debt financing to finance working capital requirements, continue our expansion,
develop new products or make acquisitions or other investments. In addition, if our business plans change, general economic, financial or
political conditions in our industry change, or other circumstances arise that have a material effect on our cash flow, the anticipated cash
needs of our business, as well as our conclusions as to the adequacy of our available sources of capital, could change significantly. Any
of these events or circumstances could result in significant additional funding needs, requiring us to raise additional capital. If additional
funds are raised through the issuance of preferred shares or debt securities, the terms of such securities could impose restrictions on our
operations. If financing is not available on satisfactory terms, or at all, we may be unable to expand our business or to develop new

business at the rate desired and our results of operations may suffer.

The Company has settled in principle securities class action litigation in the United States and Canada, but such settlement is
subject to various conditions.

The Company is a named defendant in putative class actions filed in the United States and Canada on behalf of the purchasers of
the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares sold in the IPO. On March 13, 2013, we announced that the US and Canadian securities class
action lawsuits involving Parent have been settled in principle. An agreement in principle with the plaintiffs has been entered into in the
shareholder class actions SMART Technologies Inc. Shareholder Litigation, pending in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of New York, and Tucci v. SMART Technologies Inc., et al., pending in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Actions™).
Pursuant to the settlement terms, the parties have agreed to settle the Actions, releasing the alleged claims and all related claims, subject
to various conditions, including appropriate class notice, court approvals and the dismissal of related putative class claims in Harper
v. SMART Technologies Inc., et al., currently pending in the Superior Court of the State of California. The proposed settlement will
be funded entirely by insurance maintained by the Company. However, if we do not settle the litigation on the terms agreed to in the
proposed settlement, or at all, the Company may be faced with significant monetary damages or injunctive relief against it that could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’ s business, operating results and financial condition. For a more detailed description of
the pending securities class action litigation against us and the proposed settlement, see “Securities Class Actions” in the “Guarantees

and Contingencies” section above.

Our worldwide operations subject us to income taxation in many jurisdictions, and we must exercise significant judgment in order
to determine our worldwide financial provision for Income taxes. That determination is ultimately an estimate and, accordingly,
we cannot assure that our historical income tax provisions and accruals will be adequate.

We are subject to income taxation in Canada, the United States and numerous other jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required
in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, we cannot assure

that the final determination of any tax
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audits and litigation will not be materially different from that which is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals.
Should additional taxes be assessed against us as a result of an audit or litigation, there could be a material adverse effect on our current

and future results and financial condition.

Certain of our subsidiaries provide products to, and may from time to time undertake certain significant transactions with, us and
our other subsidiaries in different jurisdictions. In general, cross border transactions between related parties and, in particular, related
party financing transactions, are subject to close review by tax authorities. Moreover, several jurisdictions in which we operate have
tax laws with detailed transfer pricing rules that require all transactions with nonresident related parties to be priced using arm’ s-length
pricing principles and require the existence of contemporaneous documentation to support such pricing. A tax authority in one or more
jurisdictions could challenge the validity of our related party transfer pricing policies. Because such a challenge generally involves a
complex area of taxation and because a significant degree of judgment by management is required to be exercised in setting related party
transfer pricing policies, the resolution of such challenges often results in adjustments in favor of the taxing authority. If in the future
any taxation authorities are successful in challenging our financing or transfer pricing policies, our income tax expense may be adversely
affected and we could become subject to interest and penalty charges, which may harm our business, financial condition and operating

results.

If our products fail to comply with consumer product or environmental laws, it could materially affect our financial performance.

Because we sell products used by children in classrooms and because our products are subject to environmental regulations in some
jurisdictions in which we do business, we must comply with a variety of product safety, product testing and environmental regulations,
including compliance with applicable laws and standards with respect to lead content and other child safety and environmental issues. If
our products do not meet applicable safety or regulatory standards, we could experience lost sales, diverted resources and increased costs,
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Events that give rise to actual, potential or
perceived product safety or environmental concerns could expose us to government enforcement action or private litigation and result in
product recalls and other liabilities. In addition, negative consumer perceptions regarding the safety of our products could cause negative
publicity and harm our reputation.

We may have assumed or incurred additional liabilities in connection with the 2010 Reorganization.

In 2010, we completed a Reorganization (the “2010 Reorganization™), the details of which are disclosed in note 3 to our audited
financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2013. While we believe that there will be no material adverse tax consequences to
us from the 2010 Reorganization, no advance tax ruling has been obtained from the Canada Revenue Agency and we cannot provide
any assurances in this regard. In addition, as a result of the 2010 Reorganization, a number of companies controlled by certain of our
shareholders were amalgamated with us. Consequently, we have assumed all liabilities (including tax liabilities and contingent liabilities)
of such companies. We will not be indemnified for any of these assumed liabilities. Based upon our due diligence investigations related
to the 2010 Reorganization, we believe that we have not assumed any additional material liabilities, although we cannot provide any
assurances in this regard. In addition, there may be liabilities that are neither probable nor estimable at this time, which may become
probable and estimable in the future. Any such assumption of liabilities as a result of such amalgamation or any adverse tax consequences
as a result of the 2010 Reorganization could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We may assume or incur additional liabilities in connection with future restructuring plans and any workforce reductions related

thereto.

In 2011 and 2012, we announced restructuring plans aimed at improving operating efficiencies through a worldwide reduction in
workforce and streamlining of corporate support functions. In addition, we may undergo other rationalizations or restructurings in the
future. Our current and future restructuring plans could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
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If our internal controls and accounting processes are insufficient, we may not detect in a timely manner misstatements that could
occur in our financial statements in amounts that could be material.

As a public company, we are devoting substantial efforts to the reporting obligations and internal controls required of a public
company in the United States and Canada, which has to date and will continue to result in substantial costs. A failure to properly meet
these obligations could cause investors to lose confidence in us and have a negative impact on the market price of our Class A Subordinate
Voting Shares. We are devoting and expect to devote significant resources to the documentation, testing and continued improvement of
our operational and financial systems for the foreseeable future. These improvements and efforts with respect to our accounting processes
that we will need to continue to make may not be sufficient to ensure that we maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and
reporting in the future. Any failure to implement required, new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation,
could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations in the United States or Canada or result in misstatements in our financial statements
in amounts that could be material. Insufficient internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial
information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our shares and may expose us to litigation risk.

As a public company, we are now required to document and test our internal control procedures in order to satisfy the requirements
of Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley, which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting and a report by our independent registered public accounting firm that addresses the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting. During the course of our testing, we may identify deficiencies which we may not be able to remediate in
time to meet our deadline for compliance with Section 404. We may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective
internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 or our independent registered public accounting firm may not
be able or willing to issue an unqualified report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to
conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting or our independent auditors are unable to provide us with an
unqualified report as and when required by Section 404, then investors could lose confidence in our reported financial information, which
could have a negative effect on the trading price of our shares.

Capital Structure Risks

The concentration of voting power and control with our co-founders, Intel and Apax Partners will limit shareholders’ ability to
influence corporate matters, including takeovers.

Our Class B Shares have 10 votes per share and our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares have one vote per share. Our Class B Shares
constitute approximately 65.7% of our total share capital outstanding, but carry approximately 95.0% of the total outstanding voting
power of all our outstanding share capital. As of March 31, 2013, our co-founders, David A. Martin and Nancy L. Knowlton, through their
holding company IFF, beneficially own approximately 34.2% of our outstanding Class B Shares and 2.7% of our outstanding Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares, representing approximately 32.7% of the voting power of all our outstanding share capital. Apax Partners
beneficially owns approximately 43.8% of our outstanding Class B Shares and 6.9% of our outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares, representing approximately 42.0% of the voting power of all our outstanding share capital. Intel beneficially owns approximately
22.0% of our outstanding Class B Shares, representing approximately 20.9% of the voting power of all our outstanding share capital. As a
result, these parties have the power to control our affairs and policies, including making decisions relating to entering into mergers, sales
of substantially all of our assets and other extraordinary transactions as well as appointment of members of our management, election of
directors, and our corporate and management policies, and decisions to issue shares, declare dividends and other decisions, and they may
have an interest in our doing so. Their interests could conflict with your interests in material respects. In addition, we and the holders of
our Class B Shares have entered into a security holders agreement pursuant to which the holders of our Class B Shares agree to exercise
their voting power so as to ensure that our Board of Directors will be comprised of seven members, including two directors nominated by
IFF and one director nominated by each of Apax Partners and Intel.
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This concentrated control may provide our current shareholders with the ability to prevent and deter takeover proposals from third
parties. In particular, because under Alberta law and/or our articles of incorporation most amalgamations and certain other business
combination transactions, including a sale of all or substantially all our assets, would require approval by a majority of not less than
two-thirds of the votes cast by the holders of the Class B Shares voting as a separate class, and because each of IFF and Apax Partners
owns more than one-third of the Class B Shares, each of IFF and Apax Partners will have the ability to prevent such transactions.
The concentration of voting power limits shareholders’ ability to influence corporate matters and, as a result, we may take actions that
shareholders do not view as beneficial, including rejecting takeover proposals at a premium to the then prevailing market price of the
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. As a result, the market price of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares could be adversely affected.

Some of our directors have interests that are different than our interests.

We may do business with certain companies that are related parties. Pursuant to our securityholders agreement, we expect to have
one or more directors affiliated with Apax Partners, Intel and IFF Holdings Inc. (“IFF”) for the foreseeable future. Although our directors
owe fiduciary duties, including the duties of loyalty and confidentiality, to us, our directors that serve as directors, officers, partners
or employees of companies that we do business with also owe fiduciary duties or other obligations to such other companies or to the
investors in their funds. The duties owed to us could conflict with the duties such directors owe to these other companies or investors.

Our share price may be volatile and the market price of our shares may decline.

The stock market in general, and the market for equities of some high-technology companies in particular, have been highly volatile.
The market price of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares has declined significantly since the IPO and may continue to be volatile, and
investors in our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares may experience a decrease, which could be substantial, in the value of their shares,
including decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects, or a complete loss of their investment. The price of our Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, including those listed elsewhere in
this “Business Risks” section and others such as:

variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors;
actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results which may be the result of many factors including:
the timing and amount of sales of our products or the cancellation or rescheduling of significant orders;
the length and variability of the sales cycle for our products;
the timing of implementation and acceptance of new products by our customers and by our distributors and dealers;
the timing and success of new product introductions;
increases in the prices or decreases in the availability of the components we purchase;
price and product competition;
our ability to execute on our operating plan and strategy;
the timing and level of research and development expenses;
the mix of products sold,;
changes in the distribution channels through which we sell our products and the loss of distributors or dealers;

our ability to maintain appropriate inventory levels and purchase commitments;
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fluctuations in our gross margins and the factors that contribute to such fluctuations;

the ability of our customers, distributors and dealers to obtain financing to purchase our products, especially during
a period of global credit market disruption or in the event of customer, distributor, dealer, contract manufacturer or
supplier financial problems;

uncertainty regarding our ability to realize benefits anticipated from our investments in research and development, sales

and assembly activities;

delays in government requests for proposals for significant technology purchases;
changes in foreign exchange rates or interest rates;

changes in our financing and capital structures; and

the uncertainties inherent in our accounting estimates and assumptions and the impact of changes in accounting

principles;
changes in estimates of our revenue, income or other operating results published by securities analysts or changes in
recommendations by securities analysts;

publication of research reports by securities analysts about us, our competitors or our industry;

our failure or the failure of our competitors to meet analysts’ projections or guidance that we or our competitors may give to
the market;

additions and departures of key personnel;

strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments,

strategic alliances or changes in business strategy;

the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments affecting us;
speculation in the press or investment community;

changes in accounting principles;

terrorist acts, acts of war or periods of widespread civil unrest; and

changes in general market and economic conditions as well as those specific to the industry in which we operate.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against companies following periods of volatility in their share
price. As discussed above, the Company is a named defendant in putative class actions filed in the U.S. and Canada on behalf of the
purchasers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares sold in the [PO. Additional litigation relating to share price volatility could result
in additional substantial costs and further divert our management’ s attention and resources, and could also require us to make substantial
payments to satisfy judgments or to settle litigation.

Because we are an Alberta corporation and the majority of our directors and officers are resident in Canada, it may be difficult for

investors in the U.S. to enforce civil liabilities against us based solely upon the federal securities laws of the U.S.

We are an Alberta corporation with our principal place of business in Canada. A majority of our directors and officers and the
auditors named herein are residents of Canada and all or a substantial portion of our assets and those of such persons are located outside
the U.S. Consequently, it may be difficult for U.S. investors to effect service of process within the U.S. upon us or our directors or officers
or such auditors who are not residents of the U.S., or to realize in the U.S. upon judgments of courts of the U.S. predicated upon civil
liabilities under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933. Investors should not assume that Canadian courts: (1) would enforce judgments of U.S.
courts obtained in actions against us or such persons predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or the
securities or “blue sky” laws of any state within the U.S. or (2) would enforce, in original actions, liabilities against us or such persons
predicated upon the U.S. federal securities laws or any such state securities or blue sky laws.
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As a foreign private issuer, we are not subject to certain U.S. securities law disclosure requirements that apply to a domestic U.S.
issuer, which may limit the information publicly available to our shareholders.

As a foreign private issuer we are not required to comply with all the periodic disclosure requirements of the Exchange Act and
therefore there may be less publicly available information about us than if we were a U.S. domestic issuer. For example, we are not
subject to the proxy rules in the U.S. and disclosure with respect to our annual meetings will be governed by Canadian requirements.
Section 132 of the ABCA provides that the directors of a corporation must call an annual meeting of shareholders not later than 15
months after holding the last preceding annual meeting. The last preceding annual meeting was held on August 10, 2011. In addition, our
officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and “short-swing” profit recovery provisions of Section 16
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules thereunder. Therefore, our shareholders may not know on a timely basis when our
officers, directors and principal shareholders purchase or sell our shares.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. Our ability to pay dividends is
restricted by covenants in our outstanding credit facilities and may be further restricted by covenants in any instruments and agreements
that we may enter into in the future. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the
foreseeable future. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.

Our share price may decline because of the ability of our co-founders, Apax Partners, Intel and others to sell our shares.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, or the perception that those sales may occur, could adversely
affect the market price of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and impede our ability to raise capital through the issuance of equity
securities. Our co-founders, Apax Partners and Intel are party to a registration rights agreement with us that may require us to register
their shares for resale or include shares owned by such shareholders in future offerings by us.

Significant sales of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued pursuant to our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan or Participant Equity
Loan Plan could also adversely affect the prevailing market price for our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares.

Future sales or issuances of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares or other related equity instruments could lower our share price

and dilute shareholders’ voting power and may reduce our earnings per share.

We may issue and sell additional Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in subsequent offerings. We may also issue additional Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares to finance future acquisitions. We cannot predict the size of future issuances of our Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares or the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will have on the market price of our
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. Sales or issuances of substantial amounts of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, or the perception
that such sales could occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. With any additional
sale or issuance of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, shareholders will suffer dilution to their voting power and may experience dilution

in our earnings per share.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about us, if they adversely change their recommendations

regarding our shares or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our share price could decline.

The market price of our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities
analysts publish about us. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we
could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn
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could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrades our Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares or if our operating results or prospects do not meet their expectations, our share price could decline.

There could be adverse tax consequence for our shareholders in the U.S. if we are a passive foreign investment company.

Under U.S. federal income tax laws, if a company is, or for any past period was, a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”),
it could have adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. sharcholders even if the company is no longer a PFIC. The
determination of whether we are a PFIC is a factual determination made annually based on all the facts and circumstances and thus is
subject to change, and the principles and methodology used in determining whether a company is a PFIC are subject to interpretation.
While we do not believe that we currently are or have been a PFIC, we cannot assure that we will not be a PFIC in the future.
U.S. investors in our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares are urged to consult their tax advisors concerning U.S. federal income tax
consequences of holding our Class A Subordinate Voting Shares if we are considered to be a PFIC.

Additional Information

Additional information about the Company can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, on EDGAR at www.sec.gov and on our
website at www.smarttech.com.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of SMART Technologies Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SMART Technologies Inc., which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at March 31, 2013 and 2012, the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income,
shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for each of the years ended in the three year period ended March 31, 2013, and notes, comprising a

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant
to the entity’ s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit

opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
SMART Technologies Inc. as at March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, and its consolidated results of operations and its consolidated

cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended March 31, 2013 in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting

principles.

Emphasis of Matter

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 12(a) in the consolidated financial statements which indicates that
SMART Technologies Inc. has changed its accounting policy for accounting for stock-based compensation expense and the reasons for,
and effects of, the change on the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada

May 16, 2013
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011
Revenue $ 589,370 $ 745,800 $ 790,055
Cost of sales 327,801 410,160 399,176
Gross margin 261,569 335,640 390,879
Operating expenses
Selling, marketing and administration 170,871 180,837 182,910
Research and development 48,811 50,032 51,431
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 21,190 21,259 22,796
Amortization of intangible assets 9,571 9,573 8,986
Restructuring costs (note 4) 20,774 13,375 =
Impairment of goodwill (note 8) 34,173 - -
Impairment of property and equipment (note 7) 2,194 = =
307,584 275,076 266,123
Operating (loss) income (46,015 ) 60,564 124,756
Non-operating expenses (income)
Interest expense 12,761 14,576 26,321
Interest expense on related party debt - - 5,297
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 5,003 8,544 (10,534
Other income, net (306 ) (516 ) (486
17,458 22,604 20,598
(Loss) income before income taxes (63,473 ) 37,960 104,158
Income tax (recovery) expense (note 13)
Current (1,315 ) 15,364 35,652
Deferred (7,663 ) (8,448 ) (340
(8,978 ) 6,916 35,312
Net (loss) income $(54,495 ) $31,044 $ 68,846
(Loss) earnings per share (note 15)
Basic $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53
Diluted $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
(thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011
Net (loss) income $(54,495 ) $ 31,044 $ 68,846
Other comprehensive income
Unrealized gains (losses) on translation of consolidated
financial statements to U.S. dollar reporting currency 1,572 (303 ) 14,696
Unrealized gains (losses) on translation of foreign subsidiaries
to Canadian dollar functional currency, net of income taxes
of $96 ($981 and zero for the years ended March 31, 2012
and March 31, 2011, respectively) 473 1,415 (2,226
2,045 1,112 12,470
Total comprehensive (loss) income $(52,450 ) $ 32,156 $ 81,316

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except number of shares)

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $141,383 $95,535
Trade receivables (note 5) 65,106 94,286
Other current assets 11,062 13,822
Income taxes recoverable 25,661 10,071
Inventory (note 6) 65,762 110,810
Deferred income taxes (note 13) 16,056 14,026
325,030 338,550
Property and equipment (note 7) 100,053 109,567
Goodwill (notes 2 and 8) = 34,173
Intangible assets (note 9) 22,958 32,339
Deferred income taxes (note 13) 22,321 19,897
Deferred financing fees (note 10) 2,824 5,039
$473,186 $539,565
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $32,453 $33,908
Accrued and other current liabilities 80,275 86,555
Deferred revenue 35,438 34,034
Current portion of long-term debt (note 10) 3,050 3,050
151,216 157,547
Long-term debt (note 10) 285,175 288,225
Other long-term liabilities 4,497 5,741
Deferred revenue 87,076 90,774
Deferred income taxes (note 13) 6,238 8,887
534,202 551,174

Commitments and contingencies (note 16)

Shareholders’ deficit
Share capital (note 11)
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares—no par value
Authorized—unlimited
Outstanding—41,110,669 shares as of March 31, 2013 and 41,762,810
shares as of March 31, 2012 454,703 458,585
Class B Shares—no par value
Authorized—unlimited
Issued and outstanding—79,464,195 shares as of March 31, 2013 and
March 31, 2012 238,407 238,407
Treasury Shares—410,502 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as of March 31,
2013 and 218,300 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares as of March 31,
2012 (840 ) (593
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (8,737 ) (10,782
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Additional paid-in capital (notes 11 and 12) 41,281 34,109

Deficit (785,830 ) (731,335 )
(61,016 ) (11,609 )
$473,186 $539,565

Subsequent event (note 19)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Deficit
(thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Accumulated
other

Share capital comprehensive Additional

stated amount Deficit loss paid-in capital Total
Balance as of March 31, 2010 $161,274 $(831,225) $ (24,364 $- $(694,315)
Net income - 68,846 - - 68,846
Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11) 8,331 = = = 8,331
2010 Reorganization (notes 3 and 11) 413,618 - - - 413,618
Initial public offering 138,596 = = = 138,596
Other comprehensive income - - 12,470 - 12,470
Stock-based compensation = = = 9,181 9,181
Balance as of March 31, 2011 $721,819 $(762,379) $(11,894 $9,181 $(43,273 )
Net income = 31,044 = = 31,044
Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11) 135 - - - 135
Repurchase of common shares (note 11) (25,555 ) = = 15,800 (9,755 )
Other comprehensive income - - 1,112 - 1,112
Stock-based compensation = = = 9,128 9,128
Balance as of March 31, 2012 $696,399 $(731,335) $(10,782 ) $ 34,109 $(11,609 )
Net loss = (54,495 ) = = (54,495 )
Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11) 680 - - 171 ) 509
Repurchase of common shares (note 11) (5,435 ) = = 4,685 (750 )
Other comprehensive income - - 2,045 - 2,045
Stock-based compensation 218 = = 3,066 3,284
Share issuance 408 - - (408 ) -
Balance as of March 31, 2013 $692,270 $(785,830) $ (8,737 ) $ 41,281 $(61,016 )

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Cash provided by (used in)

SMART Technologies Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

March 31, 2013

Operations
Net (loss) income $(54,495 )
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization of property and
equipment 24,950
Amortization of intangible assets 9,571
Amortization of deferred financing fees 2,155
Non-cash interest expense (recovery) on long-term debt 260
Non-cash interest expense on related party long-term
debt =
Non-cash restructuring costs in other long-term
liabilities (1,200 )
Stock-based compensation 3,284
Loss (gain) on foreign exchange 7,129
Deferred income tax (recovery) expense (7,663 )
Impairment of goodwill 34,173
Impairment of property and equipment 2,194
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 88
Trade receivables 26,321
Other current assets 2,564
Inventory 43,796
Income taxes recoverable and payable (16,197 )
Accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities (6,509 )
Deferred revenue (84 )
Cash provided by operating activities 70,337
Investing
Business acquisition =
Cash of subsidiary at date of acquisition -
Capital expenditures (19,269 )
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 49
Intangible assets (201 )
Cash used in investing activities (19,421 )
Financing
Proceeds from IPO, net -
Financing fees paid -
Repurchase of common shares (750 )
Repayment of debt (3,050 )
Participant equity loan plan, net 480
Cash used in financing activities (3,320 )
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March 31, 2012

$31,044

25,028
9,573
2,991
966

5,358
9,128
8,268
(8,448

217
5,501
(4,705
(32,377
(13,422
9,835

8,686

57,643

(23,132
105

(23,027

(9,755
(48,052
31
(57,776

)

March 31, 2011

$68,846

26,914
8,986
3,270
(967

5,297

9,181
(11,483
(340

86
(11,048
6,400
(16,689
(5,556
(12,739

84,968

(82,000
7,974
(27,498
14
(502

(102,012

134,314
(1,396

(239,307

(98,138

14,810

)

8,251

)


http://www.secdatabase.com

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised as follows
Cash

Short-term investments

Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Interest paid
Interest received
Income taxes paid
Amount of non-cash capital expenditures in accounts payable
and accrued and other current liabilities

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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(1,748

45,848
95,535

)

$141,383

$24,318
117,065

$141,383

$10,398
$394
$ 14,981

$2,292

(330

(23,490
119,025

$ 19,421
76,114

$ 95,535

$12,182
$ 536
$30,052

$1,975

)

$ 95,535

4,038

(111,144 )

230,169
$119,025

$10,662
108,363
$119,025

$29,721
$574
$38,674

$4,368
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts, and except as otherwise indicated)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Nature of business

SMART Technologies Inc. (the “Company”), formerly SMART Technologies (Holdings) Inc., was incorporated on June 11, 2007
under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). On August 28, 2007 the shareholders of a related company which was then named
SMART Technologies Inc. (“STI”), transferred 100% of the issued shares of STI to the Company. Prior to August 28, 2007 the principal
operating company was STI. On August 28, 2007, SMART Technologies ULC was formed with the amalgamation of STI and a numbered
company. On February 26, 2010 the Company changed its name to SMART Technologies Inc.

Through its wholly owned subsidiary, SMART Technologies ULC (“ULC”), and its subsidiaries, the Company designs, develops
and sells interactive technology products and integrated solutions that enhance learning and enable people to collaborate with each
other in innovative and effective ways. The Company is the global leader in the interactive display category, which is the core of
its collaboration solutions. It generates revenue from the sale of interactive technology products and integrated solutions, including
hardware, software and services.

1. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared by management in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), applied on a basis consistent for all periods. All normal recurring
adjustments considered necessary for fair presentation have been included in the financial statements. The significant accounting policies
used in these GAAP consolidated financial statements are as follows.

(a) Principles of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly owned.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been appropriately eliminated on consolidation.

(b) Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates
relate to the determination of provisions for various litigation claims, deferred revenue, allowance for doubtful receivables, inventory
valuation, warranty provisions, sales incentive provisions, restructuring provisions, deferred income taxes, valuation of derivative
financial instruments and impairment assessments of property and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

(¢) Foreign currency translation

The Company’ s Canadian operations and its foreign subsidiaries, which solely provide marketing support, use the Canadian dollar
(“CDN”) as their functional currency. For these entities, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at historic rates. Gains and losses
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SMART Technologies Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts, and except as otherwise indicated)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

on re-measurement are recorded in the Company’ s consolidated statements of operations as part of foreign exchange loss (gain). The
Company’ s United States (“U.S.”) and New Zealand operating subsidiaries have the U.S. dollar as their functional currency and its
Japanese operating subsidiary has the Japanese Yen as its functional currency. The financial statements of these subsidiaries are translated
into Canadian dollars using the method of translation whereby assets and liabilities are translated using exchange rates in effect at
the balance sheet date and revenues and expenses are translated using average rates for the period. Exchange gains or losses from
the translation of these foreign subsidiaries financial results are credited or charged to foreign currency translation included in other
comprehensive income for the period and accumulated other comprehensive loss as part of shareholders’ deficit.

The Company uses the U.S. dollar as its reporting currency. The Canadian dollar consolidated financial statements are translated
into the U.S. dollar reporting currency using the current rate method of translation. Exchange gains or losses are included as part of other
comprehensive income for the period and accumulated other comprehensive loss as part of shareholders’ deficit.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents consist primarily of short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less and are carried on the

consolidated balance sheet at cost which approximates fair value.

(e) Trade receivables

Trade receivables reflect invoiced and accrued revenue and are presented net of an allowance for doubtful receivables.

The Company evaluates the collectability of its trade receivables based on a combination of factors on a periodic basis. The
Company considers historical experience, the age of the trade receivable balances, credit quality of the Company’ s resellers and
distributors, current economic conditions, and other factors that may affect the resellers’ and distributors’ ability to pay.

(f) Inventory

Raw materials and finished goods inventory is stated at the lower of cost, computed using the first-in, first-out method, or market.
If the cost of the inventory exceeds its market value, provisions are made for the difference between the cost and the market value. Prior
to the Company’ s transition of product assembly to contract manufacturers during the year ended March 31, 2012, the cost included the
cost of materials, direct labor and the applicable share of production overhead.

(g) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated and amortized to their net residual value over their estimated useful
lives using the straight-line method. The Company capitalizes certain internal and external costs incurred to acquire or develop internal-
use software. Capitalized software costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of the software. Depreciation and amortization is
calculated using the following rates.

Building 25 years

Information systems, hardware and software 2 - 4 years

Assembly equipment, furniture, fixtures and other 2 - 4 years
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Depreciation charges related to equipment used in assembly operations held at the Company’ s contract manufacturers are included
in cost of sales.

Property and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. In reviewing for impairment, the carrying value of such assets is compared to the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. Any impairment charge is recognized to reduce the carrying
value of the assets to its estimated fair value in the period in which it is identified.

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the recognized
amounts of the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized, but is assessed annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.

The Company consists of a single reporting unit. When a qualitative assessment determines that it is more likely than not that the
fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first step, the carrying
amount of the reporting unit is compared with its fair value. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit is greater than zero and its fair
value exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is considered not to be impaired and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary.
The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value
of the goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. If the carrying amount of
the reporting unit is zero or negative, the second step of the impairment test is performed when it is more likely than not that a goodwill
impairment exists.

In the second step, the implied fair value of goodwill is determined in a similar manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a
business combination, using the fair value as if it was the purchase price. The implied fair value of goodwill is calculated by measuring
the excess of the estimated fair value of the Company over the aggregated estimated fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities. The
conduct of the second step involves significant judgment on the selection of assumptions necessary to arrive at an implied fair value of
goodwill. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, development of multi-year business cash flow forecasts, the selection of
discount rates and the identification and valuation of unrecorded assets. When the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied

fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess.

(1) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are comprised of acquired technology, customer relationships
and other intellectual property.

Intangible assets are amortized as follows.

Acquired technology 5 - 10 years

Customer relationships 5 years

Other intellectual property 5 - 10 years
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Intangibles with determinable lives are amortized using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets. When there is a change in the estimated useful life of a finite-lived intangible asset, amortization is adjusted prospectively.
Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment if events or conditions have occurred that indicate that their carrying value
may not be recoverable. In reviewing for impairment, the carrying value of such assets is compared to the estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. Any impairment charge is recognized to reduce the carrying
value of the intangible asset to its estimated fair value in the period in which such determination is made.

(j) Business combinations

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the assets and
liabilities of the acquired business are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition except for deferred income tax assets and/or
liabilities. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the recognized amounts is recorded as goodwill. Any changes in
the estimated fair values of the net assets recorded for acquisitions prior to the finalization of more detailed analysis, but not to exceed
one year from the date of acquisition, will change the amount of goodwill recorded. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and
in-process research and development costs are recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset and assessed for impairment
thereafter until completion, at which point the asset is amortized over its expected useful life. The results of operations of acquired
businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.

(k) Deferred financing fees

Deferred financing fees represent the direct costs of entering into the Company’ s long-term debt and credit facilities. For non-
revolving credit facilities, costs are amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method. For revolving credit facilities, costs
are amortized as interest expense using the straight-line method. The deferred financing fees are amortized over the term of the debt or
credit facilities.

(1) Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, shipping occurs or services are rendered, the
sales price is fixed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Revenue consists primarily of consideration from the bundled
sale of hardware, software that is essential to the functionality of the hardware and technical support.

Revenue from the bundled sale of hardware, software and technical support is recognized in accordance with general revenue
recognition accounting guidance and revenue from separate sales of software products and technical support is recognized in accordance
with industry specific software revenue recognition accounting guidance. Amounts invoiced and cash received in advance of meeting

these revenue recognition criteria are recognized as deferred revenue.

The Company offers certain incentives to customers based on purchase levels. These incentives are recorded as a reduction of related
revenues when this revenue is recognized. Revenue is recorded net of taxes collected from customers that are remitted to government
authorities with the collected taxes recorded as current liabilities until remitted to the relevant government authority. The Company’ s

arrangements do not include any provisions for refunds.
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Revenue recognition for arrangements with multiple deliverables

For multi-element arrangements that include tangible products containing software essential to the product’ s functionality and
undelivered elements relating to the tangible product and its essential software, the Company allocates revenue to the multiple
deliverables based on their relative selling prices. To determine the relative selling price the following hierarchy is used.

(i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE");
(i1) third-party evidence (“TPE”); and

(iii) estimate of the selling price (“ESP”).

VSOE is established as the price charged for a deliverable when the same deliverable is sold separately by the Company. TPE of
selling price is established by evaluating largely similar and interchangeable competitor products or services in stand-alone sales. The
ESP is established considering internal factors such as internal costs, margin objectives, pricing practices and controls, customer and
market conditions such as competitor pricing strategies for similar products, and industry data.

Substantially all the Company’ s revenue is made up of the sales of interactive displays and accessories. Interactive displays consist
of hardware products and software essential to the functionality of the hardware product that is delivered at the time of sale, and technical
support, which includes future unspecified software upgrades and features relating to the product’ s essential software to be received, on
a when-and-if-available basis. The Company has allocated revenue between these deliverables using the relative selling price method.

The Company assesses incentives and discounts provided to customers in determining the relative selling prices of the deliverables
in its arrangements to determine the most appropriate method of allocating such incentives and discounts to such deliverables. In
general, the Company has concluded that allocating such incentives and discounts ratably to the deliverables based on the proportion of
arrangement consideration allocated to each is appropriate based upon the way the Company currently sells its product.

The Company is unable to determine VSOE for its deliverables as they are not sold on a separate, stand-alone basis. The Company’ s
go-to-market strategy is the same or similar to that of its peers for these deliverables, in that product offerings are made in multiple
deliverable bundles, such that the TPE of selling price of stand-alone deliverables cannot be obtained. Consequently, the Company is
unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE and therefore uses ESP in its allocation of revenue.

Amounts allocated to the delivered hardware and the related essential software are recognized at the time of sale provided all the
conditions for revenue recognition have been met. Amounts allocated to the technical support services and unspecified software upgrades
are deferred and recognized using the straight-line method over the estimated term of provision. All product cost of sales, including
estimated warranty costs, are recognized at the time of sale. Costs for research and development and sales and marketing are expensed as

incurred.

Revenue recognition for software

The Company also sells software, technical support and unspecified software upgrade rights altogether separate from hardware. For
software arrangements involving multiple elements, revenue is allocated to each element based on the relative fair value only if VSOE
evidence of fair values, which is based on prices charged
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when the element is sold separately, is available. The Company does not have VSOE for the undelivered elements in its software sales
and, accordingly, the entire arrangement consideration is deferred and amortized over three years, the estimated period that such items
are delivered or that services are provided.

(m) Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income and other comprehensive income (“OCI”).

OCI refers to revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under GAAP are recorded as an element of comprehensive income but are
excluded from net income. OCI consists of foreign currency translation adjustments for the period which arise from the conversion of
the Canadian dollar consolidated financial statements to the U.S. dollar reporting currency consolidated financial statements. OCI also
includes foreign currency translation adjustments from those foreign subsidiaries that have a local currency as their functional currency

that arises on translation of these foreign subsidiaries’ financial statements into their parent’ s reporting currency.

(n) Financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Company to manage its exposure to interest and foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
To manage interest rate exposure, the Company enters into interest rate swap contracts and to manage foreign exchange exposure, the
Company enters into forward and foreign exchange collar contracts. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) ASC 815-Accounting for Derivative Instruments requires all derivative financial
instruments to be recognized at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet and outlines the criteria to be met in order to designate a
derivative instrument as a hedge and the methods for evaluating hedge effectiveness. The fair value is calculated based on quoted market
prices.

Derivative contracts that do not qualify as hedges under ASC 815, or where hedge accounting is not applied, are recorded at fair
value in the consolidated balance sheet unless exempted from derivative treatment as meeting normal purchase and sale criteria. Any
changes in the fair value of these derivative contracts are recorded in net income when those changes occur. The Company does not
currently apply hedge accounting as defined by ASC 815 to any of its financial instruments.

(o) Income taxes

In accordance with FASB ASC 740-Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company uses the liability method of accounting for income
taxes. Under the liability method, current income taxes are recognized for the estimated income taxes payable for the current year and
deferred income taxes are recognized for temporary differences between the tax and accounting bases of assets and liabilities and the
benefit of losses and other deductions carried forward for tax purposes that are likely to be realized. A valuation allowance is recorded
against net deferred income tax assets if it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are
scheduled to be recovered or settled. The effect on the deferred income tax assets and liabilities from a change in tax rates is recognized
in net income in the period that the change is enacted.
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The Company follows ASC 740 in assessing its uncertain tax positions and provisions for income taxes which clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’ s financial statements, prescribes a recognition threshold of
more likely than not to be sustained upon examination and provides guidance on derecognition measurement classification, interest and

penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transitions.

(p) Investment tax credits

The Company uses the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits (“ITCs”), earned on eligible Scientific Research
and Experimental Development (“SR&ED”) expenditures. Under this method, the ITCs are recognized as a reduction (increase) to
income tax expense (recovery).

ITCs are subject to technical and financial review by Canadian tax authorities on a project-by-project basis and therefore amounts
received may vary significantly from the amounts recorded. Any such differences are recorded as an adjustment to the recognized amount
in the year the SR&ED review is completed and the results are made known to the Company.

(q) Research and product development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs for products and licensed software to be sold, leased or otherwise
marketed are subject to capitalization beginning when a product’ s technological feasibility has been established and ending when a
product is available for general release to customers. In most instances, the Company’ s products are released soon after technological
feasibility has been established. Costs incurred subsequent to achievement of technological feasibility are usually not significant, and
therefore most product development costs are expensed as incurred.

(r) Earnings per share

Per share amounts are based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings
per share are calculated using the treasury stock method.

(s) Warranty provision

The Company provides for the estimated costs of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized and records the expense in
cost of sales. Interactive displays and other hardware products are generally covered by a time-limited warranty for varying periods of
time. The Company’ s warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, warranty periods, freight, material usage and other related
repair or replacement costs. The Company assesses the adequacy of its warranty liability and adjusts the amount as necessary based
on actual experience and changes in future estimated costs. The accrued warranty obligation is included in accrued and other current
liabilities.

(t) Stock-based compensation

During the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation expense
related to the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change retrospectively from
July 2010, the date of the Company’ s initial option grants. Stock-based compensation expense for stock options is estimated at the grant
date based on each option’ s fair value as
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calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM™) option-pricing model. The Company generally recognizes stock-based compensation
expense ratably using the graded method over the requisite service period with an offset to additional paid-in capital. The BSM model
requires various judgmental assumptions including volatility and expected option life. In addition, judgment is also applied in estimating
the amount of stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited, and if actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock-
based compensation expense and the Company’ s results of operations would be impacted. Any consideration paid by employees on
exercise of stock options plus any recorded stock-based compensation within additional paid-in capital related to that stock option is
credited to share capital.

The Company classifies Restricted share units (“RSUs”), Performance share units (“PSUs”) and Deferred share units (“DSUs”)
as equity instruments as the Company has the ability and intent to settle the awards in common shares. The compensation expense is
calculated based on the fair value of each instrument as determined by the closing value of the Company’ s common shares on the business
day of the grant date. The Company recognizes compensation expense ratably over the vesting period of the RSUs and PSUs. For DSUs,
compensation expense is recorded at the date of grant.

(u) Participant equity loan plan

The Company has a Participant Equity Loan Plan (the “Plan”), under which the Company loaned funds to certain employees for the
purpose of allowing these employees the opportunity to purchase common shares of the Company at fair value. Common shares issued
under the Plan are subject to voting and transferability restrictions that lapse based on certain events.

Shares purchased under the Plan are reported as share capital at their fair value on the date of issue. The outstanding related
employee loans and any accrued interest are reported as a deduction from share capital. When there is an amendment in the terms of the
Plan, the difference between the fair value at the date of the amendment and the fair value at the original date of purchase is recognized
as stock-based compensation ratably on a graded basis over the period that restrictions on the shares lapse.

(v) Restructuring costs

Employee termination benefits associated with an exit or disposal activity are accrued when the liability is both probable and
reasonably estimable provided that the Company has a history of providing similar severance benefits that meet the criteria of an on-
going benefit arrangement. If no such history exists, the costs are expensed when the termination benefits are paid. Contract termination
costs are recognized and measured at fair value when the Company ceases using the rights under the contract. Other associated costs are
recognized and measured at fair value when they are incurred.

(w) Recent accounting policies adopted

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance on presentation of comprehensive income
to increase its prominence in the financial statements. The new guidance ecliminates the option to present components of other
comprehensive income in the statement of shareholders’ equity. Instead, an entity is required to present the total of comprehensive
income, the components of net income and the components of other comprehensive income in either a continuous statement of net income
and other comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The Company adopted the guidance in the first quarter
of fiscal 2013 and included two separate but consecutive statements.
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In September 2011, the FASB issued guidance to simplify the testing of goodwill for impairment. The new guidance provides an
entity with the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If an entity determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is greater than its carrying amount, the two-step goodwill impairment test is not required. The Company adopted the guidance in the
first quarter of fiscal 2013. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’ s results of operations, financial condition or
disclosures.

2. 2010 Acquisition

On April 21, 2010, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Next Holdings Limited (“NextWindow™),
a privately held New Zealand company, for $82,000 in cash.

The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method whereby identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, other
than the deferred income tax liability, were measured at their fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess of the acquisition
price over the recognized amounts was recorded as goodwill on acquisition. Recognized amounts were determined based on information
available at the date of acquisition. The Company has included the operating results of NextWindow in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. Revenue and net loss from NextWindow reported in the Company’ s results for the year ended
March 31, 2011 amounted to $24,674 and $17,122, respectively. The net loss for the year ended March 31, 2011 included amortization
of intangible assets of $8,903 resulting from the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Assets purchased

Current assets $12,513
Property and equipment 2,177
Intangible assets (note 9) 50,061
Goodwill-with no tax base (note 8) 34,173
$98,924
Liabilities assumed
Current liabilities $9,868
Deferred income tax liability 15,030
$24,898
Net non-cash assets acquired $74,026
Cash acquired 7,974
Consideration paid—cash $82,000

The Company expensed $1,143 of acquisition-related costs included in selling, marketing and administration in the year ended
March 31, 2011.

During fiscal 2013 it was determined that the full carrying value of the goodwill associated with the acquisition was impaired and
the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $34,173 (note 8).

The weighted-average amortization period of the total intangible assets related to the business acquisition was approximately 5.6
years at the date of acquisition.
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3. 2010 Reorganization and Initial Public Offering

On May 13, 2010, the Company’ s Board of Directors approved a reorganization (the “2010 Reorganization™) of the capital of the
Company. Through a series of transactions, the 2010 Reorganization resulted in the repayment of $8,016 on the shareholder note payable
and the effective conversion of the remaining shareholder note payable of CDN$253,972 plus accrued interest of CDN$75,074 into
Class A Preferred Shares and Class B Shares and the conversion of cumulative preferred shares of CDN$84,883 plus accrued dividends
of CDN$19,748 into Class A Preferred Shares. At the completion of the 2010 Reorganization, the Company’ s share capital consisted of
433,676,686 Class A Preferred Shares, 170,089,800 Class B Shares and 10,957,191 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. As part of the
2010 Reorganization, the Company amalgamated with a successor corporation to School 3 ULC, a corporation that, prior to giving effect
to the 2010 Reorganization, held all of the outstanding non-voting common shares. This series of transactions was completed on June 8,
2010. On June 24, 2010, the Company effected a one-for-two reverse stock split for both the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and the
Class B Shares.

In July 2010, in connection with the Company’ s initial public offering (“IPO”) transaction, all the issued and outstanding Class A
Preferred Shares were converted into Class B or Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and the Class A Preferred Shares were removed from
the authorized share capital of the Company and the Company issued Class A Subordinate Voting Shares from Treasury. After giving
effect to the IPO, the Company had 44,308,596 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and 79,464,195 Class B Shares outstanding.

Using the proceeds of the IPO, the Company repaid $40,000 of the unsecured term loan and $19,244 of the term construction facility
in July 2010. In September 2010, the remaining balances of the unsecured term loan, the term construction facility and the construction
loan of $42,389, $29,836 and $1,438, respectively, were repaid in full.

4. Restructuring costs
(a) Fiscal 2013 December restructuring

In December 2012, the Company announced a restructuring plan that will increase focus on its target markets and streamline its
corporate support functions. As part of the restructuring, the Company reduced its workforce by approximately 25%. The majority of
the workforce reduction was completed by March 31, 2013. The Company accrued remaining costs relating to workforce reductions
which are expected to be completed in the first quarter of fiscal 2014. The rates used in determining this accrual are based on existing
plans, historical experience and negotiated settlements. If the actual amounts differ from the Company’ s estimates, the amount of the
restructuring costs could be materially impacted. No further material costs are expected to be incurred.

Employee termination costs include termination costs related to the reduction in workforce and associated outplacement and legal
costs.

Facilities costs include lease cancellation costs at two North American locations and lease obligation costs associated with
unoccupied office space at one of the Company’ s international locations. Lease obligation costs are based on future lease expenditures
and estimated future sublease rentals.

Other restructuring costs include fees paid to consultants supporting the restructuring process and office relocation costs.
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The change in the Company’ s accrued restructuring obligation associated with the fiscal 2013 December restructuring activities for
the year ended March 31, 2013 is summarized in the following table.

Year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Other
Termination Facilities Restructuring
Costs Costs Costs Total
Restructuring costs incurred $16,172 $1,010 $ 208 $17,390
Restructuring costs paid (10,227 ) - (124 ) (10,351)
Currency translation adjustment (216 ) 8 = (208 )
Accrued restructuring obligation at end of year $5,729 $1,018 $ 84 $6,831

At March 31, 2013, the accrued restructuring obligation of $6,831 (March 31, 2012 - zero) was included in accrued and other

current liabilities.

(b) Fiscal 2013 August restructuring

In August 2012, the Company announced a restructuring plan to implement additional cost reduction measures with the objective of
improving the Company’ s operating efficiencies. The restructuring plan included a worldwide reduction in workforce of approximately
70 employees. The restructuring plan was completed during the quarter ended September 30, 2012 and no further material costs are
expected to be incurred.

The change in the Company’ s accrued restructuring obligation associated with the fiscal 2013 August restructuring activities for
the year ended March 31, 2013 is summarized in the following table.

Year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Termination Costs

Restructuring costs incurred $ 1,947

Restructuring costs paid 1,775 )
Currency translation adjustment (11 )
Accrued restructuring obligation at end of year $ 161

At March 31, 2013, the remaining accrued restructuring obligation of $161 (March 31, 2012 - zero), primarily related to
outplacement costs, was included in accrued and other current liabilities.

(c) Fiscal 2012 August restructuring

In August 2011, the Company announced the transfer of the remainder of its interactive display assembly operations from its leased
facility in Ottawa, Canada to existing contract manufacturers. The decision reflected the Company’ s ongoing strategy to reduce costs in
all areas of its operations and the transition was completed by March 31, 2012.

In December 2011, the Company ceased using the assembly and warehouse space at the Ottawa facility. As a result, the Company
recorded lease obligation costs of $8,059 in the third quarter of fiscal 2012 based on future lease expenditures and estimated future
sublease rentals for the remainder of the lease term ending April 2017.
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The accrued lease obligation is reviewed quarterly and adjusted as required to ensure that it reflects the remaining obligation based on
future lease expenditures and estimated future sublease rentals over the balance of the obligation period. During the second quarter of
fiscal 2013, the Company recorded additional restructuring costs of $1,020 as a result of a revised estimate of the future sublease rentals.

The change in the Company’ s accrued restructuring obligation associated with the fiscal 2012 August restructuring activities for
the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 is summarized in the following tables.

Year ended March 31, 2013

Lease Employee Other
Obligation Termination Restructuring

Costs Costs Costs Total
Accrued restructuring obligation at beginning of year $7,788 $- $- $7,788
Restructuring costs paid (2,576 ) - - (2,576)
Accretion expense 417 - - 417
Adjustments 1,020 - - 1,020
Currency translation adjustment (149 ) = = (149 )
Accrued restructuring obligation at end of year $6,500 $- $ - $6,500

Year ended March 31, 2012

Lease Employee Other
Obligation Termination Restructuring

Costs Costs Costs Total
Restructuring costs incurred $ 8,059 $3,745 $ 1,455 $13,259
Restructuring costs paid (600 ) (3,745 ) (1,455 ) (5,800)
Accretion expense 116 = = 116
Currency translation adjustment 213 - - 213
Accrued restructuring obligation at end of year $7,788 $- $ - $7,788

To date the Company has incurred restructuring costs of $14,812, comprised of employee termination benefits of $3,745, lease
obligation costs of $9,612 and other restructuring costs of $1,455.

At March 31, 2013, the current portion of the accrued restructuring obligation of $2,286 (March 31, 2012 - $2,280) was included
in accrued and other current liabilities with the remaining long-term portion of $4,214 (March 31, 2012 - $5,508) included in other long-
term liabilities.

5. Trade receivables

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Trade receivables $ 68,606 $ 97,390
Allowance for doubtful receivables (3,500 ) (3,104 )
$ 65,106 $ 94,286
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The following table summarizes the activity in the allowance for doubtful receivables.

Year ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Balance at beginning of year $3,104 $3,603 $3,868
Charge to bad debts expense 3,377 1,579 17
Write-off of receivables (2,909) (2,000) (635 )
Currency translation adjustment (72 ) (78 ) 353
Balance at end of year $3,500 $3,104 $3,603

In addition to the charges above the Company also recorded bad debt expense of $286 related to employee loans provided as part of

the Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11(b)).

6. Inventory

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Finished goods $ 59,972 $107,380
Raw materials 10,577 4,938
Provision for obsolescence (4,787 ) (1,508 )
$ 65,762 $110,810

The provision for obsolescence is related to finished goods and raw materials inventory.

7. Property and equipment

Cost
Building
Information systems, hardware and software
Assembly equipment, furniture, fixtures and other
Assets under construction

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Building
Information systems, hardware and software
Assembly equipment, furniture, fixtures and other

Net book value
Building
Information systems, hardware and software
Assembly equipment, furniture, fixtures and other
Assets under construction
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March 31, 2013

$72,925
70,049
37,875
5,858

$ 186,707

$12,139
48,127
26,388
$ 86,654

$ 60,786
21,922
11,487
5,858

$100,053

March 31, 2012

$73,626
62,519
44,398
8,253

$ 188,796

$9,406
39,414
30,409

$79,229

$ 64,220
23,105
13,989
8,253

$109,567
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Depreciation and amortization expense incurred is as follows.

Year ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Building $2,951 $2,968 $3,159
Information systems, hardware and software 14,614 13,690 14,780
Assembly equipment, furniture, fixtures and other 7,385 8,370 8,975

$24,950 $25,028 $26,914

Included in accrued and other current liabilities is an accrual for capital expenditures of $2,292 at March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012
- $1,975).

The amount of depreciation expense included in cost of sales amounted to $3,760, $3,769 and $4,118 for the years ended March 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The Company concluded that the carrying amount of certain assets was not recoverable and recorded an impairment charge of
$2,194 primarily related to discontinued information system projects.

8. Goodwill

Changes to the carrying amount of goodwill during the year ended March 31, 2013 were as follows:

Balance at March 31, 2012 $34,173
Impairment of goodwill (34,173)
Balance at March 31, 2013 $-

During the nine months ended December 31, 2012, the continuing decline of both the Company’ s share price and revenue had
reached levels where management concluded that it was more likely than not that a goodwill impairment existed. As a result, the second
step of the goodwill impairment test was performed.

The estimated fair value of the Company was determined utilizing an income approach which was then corroborated with a market
approach. Under the income approach, the Company calculates the fair value of its single reporting unit based on the present value of
estimated future cash flows. Cash flow projections are based on management’ s estimates of revenue growth rates and operating margins,
taking into consideration industry and market conditions. The discount rate used estimates the rate a market participant would expect and
is calculated based on the weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for the relevant risk associated with company-specific characteristics
and the uncertainty related to the Company’ s ability to execute on the projected cash flows. Under the market approach, the Company’ s
market capitalization was used as a key input for the determination of the fair value of the Company. The Company believes that the
market capitalization alone does not capture the fair value of the business as a whole, or the substantial value that an acquirer would
obtain from its ability to obtain control of the business. Consequently, the Company developed an estimate for the control premium that
a marketplace participant might pay to acquire control of the business in an arms-length transaction.

The impairment loss was measured by estimating the implied fair value of the Company’ s goodwill and comparing it with its
carrying value. Using the Company’ s fair value detailed above as the acquisition price in a
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hypothetical acquisition of the Company, the implied fair value of goodwill was calculated as the residual amount of the acquisition
price after assigning fair value to net assets, including working capital, property and equipment and both recognized and unrecognized
intangible assets.

Based on the results of the second step of the goodwill impairment test, it was concluded that the full carrying value of goodwill
was impaired. Consequently, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $34,173 and reported this amount as a separate line
item in the consolidated statements of operations.

The Company considered as part of the impairment test at the time the recoverable amount if its other long-lived assets and
concluded that these assets were not impaired.

9. Intangible assets

March 31,2013 March 31,2012
Cost
Acquired technology $ 29,600 $ 29,600
Customer relationships 17,500 17,500
Other intellectual property 3,999 3,814
$ 51,099 $ 50,914
Accumulated amortization
Acquired technology $ 15,754 $ 10,396
Customer relationships 10,296 6,796
Other intellectual property 2,091 1,383
$ 28,141 $ 18,575
Net book value
Acquired technology $ 13,846 $ 19,204
Customer relationships 7,204 10,704
Other intellectual property 1,908 2,431
$ 22,958 $ 32,339

Amortization expense of finite-lived intangibles for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $9,571, $9,573 and $8,986,
respectively.

Based on the carrying value of the identified intangible assets at March 31, 2013 and assuming no subsequent impairment of the
underlying assets, the annual amortization expense for the next five years is expected to be as follows.

Fiscal year ending March 31,

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Amortization expense $9,570 $9,570 $1,208 $690 $690
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10. Long-term debt and credit facilities

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
First lien facility $ 288,225 $291,275
Current portion of long-term debt (3,050 ) (3,050 )

$285,175 $ 288,225

All debt and credit facilities are U.S. dollar facilities.

(a) First lien facility

In August 2007, the Company entered into a $305,000 term loan maturing August 28, 2014 with a $45,000 revolving credit facility
maturing August 28, 2013 (the “First lien facility”). The full amount of the term loan was drawn upon closing. As part of the Company’ s
IPO transaction which closed on July 20, 2010, the Company put into place an additional $55,000 revolving credit facility under the First
lien facility maturing August 28, 2013, which increased the total revolving credit capacity to $100,000, all of which remained undrawn
as of March 31, 2013 and 2012. The First lien facility is secured by a first priority interest over all assets of the Company and certain
subsidiaries.

The Company may repay all or a portion of the First lien facility at any time without incurring early repayment premiums. The
term-loan portion of the First lien facility requires mandatory annual repayments totaling $3,050. In addition, beginning with the year
ended March 31, 2009, the Company is required to repay amounts under the facility ranging between zero and 50% of annual excess cash
flow, contingent upon the Company’ s leverage ratio at the time. As of March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the leverage ratio was below the
level required to trigger a repayment.

Borrowings under the term loan bear interest at floating rates, based on LIBOR, the U.S. federal funds rate or the Canadian base rate
of the administrative agent. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest at floating rates based on the banker’ s acceptance
rate, LIBOR, the U.S. federal funds rate, the Canadian base rate of the administrative agent or the Canadian prime rate. The Company has
discretion with respect to the basis upon which interest rates are set. The interest rate on borrowings under the First lien facility term loan
was 2.95% at March 31, 2013 and 2.99% at March 31, 2012. The interest rates on the undrawn credit facilities of $45,000 and $55,000 at
March 31, 2013 were 2.20% and 3.95%, respectively.

The Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1,166 at March 31,2013 and $973 at March 31, 2012. These letters of credit
have not been drawn; however, they reduce the amount available to the Company under the revolving portion of the First lien facility.

The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants with respect to the facility at March 31, 2013. The facility has two
financial covenants: a total leverage ratio test and an interest coverage ratio test. Compliance is tested quarterly and the Company has
been in compliance with all covenants during all reporting periods since the inception of the loan.
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(b) Second lien facility

In August 2007, the Company entered into an eight year, $100,000 term loan (the “Second lien facility”), which was fully drawn
upon closing. In fiscal 2012, the remaining balance of $45,000 was repaid in full. No repayment premiums were charged.

(c) Deferred financing fees

The Company incurred fees of $13,090 in closing the First lien facility and the Second lien facility which were recorded as deferred
financing fees. These fees are shown as an asset and amortized over the loans’ terms based on the effective interest rate method.
Repayments of the term loans also result in releases of these fees, which are then included in interest expense. The Company also incurred
fees of $1,385 in closing the new revolving facility on July 20, 2010 under the First lien facility. These fees are shown as an asset and
amortized over the term of the facility using the straight-line method. The Company also incurred fees relating to the term construction
facility which was repaid in the year ended March 31, 2011.

The Company recorded amortization of deferred financing fees of $2,155, $2,991 and $3,270 for the years ended March 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

11. Share capital
(a) Share capital
(1) Authorized

The Company’ s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, an unlimited
number of Class B Shares and an unlimited number of Preferred Shares issuable in series.

Each holder of Class B Shares and each holder of Class A Subordinate Voting Shares is entitled to receive notice of and attend all
meetings of the Company’ s shareholders, except meetings at which only holders of another particular class or series have the right to
vote. At each such meeting, each Class B Share entitles its holder to 10 votes and each Class A Subordinate Voting Share entitles its
holder to one vote, voting together as a single class, except as otherwise set forth in the Company’ s articles of amalgamation or prescribed
by applicable laws.
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(ii) Issued and outstanding

Class A
Subordinate
Class A Voting
Voting Non-voting Voting Class A Subordinate Shares -
Common Common Preferred Preferred Voting Treasury Class B
Shares Outstanding Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Total
March 31, 2010 53,563,844 127,489,844 127,483,148 - = = = 308,536,836
2010 Reorganization (53,563,844) (127,489,844) (127,483,148) 433,676,686 5,478,596 - 85,044,901 215,663,347
Participant Equity Loan Plan = = = = = (57,500 ) - (57,500 )
Initial Public Offering - - - (433,676,686) 38,830,000 - (5,580,706) (400,427,392)
March 31, 2011 = = = = 44,308,596 (57,500 ) 79,464,195 123,715,291
Participant Equity Loan Plan - - - - - (160,800 ) - (160,800 )
Shares repurchased for cancellation = = = = (2,327,486 ) - = (2,327,486 )
March 31, 2012 - - - - 41,981,110 (218,300 ) 79,464,195 121,227,005
Participant Equity Loan Plan = = = = = (217,500 ) - (217,500 )
Stock-based compensation - - - - 115,015 25,298 - 140,313
Shares repurchased for cancellation = = = = (574954 ) - = (574,954 )
March 31,2013 - - - - 41,521,171 (410,502 ) 79,464,195 120,574,864
Class A
Subordinate
Non- Class A Voting
Voting voting Voting Class A Subordinate Shares -
Common Common Preferred Preferred Voting Treasury Class B
Stated Amount Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Total
March 31, 2010 $41,166 $120,108 $ - $- $- $ - $- $161,274
Participant Equity Loan Plan 2,122 - - - 6,369 (160 ) - 8,331
2010 Reorganization (43,288 ) (120,108) = 413,616 3,156 = 160,242 413,618
Initial Public Offering - - - (413,616) 474,047 - 78,165 138,596
March 31, 2011 $- $- $ - $- $483,572 $ (160 ) $238,407 $721,819
Participant Equity Loan Plan - - - - 568 (433 ) - 135
Repurchase of Common Shares = = = = (25,555 ) = = (25,555)
March 31, 2012 $- $- $ - $- $ 458,585 $ (593 ) $238,407 $696,399
Participant Equity Loan Plan = = = = 996 (316 ) = 680
Stock-based compensation - - - - 557 69 - 626
Shares repurchased for cancellation = = = = (5,435 ) = = (5,435 )
March 31, 2013 $- $- $ - $- $ 454,703 $ (840 ) $238,407 $692,270

The 2010 Reorganization completed on June 8, 2010 effectively resulted in the conversion of the Company’ s Voting Common
Shares, Voting Preferred Shares, cumulative preferred shares including accrued interest (note 3) and shareholder note payable (note 3) into
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10,957,191 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, 170,089,800 Class B Shares and 433,676,686 Class A Preferred Shares. The Company’ s
Non-voting Common Shares were cancelled as part of the 2010 Reorganization.
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On June 24, 2010, the Company effected a one-for-two reverse split of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and the Class B
Shares.

As part of the Company’ s IPO on July 20, 2010, the 433,676,686 Class A Preferred Shares were converted to 5,898,744 Class B
Shares and 18,550,550 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and then 11,479,450 Class B Shares were converted to 11,479,450 Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares. New Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued by the Company to the public pursuant to the IPO totaled
8,800,000 at an issue price of $17.00. Proceeds from the IPO were $138,596, net of underwriting commissions of $7,854 and other
offering expenses of $7,429, net of tax of $4,279. Other offering expenses were also recorded as a reduction of IPO proceeds effective
the date of the IPO. Concurrent with this transaction, 30,030,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares were sold to the public by existing
shareholders at an issue price of $17.00.

(b) Participant equity loan plan

In 2009, the Company implemented a Participant Equity Loan Plan (the “Plan”) under which the Company loaned funds to certain
employees for the purpose of allowing them to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting Shares of the Company at fair value as determined
by a third party valuation.

Shares granted under the Plan are reported as share capital in sharecholders’ equity at their value on the date of issue. The outstanding
related loans and accrued interest are reported as a reduction of share capital.

In 2010, the Plan was amended such that the 40% of shares with performance-based restrictions that did not become unrestricted as
part of the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) transaction, representing 24% of the total shares under the Plan, would become unrestricted in
two equal installments on each of the following two anniversary dates of the IPO. As a result of this amendment, the difference between
the fair value of the affected shares at the date of the amendment and the fair value at the initial issuance of the shares was recognized as
stock-based compensation ratably on a graded basis over the period the restrictions lapsed. The expense is included in selling, marketing
and administration expense and research and development expense, with an offsetting credit to additional paid-in capital and was adjusted
to reflect expected forfeitures based on Company historical data. The impact of the Plan amendment was fully amortized at September 30,
2012. The total value expensed in the year ended March 31, 2013 was $590 (March 31,2012 - $5,243).

On November 20, 2012 certain terms of the Plan were amended. All Plan shares previously held in trust by the Company as security
against the Plan loans are to be released to Plan participants, with remaining loan balances continuing to be secured by these shares.
Any proceeds from the sale of these shares must first be applied against any outstanding loan balance. Additional compensation was also
provided to Plan participants for the purpose of loan repayments. Most participants received the first installment in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2013 and will receive a second installment, provided they continue to be employed by the Company, in the third quarter of fiscal
2014. The first installment of $1,209 is included in selling, marketing and administration expense and research and development expense
in the year ended March 31, 2013. The second installment of $834 is being accrued evenly over the twelve months ended December 31,
2013.

As a result of these amendments, the compensatory benefit of the 541,975 Plan shares with outstanding loans was determined at the
date of the Plan amendment using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“BSM™) option pricing model. The exercise price used of $1.30 was the
market price of a Class A Subordinate Voting Share on that date
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which equaled the remaining loan balance for each share. The total benefit of $339 has been reported as stock-based compensation
expense in the year ended March 31, 2013 with an offset to additional paid-in capital. In addition, interest is no longer being charged on
Plan loans retroactive to April 1, 2012. As a result, accrued interest of $44 was reversed in the year ended March 31, 2013. During the
year ended March 31, 2013 Plan loans of $286 from employees who had left the Company were written off with an offset to bad debt
expense. Total loans amounted to $880 at March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012 - $2,043).

Share capital increased by $1,160 (March 31, 2012 - $135) in the year ended March 31, 2013 as a result of Plan activity. This
includes loan principal and interest repayments totaling $846 (March 31, 2012 - $612), interest accrued during the year of nil (March 31,
2012 - $105) and foreign exchange adjustments of $28 (March 31, 2012 - $73). Also, during the year ended March 31, 2013, 297,500
(March 31, 2012 - 160,800) shares of employees who left the Company were repurchased by a subsidiary company resulting in a net
reduction in share capital of $480 (March 31, 2012 - $445). Stock based compensation paid related to these repurchases amounted to $53
(March 31, 2012 - nil).

In the year ended March 31, 2013, 25,298 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares—Treasury Shares, held by a subsidiary company, were
transferred to certain employees in settlement of vested restricted share units (note 12(c)) which resulted in an increase in share capital
of $218 including a $148 reclassification of additional paid-in capital to share capital. In the year ended March 31, 2013, 80,000 Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares—Treasury Shares held by a subsidiary company were transferred to the parent company and cancelled resulting
in a reduction in share capital of $164.

(c) Share repurchase plan

On August 19, 2011, the Company’ s Board of Directors approved a share repurchase plan and normal course issuer bid to purchase
for cancellation up to 4,000,000 of the Company’ s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The shares were purchased in the open market
at prevailing market prices over a 12-month period between August 25, 2011 and August 24, 2012. In the year ended March 31, 2013,
the Company repurchased for cancellation 494,954 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at an average price of $1.51 per share for a total
purchase price of $750, resulting in a reduction to stated capital of $5,435 and corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital of $4,685.
During the share repurchase plan period, the Company repurchased for cancellation 2,822,440 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares at an
average price of $3.72 per share for a total purchase price of $10,505. All the repurchased shares have been cancelled.

(d) Issuance of treasury shares

In the year ended March 31,2013, 115,015 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares were issued at the current market price for settlement
of vested RSUs resulting in a net increase in share capital of $408 and a reduction in additional paid-in capital of $408 (note 12(c)).

12. Stock-based compensation

The 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (2010 Plan™) provides for the grant of options, restricted share units and deferred share units to the
directors, officers, employees, consultants and service providers of the Company and its subsidiaries. Under the 2010 Plan, the Company
has reserved for issuance Class A Subordinate Voting Shares representing up to 10% of the total outstanding Class A Subordinate Voting
Shares and Class B Shares. At
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March 31, 2013 there were 6,890,566 stock-based awards available for future grant. Total stock-based compensation expense including
the total value expensed as part of the Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11) was $3,337, $9,128 and $9,181 for the years ended
March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

(a) Stock options

A summary of the status of the Company’ s stock options at March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the year ended on
those dates is as follows.

Options Outstanding

Weighted-average Average remaining Aggregate
Number of exercise price per contractual life in intrinsic
options option years value
Balance at March 31, 2010 = $- = $ -
Granted 1,444,500 16.22 -
Exercised = = =
Forfeited (28,500 ) 15.61 -
Balance at March 31, 2011 1,416,000 $16.24 4.37 $ 152
Granted 2,172,828 5.54 -
Exercised = = =
Forfeited (588,171 ) 13.06 -
Balance at March 31, 2012 3,000,657 $9.11 3.97 $ -
Granted 1,172,000 1.50 -
Exercised = = =
Forfeited (1,084,462 ) 7.39 -
Balance at March 31, 2013 3,088,195 $6.86 3.42 $ 37
Exercisable at March 31, 2013 287,612 $14.56 - $ -

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total intrinsic value (the aggregate difference between the closing
stock price of the Company’ s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares on March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and the exercise price of in-the-
money options) that would have been received by the option holders if all in-the-money options had been exercised on that date.

Stock-based compensation expense related to options included in selling, marketing and administration expense and research and
development expense for the year ended March 31, 2013 was $1,249 (March 31,2012 - $2,528; March 31, 2011 - $1,105). As at
March 31, 2013, the total compensation cost not yet recognized related to stock options was $1,676. This amount is expected to be
recognized over the next 47 months on a weighted-average basis.
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The weighted-average fair value of the stock options granted was calculated using the BSM option-pricing model with the following

assumptions.
Year ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011

Fair value of stock options granted during the year $0.72 $2.00 $5.59
Assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 0.49% - 0.89 % 0.60% - 1.43% 0.96% - 1.49%

Volatility 62.15 - 64.67% 45.00 % 45.00 %

Expected life in years 4.0 4.0 4.0

Expected dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %

The amounts computed according to the model may not be indicative of the actual values realized upon the exercise of the options
by the holders.

The assumed risk-free interest rate is based on the yield of a U.S. government zero coupon Treasury bill issued at the date of grant
with a remaining life approximately equal to the expected term of the option. The assumed volatility used in the stock option valuation
for options granted for the year ended March 31, 2013 is the Company’ s historical volatility from the Company’ s IPO on July 20, 2010
to the date of grant. The assumed volatility for options granted prior to April 1, 2012 was the Company’ s estimate of the future volatility
of the share price based on a review of the volatility of comparable public companies. The assumed expected life is the Company’ s
estimated expected exercise pattern of the options. The assumed dividend yield reflects the Company’ s current intention to not pay cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.

The Company estimates forfeitures at the time of grant based on the Company’ s historical data and reviews these estimates in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. The estimated annual future forfeiture rate is 10.0% at March 31,
2013.

Change in accounting policy

As discussed in note 1(t), during the third quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based
compensation expense related to the fair value of options to the graded method from the straight-line method and has applied this change
retrospectively. The total impact of this change since the plan inception was an increase in stock-based compensation of $1,548 with an
offsetting increase to additional paid-in capital. The change resulted in a current year expense of $303 with an increase to the April 1,
2012 opening deficit of $1,245.
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The following tables show the effects of the change in accounting policy on the consolidated statements of operations and
consolidated balance sheets.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012 March 31, 2011

As computed As reported As reported As adjusted As reported As adjusted

under under under under under under
straight-line graded straight-line graded straight-line graded
method method method(®) method method® method
Selling, marketing and administration $170,705 $170,871 $180,326 $180,837 $182,499 $182,910
Research and development 48,776 48,811 49,807 50,032 51,333 51,431
Net (loss) income (54,294 ) (54,495 ) 31,780 31,044 69,355 68,846
(Loss) income per share
Basic $(0.45 ) $(0.45 ) $0.26 $0.25 $0.53 $0.53
Diluted $(045 ) $(045 ) $0.26 $0.25 $0.53 $0.53

(1) As reported figures reflect certain reclassifications that have been made to conform to current period’ s presentation.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
As computed As adjusted As reported As adjusted
under under under under
straight-line graded straight- graded
method method line method method
Additional paid-in capital $41,317 $41,518 $32,864 $34,109
Deficit $(785,629 ) $(785,830) $(730,090) $(731,335)

The change in accounting policy on the consolidated statements of cash flows in all periods impacted resulted in a decrease to net
income with an offsetting increase to stock-based compensation expense with no net impact on cash provided by operating activities.

(b) Deferred share units

Deferred share units (“DSUs”) are issued to independent directors of the Company and are settled upon retirement or death. DSUs
may be settled in cash or shares of the Company at the option of the Company. Compensation expense is recorded at the date of grant
based on the quoted market price of the Company’ s Class A Subordinate Voting Shares with an offset to additional paid-in capital.

A summary of the status of the Company’ s DSUs at March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the years then ended is as

follows.
Year ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011
Number of DSUs
Balance at beginning of year 30,000 = =
Granted 30,000 30,000 -

Exercised = = =
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Forfeited - -

Balance at end of year 60,000 30,000
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For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

Compensation expense relating to DSUs for the year ended March 31, 2013 included in selling, marketing and administration
expense amounted to $49 (March 31, 2012 - $175; March 31, 2011 - zero).

(c) Restricted share units

Restricted share units (“RSUs”) are issued to executives of the Company and may be settled in cash or shares of the Company at
the option of the Company.

A summary of the status of the Company’ s RSUs at March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 and changes during the years then ended is as

follows.
Year ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011
Number of RSUs

Balance at beginning of year 595,075 = =
Granted 2,680,000 655,100 -
Exercised (140,313 ) = =
Forfeited (1,215,301) (60,025) -

Balance at end of year 1,919,461 595,075 =

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company issued 2,483,000 (March 31, 2012 - 250,850) time-based RSUs which vest
evenly over three years of which 741,801 were forfeited in the year ended March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012 - 19,900). Time-based RSUs
are fair valued at the date of grant and compensation expense is recognized on a graded basis over the vesting period with an offset to
additional paid-in capital. Compensation expense relating to time-based RSUs for the year ended March 31, 2013 included in selling,
marketing and administration expense and research and development expense amounted to $1,389 (March 31, 2012 - $636; March 31,
2011 - zero).

During the year ended March 31, 2013, 140,313 time-based RSUs vested with a fair value at the date of grant of $556. 25,298 of
these vested RSUs were settled through the transfer of 140,313 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares to holders of the vested RSUs. To
effect this settlement, the Company purchased 25,298 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares from a wholly owned subsidiary. These shares
had been acquired by the subsidiary from former participants of the Participant Equity Loan Plan (note 11(b)). The Company purchased
the shares from the subsidiary at their fair market value at the date of settlement. The remaining 115,015 vested RSUs were settled through
the issuance of treasury shares (note 11(d)).

During the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company also issued 197,000 (March 31, 2012 - 404,250) performance-based RSUs
to executives of the Company of which 473,500 were forfeited in the year ended March 31, 2013. These performance-based RSUs vest
after three years upon meeting total shareholder return performance criteria measured against a group of peer companies. Performance-
based RSUs are fair valued at the date of grant and compensation expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the vesting period with
an offset to additional paid-in capital. Compensation expense relating to performance-based RSUs for the year ended March 31, 2013
included in selling, marketing and administration expense and research and development expense amounted to a recovery of $332 (March
31,2012 - expense of $546; March 31, 2011 - zero).

As at March 31, 2013, estimated total compensation expense not yet recognized related to all RSUs was $1,603 which is expected
to be recognized over the next 32 months.
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13. Income taxes

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial
statutory income tax rates to income before income taxes.

The reasons for these differences are as follows.

Year ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011
(Loss) income before income taxes
Domestic $(14,139) $43,098 $113,971
Foreign (49,334) (5,138) (9,813 )
$(63,473) $37,960 $104,158
Combined tax rate 25.00 % 26.13 % 27.89 %
Expected income tax (recovery) expense (15,868) 9,919 29,050
Adjustments
Non-deductible, non-taxable items 2,138 3,880 2,886
Impairment of goodwill 8,543 = =
Variation in foreign tax rates 275 1,232 830
Deferred income tax rate differences 305 391 464
Change in valuation allowance 1,296 (1,119) 3,107
Investment tax credits—current year (5,471 ) (5,542) (4,285 )
Investment tax credits—prior years 172 ) (3,758) -
Other 24 ) 1,913 3,260
Income tax (recovery) expense $(8,978 ) $6,916 $35,312

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
presented below.

March 31,2013 March 31, 2012

Deferred income tax assets
Inventory $- $124
Non-capital losses 4,417 -
Foreign non-capital losses 5,430 4,133
Allowance for doubtful receivables 76 =
Derivative contracts 241 181
Deferred revenue 30,493 31,462
Accrued restructuring obligation 1,804 1,965
Accrued warranty obligation 5,038 4,448
Other 1,657 581
Valuation allowance (5,832 ) (4,536 )

43,324 38,358
Deferred income tax liabilities
Inventory 96 -

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Long-term debt
Investment tax credits
Deferred financing fees

Net deferred income tax asset
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March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Deferred income tax asset—current $ 16,056 $ 14,026
Deferred income tax asset-long-term 22,321 19,897
Deferred income tax liability—long-term (6,238 ) (8,887 )
$ 32,139 $ 25,036

The Company had consolidated non-capital losses for income tax purposes of $35,529 at March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012 -
$13,702; March 31, 2011 - $13,589), of which $22,769 will expire at various times through 2033 and $12,760 will carry forward
indefinitely.

In assessing the recording of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion of or
all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. To the extent that any portion of the deferred tax assets is not more
likely than not to be realized, a valuation allowance has been provided.

The Company and its Canadian subsidiaries file federal and provincial income tax returns in Canada, its U.S. subsidiary files
federal and state income tax returns in the U.S. and its other foreign subsidiaries file income tax returns in their respective foreign
jurisdictions. The Company and its subsidiaries are generally no longer subject to income tax examinations by tax authorities for years
before March 31, 2007. Tax authorities in Canada and the U.S. are conducting examinations of local tax returns for various taxation years
ending after March 31, 2007. Notwithstanding management’ s belief in the merit of the Company’ s tax filing position, it is possible that
the final outcome of any audits by taxation authorities may differ from estimates and assumptions used in determining the Company’ s
consolidated tax provision and accruals, which could result in a material effect on the consolidated income tax provision and the net
income for the period in which such determinations are made.

Notwithstanding management’ s belief in the merit of the Company’ s tax filing positions, it is reasonably possible that the
Company’ s unrecognized tax benefits, if any, could significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months, although this
change is not likely to have a material impact on the Company’ s effective tax rate. Future changes in management’ s assessment of the
sustainability of tax filing positions may impact the Company’ s income tax liability.

The Company recognizes interest related to income taxes in interest expense and penalties related to income taxes in selling,
marketing and administration expense in the consolidated statement of operations. The amount of gross interest and penalties accrued
was nil at March 31, 2013 and $52 at March 31, 2012. The Company recognized interest and penalty expense related to tax matters of
$29, $69 and $86 for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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14. Product warranty

The change in the Company’ s accrued warranty obligation for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is summarized in
the following table.

Year ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Accrued warranty obligation at beginning of year $17,514 $11,543 $10,840
Actual warranty costs incurred (13,765) (13,498) (14,041)
Warranty provision 16,373 19,820 13,494
Adjustments for changes in estimate 31 - 725
Currency translation adjustment (359 ) (351 ) 525
Accrued warranty obligation at end of year $19,794 $17,514 $11,543
15. (Loss) Earnings per share amounts
Year ended March 31,
2013 2012 2011
Net (loss) income for basic and diluted earnings per share
available to common shareholders $(54,495 ) $31,044 $68,846
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding—basic 120,744,832 122,726,275 130,775,288
Effect of dilutive securities—stock-based compensation = 643,768 =
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding—diluted 120,744,832 123,370,043 130,775,288
(Loss) earnings per share
Basic $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53
Diluted $(0.45 ) $0.25 $0.53

The Company uses the treasury stock method to calculate diluted earnings per share. The weighted-average number of shares
outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2013 reflects Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Shares outstanding on a pro-
rata basis from April 1, 2012 to March 31, 2013. Options to purchase 3,088,195 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares were outstanding at
March 31, 2013. All dilutive securities including options to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting Shares, DSUs and RSUs are excluded
from the computation of diluted loss per share for year ended March 31, 2013 as their impact is anti-dilutive.

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2012 reflects Class A Subordinate Voting Shares
and Class B Shares outstanding on a pro-rata basis from April 1, 2011 to March 31, 2012. Options to purchase 3,000,657 Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares were outstanding at March 31, 2012. During the year ended March 31, 2012, 375,959 options had an exercise
price lower than the weighted-average trading price of underlying Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and are included in the calculation
of diluted earnings per share. All other options were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because their exercise
prices exceeded the trading price of the underlying Class A Subordinate Voting Shares during the year ended March 31, 2012. Diluted
earnings per share includes the dilutive impact of outstanding DSUs and RSUs for the year ended March 31, 2012.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2011 reflects voting common shares and non-
voting shares outstanding on a pro-rata basis from April 1, 2010 to June 8, 2010, the
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date of the 2010 Reorganization and Class A Subordinate Voting Shares and Class B Shares outstanding on a pro-rata basis from June 9,
2010 to March 31, 2011, after giving retroactive effect to the one-for-two reverse share split effected June 24, 2010 for the Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares and the Class B Shares. Options to purchase 1,416,000 Class A Subordinate Voting Shares were outstanding
at March 31, 2011 of which 137,000 options had an exercise price lower than the weighted-average trading price of underlying Class A
Subordinate Voting Shares during the year ended March 31, 2011. These options were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings
per share because the combined exercise price and unamortized fair value is greater than the average trading price of the Class A
Subordinate Voting shares for the year ended March 31, 2011 and therefore their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. All other
options were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because their exercise prices exceeded the trading price of the
underlying Class A Subordinate Voting Shares during the year ended March 31, 2011.

16. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Commitments

Fiscal year ending March 31,

2018 and
2014 2015 2016 2017 thereafter Total

Operating leases $5,790 $5,071 $4,522  $4,246 $13,569  $33,198
Derivative contracts 679 283 - - - 962
Long-term debt repayments

Long-term debt 3,050 285,175 - - - 288,225

Future interest obligations on long-term debt 9,555 3,896 = = = 13,451
Purchase commitments 92,769 4,030 1,578 - - 98,377
Total $111,843  $298,455 $6,100 $4,246 $13,569  $434,213

The operating lease commitments relate primarily to office and warchouse space and represent the minimum commitments under
these agreements. The Company incurred rental expense of $3,418, $5,156 and $4,795 for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

The derivative contracts represent minimum commitments under interest rate contracts based on the forward strip for each
instrument through the contract term.

Long-term debt commitments represent the minimum principal repayments required under the long-term debt facility.

Purchase commitments represent commitments for raw materials, finished goods from contract manufacturers, as well as certain
information systems and licensing costs.

Commitments have been calculated using foreign exchange and interest rates in effect at March 31, 2013. Fluctuations in these rates
may result in actual payments differing from those reported in the above table.

(b) Securities Class Actions

On March 13, 2013, the Company announced that an agreement in principle had been reached with the plaintiffs in the U.S. and
Canadian shareholder class action lawsuits involving the Company, /n re SMART
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Technologies Inc. Shareholder Litigation, pending in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and Tucci
v. SMART Technologies Inc., et al., pending in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the “Actions”). Pursuant to the settlement terms,
the parties have agreed to settle the Actions, releasing the alleged claims and all related claims, subject to various conditions, including
appropriate class notice, court approvals and the dismissal of related putative class claims in Harper v. SMART Technologies Inc., et
al., currently pending in the Superior Court of the State of California. The proposed settlement will be funded entirely by insurance
maintained by the Company.

In re SMART Technologies Inc. Securities Litigation

Beginning in December 2010, several putative class action complaints against the Company and other parties were filed in the U.S.
District Courts in New York and Illinois on behalf of the purchasers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares in the Company’ s IPO. The
complaints alleged certain violations of federal securities laws in connection with the IPO. After a series of motions, the court-appointed
Lead Plaintiff, the City of Miami General Employees’ and Sanitation Employees’ Retirement Trust, filed a consolidated amended class
action complaint in the New York court in November 2011. A motion to dismiss the case was filed by the defendants on January 6, 2012
and, on April 3, 2012, the Court granted in part and denied in part the motion. A Second Amended Complaint was filed on April 23, 2012
and the Company filed a motion to dismiss the amended claims on May 11, 2012. On August 21, 2012, the Court denied the Company’ s
motion to dismiss the amended claims. On January 11, 2013, the Court issued an order certifying a class defined as: “All persons or
entities who purchased or otherwise acquired (and did not sell) SMART common stock in the United States prior to November 10,
2010, pursuant or traceable to the Offering Materials. With respect to claims brought under section 12(a)(2), the class is limited to U.S.
purchasers of SMART stock in the July 14, 2010, initial public offering.” In light of the proposed settlement described above, the Court
has stayed all proceedings and will be considering a motion seeking approval of the settlement. The motion seeking preliminary approval
of the settlement, and authorizing notice to the class, was filed with the Court on April 30, 2013.

Tucci v. SMART Technologies Inc. et al.

In February 2011, a class proceeding was commenced in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice on behalf of purchasers of the
Class A Subordinate Voting Shares issued in conjunction with the IPO (the “Lefever/Runnels Action”). A second class proceeding
was subsequently initiated by the same law firm with an Ontario-based representative plaintiff in May 2011 (the “Tucci Action”). The
certification motion in the Tucci Action was heard on February 1, 2013. While the parties consented to certain terms of certification,
including terms dismissing the Lefever/Runnels Action, the court heard arguments as to whether secondary market purchasers should be
included in the class definition to be certified in the Tucci Action. On February 4, 2013, the court released its decision and certified a
class limited to primary market purchasers of SMART shares during the IPO from underwriters domiciled in Canada. The court refused
to certify the claims alleged on behalf of secondary market purchasers in the Tucci Action. On February 12, 2013 the plaintiff in the
Tucci action served a notice of motion for leave to appeal the certification decision. However, the motion is in abeyance as a result of the
proposed settlement as described above.

Harper v. SMART Technologies Inc. et al.

In September 2011, an additional putative class proceeding was commenced in the Superior Court of the State of California, County
of San Francisco on behalf of purchasers of the Class A Subordinate Voting Shares. The Company is of the view that this proceeding is
not materially different than the aforementioned matter being
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heard in the Southern District of New York. In October 2011, the defendants removed the case to the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of California. Thereafter, the defendants filed a motion to transfer the case to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York, and plaintiffs filed a motion to remand the case to California state court. On September 28, 2012, the Court granted the
plaintiff’ s motion to remand the case to California state court, where it is now pending, and denied as moot the defendants’ motion to
transfer. In November 2012, the defendants filed a motion to stay the Harper action pending resolution of SMART Technologies Inc.
Securities Litigation in the Southern District of New York. That motion remains pending. As discussed above, dismissal of the class
claims in Harper is a condition of the proposed settlement of the In re SMART Technologies and Tucci v. SMART Technologies cases.

All of the claims in Canada and the U.S. are essentially based on the allegation that SMART misrepresented or omitted to fully
disclose demand for its products.

In the event that the proposed settlement is not finalized and implemented, the Company is not able to make any determination with
respect to the likelihood or amount of any damages that might be awarded against us in connection with such proceedings (or any related
proceedings) as the discovery process in the foregoing litigation proceedings have not yet been completed.

(c) Indemnities and Guarantees

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into guarantees that provide indemnification and guarantees to counterparties
to secure sales agreements and purchase commitments. Should the Company be required to act under such agreements, it is expected that

no material loss would result.

As a result of the U.S. and Canadian class action IPO litigations, as described in the “Securities Class Actions” section above, the
Company may be required, subject to certain limitations, to indemnify the following parties: the underwriters pursuant to the underwriting
agreement entered into in connection with the IPO; Intel Corporation, Apax Partners and IFF Holdings Inc. pursuant to a registration
rights agreement entered into in 2007 and amended and restated in connection with the IPO; and the directors and officers of SMART
Technologies Inc. pursuant to indemnification agreements entered into by the Company and each director and officer on or about the time
of their appointment to their respective office.

17. Segment disclosure

The Company reports segment information as a single reportable business segment based upon the manner in which related
information is organized and managed. The Company’ s operations are substantially related to the design, development and sale of
hardware and software of interactive displays and related products that enable group collaboration and learning.
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The Company conducts business globally. Revenue information relating to the geographic locations in which the Company sells
products is as follows.

Year ended March 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenue
United States $329,427  $432,659  $497.726
Canada 43,636 54,237 60,669
Europe, Middle East and Africa 166,232 183,920 175,472
Rest of World 50,075 74,984 56,188

$589,370  $745,800  $790,055

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues.

Most of the Company’ s assets are held in Canada. As a result of the acquisition of NextWindow on April 21, 2010 (note 2), one
country outside Canada, New Zealand, has more than 10% of the Company’ s total consolidated long-lived assets at March 31, 2013. Total
long-lived assets in New Zealand amounted to $25,810 and total long-lived assets outside of Canada amounted to $30,056 at March 31,
2013.

18. Financial instruments

The Company’ s financial instruments consist of foreign exchange and interest rate derivative instruments and other financial
instruments including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, accounts payable, accrued and other current liabilities and long-term
debt.

The Company uses derivatives to partially offset its exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The Company enters
into derivative transactions with high credit quality counterparties and, by policy, seeks to limit the amount of credit exposure to any
one counterparty based on an analysis of the counterparty’ s relative credit standing. The Company does not use derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

(a) Foreign exchange rate risk

Foreign exchange rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could impact the Company. The Company operates
globally and is exposed to significant foreign exchange risk, primarily between the Canadian dollar and both the U.S. dollar (“USD”),
and the Euro (“EUR”). This exposure relates to our U.S. dollar-denominated debt, the sale of our products to customers globally and
purchases of goods and services in foreign currencies. The Company seeks to manage its foreign exchange risk by monitoring foreign
exchange rates, forecasting its net foreign currency cash flows and periodically entering into forward contracts and other derivative
contracts to convert a portion of its forecasted foreign currency denominated cash flows into Canadian dollars for the purpose of paying
Canadian dollar denominated operating costs. The Company may also enter into forward contracts and other derivative contracts to

manage its cash flows in other currencies.

These programs reduce, but do not entirely eliminate, the impact of currency exchange movements. The Company currently does
not apply hedge accounting to its currency derivatives. The maturity of these instruments generally occurs within 12 months. Gains or
losses resulting from the fair valuing of these instruments are reported in foreign exchange loss (gain) in the consolidated statements of
operations.

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

Page 38

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

SMART Technologies Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts, and except as otherwise indicated)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

(b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in market interest rates. The
Company’ s financing includes long-term debt and revolving credit facilities that bear interest based on floating market rates. Changes in
these rates result in fluctuations in the required cash flows to service this debt. The Company partially mitigates this risk by periodically
entering into interest rate swap agreements to fix the interest rate on certain long-term variable-rate debt. The Company currently does not
apply hedge accounting to its interest rate derivatives. Changes in the fair value of these interest rate derivatives are included in interest
expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

(¢) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, resulting in a financial
loss to the Company.

The Company sells hardware and software that enables group collaboration and learning to a diverse customer base over a global
geographic area. The Company evaluates collectability of specific customer receivables based on a variety of factors including currency
risk, geopolitical risk, payment history, customer stability and other economic factors. Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an
ongoing basis by management and receivables accounts are adjusted as required. Receivables balances are charged against the allowance
when the Company determines that it is probable that the receivable will not be recovered. The geographic diversity of the customer
base, combined with the Company’ s established credit approval practices and ongoing monitoring of customer balances, mitigates this
counterparty risk (note 5).

Fair value measurements

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date and establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs in the
valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

Level 1-Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2-Observable inputs other than quoted market prices included in level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active or inputs that are observable
or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3-Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity and typically reflect management’ s
estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable

inputs when measuring fair value.
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The following table presents the Company’ s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

March 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Money market funds $117,065 $- $- $117,065
Derivative instruments = 463 = 463
Total assets $117,065 $463 $- $117,528
Liabilities
Derivative instruments $- $1,602 $- $1,602
Total liabilities $- $1,602 $- $1,602
March 31, 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Money market funds $76,114 $- $ - $76,114
Derivative instruments = 891 = 891
Total assets $76,114 $891 $ - $77,005
Liabilities
Derivative instruments $- $908 $ - $908
Total liabilities $- $908 $ - $908
(a) Fair value of derivative contracts
March 31, 2013
Fair value Contract expiry Rates Notional amounts of quantity
Foreign exchange forward derivative $(382 ) Apr2013to Dec 2013 0.9938 - 1.0325 USD 24,000
contracts (111)  Apr 2013 to Dec 2013 1.2485 - 1.3431  EUR 18,000
316 Apr 2013 to Nov 2013 1.5780 - 1.6162  GBP 6,500
$(177 )

Interest rate derivative contracts $(962 ) Aug2014 0.750% - 0.945%  50% of the outstanding
principal on the first lien
term loan over the contract
term
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March 31, 2012

Fair value Contract expiry Rates Notional amounts of quantity
Foreign exchange forward derivative contracts ~ $ 749 Apr 2012 to Jan 2013  0.9798 - 1.0617 USD 24,000
95  Apr2012 to Jan 2013 1.3304 - 1.3617 EUR 7,000
(144) Apr 2012 to Feb 2013 1.5556 - 1.6068 GBP 7,500

$ 700

Interest rate derivative contracts $(717 ) Aug2014 0.750% - 0.945%  50% of the outstanding
principal on the first lien
term loan over the contract
term

The Company enters into foreign exchange forward derivative contracts to economically hedge its risks in the movement of foreign
currencies against the Company’ s functional currency of the Canadian dollar. The fair value of foreign exchange derivative contracts
of $463 is included in other current assets at March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012 - $891). The fair value of foreign exchange derivative
contracts of $640 is included in accrued and other current liabilities at March 31, 2013 (March 31, 2012 - $191). Changes in the fair
value of these contracts are included in foreign exchange loss (gain). The Company recorded losses of $131 and $748 and a gain of $744
for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The fair value of interest rate derivative contracts included in accrued and other current liabilities is $679 at March 31, 2013 (March
31, 2012 - $484). The fair value of interest rate derivative contracts included in other long-term liabilities is $283 at March 31, 2013
(March 31, 2012 - $233). Changes in the fair value of these contracts are included in interest expense. The Company recorded a loss of
$245 and gains of $604 and $3,931 for the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The estimated fair values of foreign exchange and interest rate derivative contracts are derived using complex financial models with
inputs such as benchmark yields, time to maturity, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads and discount rates.

Considerable judgment is required in developing the estimates of fair value. Therefore, estimates are not necessarily indicative of
the amounts the Company could expect to realize in a liquidation or unwinding of an existing contract.

(b) Long-term debt

The estimated fair value of the Company’ s long-term debt has been determined based on current market conditions by discounting
future cash flows under current financing arrangements at borrowing rates believed to be available to the Company for debt with similar
terms and remaining maturities.

The fair value of debt was measured utilizing Level 3 inputs. The Level 3 fair value measurements utilize a discounted cash flow
model. This model utilizes observable inputs such as contractual repayment terms and benchmark forward yield curves and other inputs
such as a discount rate that is intended to represent our credit risk for secured or unsecured obligations. The Company estimates its credit
risk based on the corporate credit rating and the credit rating on its variable-rate long-term debt and utilizes benchmark yield curves that
are widely used in the financial industry.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)
(thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts, and except as otherwise indicated)

For the years ended March 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011

The carrying value and fair value of the Company’ s long-term debt as at March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, are as follows.

March 31, 2013 March 31, 2012
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
Variable-rate long-term debt $ 288,225 $289,844 $ 291,275 $289,340

(c) Other financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and accounts payable and accrued and other current liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. A portion of these items are denominated in
currencies other than the Canadian dollar functional currency of the Company including the U.S. dollar, Euro and British pound sterling
and are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date.

19. Subsequent event

In December 2012, the Company signed a purchase and sale agreement to execute a sale-leaseback of its global headquarters
building located in Calgary, Canada. The transaction closed on May 7, 2013 for net proceeds of approximately $77,000. The term of the
lease is 20 years with annual rental payments of $5,945, subject to an 8% escalation every five years. The Company expects to account
for the lease as a capital lease. The Company repaid $10,000 of the First lien facility from the proceeds of the sale.

20. Comparative figures

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior periods’ figures to conform to the current period’ s presentation.
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